Ven. Aśvaghosa's poem translated by E B Cowell



Buddha-carita, or Life of Buddha Venerable Aśvaghoṣa

translated by E B Cowell

Table of Contents

Introduction3
Book I [The Birth of the Holy One]9
Book II [Life in the Palace]25
Book III [The Prince's Pertubation]35
Book IV [The Women Rejected]46
Book V [Flight]59
Book VI [The Dismissal of Chamdaka]74
Book VII [Entry into the Penance Grove]84
Book VIII [Lamentations in the Palace]94
Book IX [The Deputation to the Prince]109
Book X [Śrenya's Visit]123
Book XI [The Passions Spurned]130
Book XII [Visit to Arāḍa]143
Book XIII [Defeat of Māra]160
Book XIV [Enlightenment]172

The Buddha-carita continuation By Amrtananda177
Book XV of The Buddha-carita continuation by Amṛtānanda186
Book XVI of The Buddha-carita continuation by Amrtananda203
Book XVII [The Progress to Lumbinī] of The Buddha-carita
continuation by Amrtananda222

Introduction

The Sanskrit text of the Buddha-carita was published at the beginning of last year [i.e 1893] in the 'Anecdota Oxoniensia,' and the following English translation is now included in the series 'Sacred Books of the East.' It is an early Sanskrit poem written in India on the legendary history of Buddha, and therefore contains much that is of interest for the history of Buddhism, besides its special importance as illustrating the early history of classical Sanskrit literature.

It is ascribed to Aśvaghoṣa; and although there were several writers who bore that name, it seems most probable that our author was the contemparary and spiritual advisor of Kaniṣka in the first century of our era. Hiouen Thsang, who left India in A. D. 645, mentions him with Deva, Nāgārjuna, and Kumāralabdha, 'as the four suns which illumine the world;' but our fullest account is given by I-tsing, who visited India in 673. He states that Aśvaghoṣa was an ancient author who composed the Alaṅkāra-śāstra and the Buddha-carita-kāvya, – the latter work being of course the present poem. Besides these two works he also composed the hymns in honour of Buddha and the three holy beings Amitābha, Avalokiteśvara, and Mahāsthāma, which were chanted at the evening service of the monasteries. 'In the five countries of India and in the countries of the Southern ocean they

_

¹ Julien's translation, vol ii, p. 214.

recite these poems, because they express a store of ideas and meaning in a few words.' A solitary stanza (VIII, 13) is quoted from the Buddha-carita in Rāyamukuṭa's commentary on the Amarakoṣa I, i. 1, 2, and also by Ujjvaladatta in his commentary on the Uṇādi-sūtras I, 156; and five stanzas are quoted as from Aśvaghoṣa in Vallabhadeva's Subhāṣitāvali, which bear a great resemblance to his style, though they are not found in the extant portion of this poem.

The Buddha-carita was translated into Chinese⁴ by Dharmarakṣa in the fifth century, and a translation of this was published by the Rev. S. Beal in the present series [of the Sacred Books of the East]; it was also translated into Tibetan in the seventh or eighth century. The Tibetan as well as the Chinese version consists of twenty-eighth chapters, and carries down the life of Buddha to his entrance into Nirvāṇa and the subsequent division of the sacred relics. The Tibetan version appears to be much closer to the original Sanskrit than the Chinese; in fact from its verbal accuracy we can often reproduce the exact words of the original, since certain Sanskrit words are always represented by the same Tibetan equivalents, as for instance, the prepositions prefixed to verbal roots. I may here express an earnest

_

² See M. Fujishama, Journal Asiatique, 1888, p. 425.

³ Professor Peterson has remarked that two stanzas out of the five occur in Bhartṛhari's Nīti-śataka.

⁴ We have for the present classed the Buddha-carita with the Mahāyāna Sūtras in default of more exact information.

hope that we may ere long have an edition and translation of the Tibetan version, if some scholar can be found to complete Dr. Wendzel's unfinished labour. He had devoted much time and thought to the work; I consulted him in several of my difficulties, and it is from him that I derived all my information about the Tibetan renderings. This Tibetan version promises to be of great help in restoring the many corrupt readings which still remain in our faulty Nepalese MSS.

Only thirteen books of the Sanskrit poem claim to be Aśvaghosa's composition; the last four books are an attempt by a modern Nepalese author to supply the loss of the original. He tells us this honestly in the colophon, - 'having searched for them everywhere and not found them, four cantos have been made by me, Amrtananda, - the fourteenth, fifteenth, sixteenth, and seventeenth.' He adds the date 950 of the Nepalese era, corresponding to 1830 a. d.; and we have no difficulty in idendifying the author. Rājendralāl Mitra in his 'Nepalese Buddhist Literature' mentions Amṛtānanda as the author of two Sanskrit treatises and one in Newārī; he was probably the father of the old pandit of the Residency at Kātmāndu, Gunananda, whose son Indrānanda holds the office at present. Dr. D. Wright informs me that the family seem to have been the recognised historians of the country, and keepers of the MS. treasures of sundray temples. The four books are included in this translation as an interesting literary curiosity. The first portion of the fourteenth book agrees partly with the Tibetan and Chinese, and Amrtananda may have had access to some imperfect

copy of this portion of the original; but after that his account is quite independent, and has no relation to the two versions.

In my preface to the edition of the Sanskrit text I have tried to show that Aśvaghosa's poem appears to have exercised an important influence on the succeeding poets of the classical period in India. When we compare the descriptions in the seventh book of the Raghuvamsa of the ladies of the city crowding to see prince Aja as he passes by from the Svayamvara where the princess Bhojyā has chosen him as her husband, with the episode in the third book of the Buddhacarita (ślokas 13-24); or the description's of Kāma's assault on Śiva in the Kumārasambhava with that of Māra's temptation of Buddha in the thirteenth book, we can hardly fail to trace some connection. There is a similar resemblance between the description in the fifth book of the Rāmāyana, where the monkey Hanumat enters Rāvana's palace by night, and sees his wives asleep in the seraglio and their various unconscious attitudes, and in the description in the fifth book of the present poem where Buddha on the night of his leaving his home for ever sees the same unconscious sight in his own palace. Nor may we forget that in the Rāmāyana the description is introduced as an ornamental episode; in the Buddhist poem it an essential elelment in the story, as it supplies the final impulse which stirs the Bodhisattva to make his escape from the world. These different descriptions became afterwards commonplaces in Sanskrit poetry, like the catalogue of the ships in Greek or Roman epics; but they may very well have originated in connection with definite incidents in the Buddhist sacred legend.

The Sanskrit MSS. of Nepal are always negligently transcribed and abound with corrupt passages, which it is often very difficult to detect and restore. My printed text leaves many obscure lines which will have to be cleared up hereafter by more skilful emendations. I have given in the notes to the translation some further emendations of my own, and I have also added several happy conjectures which continental scholars have kindly suggested to me by letter; and I gladly take this opportunity of adding in a foot-note some of which I received too late to insert in their proper places.⁵

I have endeavoured to make my translation intelligible to the English reader, but many of the verses in the original are very obscure. Aśvaghoṣa employs all the resources of Hindu rhetoric (as we might well expect if I-tsing is right in ascribing to him an 'alaṅkāra-śāstra'), and it is often difficult to follow his subtil turns of thought and remote allusions; but many passages no doubt owe their present obscurity to undetected mistakes in the text of our MSS. In the absence of any commentary (except so far as the diffuse Chinese translation and occasional reference to the Tibetan have supplied the

-

⁵ Dr. von Boehtlingk suggests 'saujā vicacāra' in VIII, 3, and 'vilambakeśyo' in VIII, 21, — two certain emendations. Professor Kielhorn would read 'nabhasy eva' in XIII, 47 for 'nayaty eva,' and 'tatraiva nāsīnam rṣim' in XIII, 50. Professor Bühler would read 'priyatanayas tanayasya' in I, 87, and 'na tatyāja ca' in IV, 80.

want) I have necessarily been left to my own resources, and I cannot

fail to have sometimes missed my author's meaning.

Prāmśulabhye phale mohād udbāhur iva vāmanaḥ;

but I have tried to do my best, and no one will welcome more

cordially any light which others may throw on the passages I have

misunderstood.

The edition of the original text was dedicated to my old friend

Professor F. Max Müller, and it is sincere gratification to me that this

translation will appear in the same volume with similar translations

from his pen.

E. B. C.

Cambridge:

Feb 1, 1894.

Book I [The Birth of the Holy One]

- 1. That Arhat is here saluted, who has no counterpart, who, as bestowing the supreme happiness, surpasses (Brahman) the Creator, who, as driving away darkness, vanquishes the sun, and, as dispelling all burning heat, surpasses the beautiful moon.
- 2. There was a city, the dwelling-place of the great saint Kapila, having its sides surrounded by the beauty of a lofty broad table-land as by a line of clouds, and itself, with its high-soaring palaces, immersed in the sky.
- 3. By its pure and lofty system of government it, as it were, stole the splendour of the clouds of Mount Kailāsa, and while it bore the clouds which came to it through a mistake, it fulfilled the imagination which had led them thither.
- 4. In that city, shining with the splendour of gems, darkness like poverty could find no place; prosperity shone resplendently, as with a smile, from the joy of dwelling with such surpassingly excellent citizens.
- 5. With its festive arbours, its arched gateways and pinnacles, it was radiant with jewels in every dwelling; and unable to find any other rival in the world, it could only feel emulation with its own houses.
- 6. There the sun, even although he had retired, was unable to scorn the moon-like faces of its women which put the lotuses to shame, and

as if from the access of passion, hurried towards the western ocean to enter the (cooling) water.

- 7. 'Yonder Indra has been utterly annihilated by the people when they saw the glories acquired by the Sakyas,'-uttering this scoff, the city strove by its banners with gay-fluttering streamers to wipe away every mark of his existence.
- 8. After mocking the water-lilies even at night by the moonbeams which rest on its silver pavilions, by day it assumed the brightness of the lotuses through the sunbeams falling on its golden palaces.
- 9. A king, by name Śuddhodana, of the kindred of the sun, anointed to stand at the head of earths monarchs, ruling over the city, adorned it, as a bee-inmate a full-blown lotus.
- 10. The very best of kings with his train ever near him, intent on liberality yet devoid of pride; a sovereign, yet with an ever equal eye thrown on all, of gentle nature and yet with wide-reaching majesty.
- 11. Falling smitten by his arm in the arena of battle, the lordly elephants of his enemies bowed prostrate with their heads pouring forth quantities of pearls as if they were offering handfuls of flowers in homage.
- 12. Having dispersed his enemies by his preeminent majesty as the sun disperses the gloom of an eclipse, he illuminated his people on every side, showing them the paths which they were to follow.

- 13. Duty, wealth, and pleasure under his guidance assumed mutually each other's object, but not the outward dress; yet as if they still vied together they shone all the brighter in the glorious career of their triumphant success.
- 14. He, the monarch of the \hat{Sa} kyas, of native pre-eminence, but whose actual pre-eminence was brought about by his numberless councillors of exalted wisdom, shone forth all the more gloriously, like the moon amidst the stars shining with a light like its own.
- 15. To him there was a queen, named Māyā, as if free from all deceit $(m\bar{a}y\bar{a})$ an effulgence proceeding from his effulgence, like the splendour of the sun when it is free from all the influence of darkness, a chief queen in the united assembly of all queens.
- 16. Like a mother to her subjects, intent on their welfare, devoted to all worthy of reverence like devotion itself, shining on her lord's family like the goddess of prosperity, she was the most eminent of goddesses to the whole world.
- 17. Verily the life of women is always darkness, yet when it encountered her, it shone brilliantly; thus the night does not retain its gloom, when it meets with the radiant crescent of the moon.
- 18. 'This people, being hard to be roused to wonder in their souls, cannot be influenced by me if I come to them as beyond their senses,'
 so saying, Duty abandoned her own subtile nature and made her form visible.

- 19. Then falling from the host of beings in the Tuṣita heaven, and illumining the three worlds, the most excellent of Bodhisattvas suddenly entered at a thought into her womb, like the Nāga-king entering the cave of Nandā.
- 20. Assuming the form of a huge elephant white like Himālaya, armed with six tusks, with his face perfumed with flowing ichor, he entered the womb of the queen of king Śuddhodana, to destroy the evils of the world.
- 21. The guardians of the world hastened from heaven to mount watch over the world's one true ruler; thus the moonbeams, though they shine everywhere, are especially bright on Mount Kailāsa.
- 22. Māyā also, holding him in her womb, like a line of clouds holding a lightning-flash, relieved the people around her from the sufferings of poverty by raining showers of gifts.
- 23. Then one day by the king's permission the queen, having a great longing in her mind, went with the inmates of the gynaeceum into the garden Lumbinī.
- 24. As the queen supported herself by a bough which hung laden with a weight of flowers, the Bodhisattva suddenly came forth, cleaving open her womb.

- 25. At that time the constellation Puṣya was auspicious, and from the side of the queen, who was purified by her vow, her son was born for the welfare of the world, without pain and without illness.
- 26. Like the sun bursting from a cloud in the morning, so he too, when he was born from his mother's womb, made the world bright like gold, bursting forth with his rays which dispelled the darkness.
- 27. As soon as he was born the thousand-eyed (Indra) well-pleased took him gently, bright like a golden pillar; and two pure streams of water fell down from heaven upon his head with piles of Mandāra flowers.
- 28. Carried about by the chief suras, and delighting them with the rays that streamed from his body, he surpassed in beauty the new moon as it rests on a mass of evening clouds.
- 29. As was Aurva's birth from the thigh, and Prthu's from the hand, and Māndhātr's, who was like Indra himself, from the forehead, and Kakṣīvat's from the upper end of the arm, thus too was his birth (miraculous).
- 30. Having thus in due time issued from the womb, he shone as if he had come down from heaven, he who had not been born in the natural way, he who was born full of wisdom, not foolish, as if his mind had been purified by countless aeons of contemplation.

- 31. With glory, fortitude, and beauty he shone like the young sun descended upon the earth; when he was gazed at, though of such surpassing brightness, he attracted all eyes like the moon.
- 32. With the radiant splendour of his limbs he extinguished like the sun the splendour of the lamps; with his beautiful hue as of precious gold he illuminated all the quarters of space.
- 33. Unflurried, with the lotus-sign in high relief, far-striding, set down with a stamp, seven such firm footsteps did he then take, he who was like the constellation of the seven Rsis.
- 34. 'I am born for supreme knowledge, for the welfare of the world, thus this is my last birth,' thus did he of lion gait, gazing at the four quarters, utter a voice full of auspicious meaning.
- 35. Two streams of water bursting from heaven, bright as the moon's rays, having the power of heat and cold, fell down upon that peerless one's benign head to give refreshment to his body.
- 36. His body lay on a bed with a royal canopy and a frame shining with gold, and supported by feet of lapis lazuli, and in his honour the yakṣa-lords stood round guarding him with golden lotuses in their hands.
- 37. The gods in homage to the son of Māyā, with their heads bowed at his majesty, held up a white umbrella in the sky and muttered the highest blessings on his supreme wisdom.

- 38. The great dragons in their great thirst for the Law, they who had had the privilege of waiting on the past Buddhas, gazing with eyes of intent devotion, fanned him and strewed Mandāra flowers over him.
- 39. Gladdened through the influence of the birth of the Tathāgata, the gods of pure natures and inhabiting pure abodes were filled with joy, though all passion was extinguished, for the sake of the world drowned in sorrow.
- 40. When he was born, the earth, though fastened down by (Himālaya) the monarch of mountains, shook like a ship tossed by the wind; and from a cloudless sky there fell a shower full of lotuses and water-lilies, and perfumed with sandalwood.
- 41. Pleasant breezes blew soft to the touch, dropping down heavenly garments; the very sun, though still the same, shone with augmented light, and fire gleamed, unstirred, with a gentle lustre.
- 42. In the north-eastern part of the dwelling a well of pure water appeared of its own accord, wherein the inhabitants of the gynaeceum, filled with wonder, performed their rites as in a sacred bathing-place.
- 43. Through the troops of heavenly visitants, who came seeking religious merit, the pool itself received strength to behold Buddha, and by means of its trees bearing flowers and perfumes it eagerly offered him worship.

- 44. The flowering trees at once produced their blossoms, while their fragrance was borne aloft in all directions by the wind, accompanied by the songs of bewildered female bees, while the air was inhaled and absorbed by the many snakes (gathering near).
- 45. Sometimes there resounded on both sides songs mingled with musical instruments and tabours, and lutes also, drums, tambourines, and the rest, from women adorned with dancing bracelets.
- 46. 'That royal law which neither Bhrgu nor Angiras ever made, those two great seers the founders of families, their two sons Śukra and Vrhaspati left revealed at the end.
- 47. 'Yea, the son of Sarasvatī I proclaimed that lost Veda which they had never seen in former ages, Vyāsa rehearsed that in many forms, which Vaśiṣṭha helpless could not compile;
- 48. 'The voice of Vālmīki uttered its poetry which the great seer Cyavana could not compose; and that medicine which Atri never invented the wise son of Atri proclaimed after him;
- 49. 'That Brahmanhood which Kuśika never attained, his son, O king, found out the means to gain it; (so) Sagara made a bound for the ocean, which even the Ikṣvākus had not fixed before him.
- 50. 'Janaka attained a power of instructing the twice-born in the rules of Yoga which none other had ever reached; and the famed feats of

the grandson of Śūra (Kriṣṇa) Śūra and his peers were powerless to accomplish.

- 51. 'Therefore it is not age nor years which are the criterion; different persons win pre-eminence in the world at different places; those mighty exploits worthy of kings and sages, when left undone by the ancestors, have been done by the sons.'
- 52. The king, being thus consoled and congratulated by those well-trusted Brāhmans, dismissed from his mind all unwelcome suspicion and rose to a still higher degree of joy;
- 53. And well-pleased he gave to those most excellent of the twice-born rich treasures with all due honour, 'May he become the ruler of the earth according to your words, and may he retire to the woods when he attains old age.'
- 54. Then having learned by signs and through the power of his penances this birth of him who was to destroy all birth, the great seer Asita in his thirst for the excellent Law came to the palace of the Śākya king.
- 55. Him shining with the glory of sacred knowledge and ascetic observances, the king's own priest, himself a special student among the students of sacred knowledge, introduced into the royal palace with all due reverence and respect.

- 56. He entered into the precincts of the king's gynaeceum, which was all astir with the joy arisen from the birth of the young prince, grave from his consciousness of power, his pre-eminence in asceticism, and the weight of old age.
- 57. Then the king, having duly honoured the sage, who was seated in his seat, with water for the feet and an arghya offering, invited him (to speak) with all ceremonies of respect, as did Antideva in olden time to Vasistha:
- 58. 'I am indeed fortunate, this my family is the object of high favour, that thou shouldst have come to visit me; be pleased to command what I should do, O benign one; I am thy disciple, be pleased to show thy confidence in me.'
- 59. The sage, being thus invited by the king, filled with intense feeling as was due, uttered his deep and solemn words, having his large eyes opened wide with wonder:
- 60. 'This is indeed worthy of thee, great-souled as thou art, fond of guests, liberal and a lover of duty, that thy mind should be thus kind towards me, in full accordance with thy nature, family, wisdom, and age.
- 61. 'This is the true way in which those seer kings of old, rejecting through duty all trivial riches, have ever flung them away as was right, being poor in outward substance but rich in ascetic endurance.

- 62. 'But hear now the motive for my coming and rejoice thereat; a heavenly voice has been heard by me in the heavenly path, that thy son has been born for the sake of supreme knowledge.
- 63. 'Having heard that voice and applied my mind thereto, and having known its truth by signs, I am now come hither, with a longing to see the banner of the Śākya race, as if it were Indra's banner being set up.'
- 64. Having heard this address of his, the king, with his steps bewildered with joy, took the prince, who lay on his nurse's side, and showed him to the holy ascetic.
- 65. Thus the great seer beheld the king's son with wonder, his foot marked with a wheel, his fingers and toes webbed, with a circle of hair between his eyebrows, and signs of vigour like an elephant.
- 66. Having beheld him seated on his nurse's side, like the son of Agni (Skanda) seated on Devī's side, he stood with the tears hanging on the ends of his eyelashes, and sighing he looked up towards heaven.
- 67. But seeing Asita with his eyes thus filled with tears, the king was agitated through his love for his son, and with his hands clasped and his body bowed he thus asked him in a broken voice choked with weeping,
- 68. 'One whose beauty has little to distinguish it from that of a divine sage, and whose brilliant birth has been so wonderful, and for whom

thou hast prophesied a transcendent future, – wherefore, on seeing him, do tears come to thee, O reverend one?

- 69. 'Is the prince, O holy man, destined to a long life? Surely he cannot be born for my sorrow. I have with difficulty obtained a handful of water, surely it is not death which comes to drink it.
- 70. 'Tell me, is the hoard of my fame free from destruction? Is this chief prize of my family secure? Shall I ever depart happily to another life, I who keep one eye ever awake, even when my son is asleep?
- 71. 'Surely this young shoot of my family is not born barren, destined only to wither! Speak quickly, my lord, I cannot wait; thou well knowest the love of near kindred for a son.'
- 72. Knowing the king to be thus agitated through his fear of some impending evil, the sage thus addressed him: 'Let not thy mind, O monarch, be disturbed, all that I have said is certainly true.
- 73. 'I have no feeling of fear as to his being subject to change, but I am distressed for mine own disappointment. It is my time to depart, and this child is now born, he who knows that mystery hard to attain, the means of destroying birth.
- 74. Having forsaken his kingdom, indifferent to all worldly objects, and having attained the highest truth by strenuous efforts, he will

shine forth as a sun of knowledge to destroy the darkness of illusion in the world.

- 75. 'He will deliver by the boat of knowledge the distressed world, borne helplessly along, from the ocean of misery which throws up sickness as its foam, tossing with the waves of old age, and rushing with the dreadful onflow of death.
- 76. 'The thirsty world of living beings will drink the flowing stream of his Law, bursting forth with the water of wisdom, enclosed by the banks of strong moral rules, delightfully cool with contemplation, and filled with religious vows as with ruddy geese.
- 77. 'He will proclaim the way of deliverance to those afflicted with sorrow, entangled in objects of sense, and lost in the forest-paths of worldly existence, as to travellers who have lost their way.
- 78. 'By the rain of the Law he will give gladness to the multitude who are consumed in this world with that fire of desire whose fuel is worldly objects, as a great cloud does with its showers at the end of the hot season.
- 79. 'He will break open for the escape of living beings that door whose bolt is desire and whose two leaves are ignorance and delusion, with that excellent blow of the good Law which is so hard to find.
- 80. 'He, the king of the Law, when he has attained to supreme knowledge, will achieve the deliverance from its bonds of the world

now overcome by misery, destitute of every refuge, and enveloped in its own chains of delusion.

- 81. 'Therefore make no sorrow for him, that belongs rather, kind sire, to the pitiable world of human beings, who through illusion or the pleasures of desire or intoxication refuse to hear his perfect Law.
- 82. 'Therefore since I have fallen short of that excellence, though I have accomplished all the stages of contemplation, my life is only a failure; since I have not heard his Law, I count even dwelling in the highest heaven a misfortune.'
- 83. Having heard these words, the king with his queen and his friends abandoned sorrow and rejoiced; thinking, 'such is this son of mine,' he considered that his excellence was his own.
- 84. But he let his heart be influenced by the thought, 'he will travel by the noble path,' he was not in truth averse to religion, yet still he saw alarm at the prospect of losing his child.
- 85. Then the sage Asita, having made known the real fate which awaited the prince to the king who was thus disturbed about his son, departed by the way of the wind as he had come, his figure watched reverentially in his flight.
- 86. Having taken his resolution and having seen the son of his younger sister, the saint, filled with compassion, enjoined him

earnestly in all kinds of ways, as if he were his son, to listen to the sage's words and ponder over them.

- 87. The monarch also, being well-pleased at the birth of a son, having thrown off all those bonds called worldly objects, caused his son to go through the usual birth-ceremonies in a manner worthy of the family.
- 88. When ten days were fulfilled after his son's birth, with his thoughts kept under restraint, and filled with excessive joy, he offered for his son most elaborate sacrifices to the gods with muttered prayers, oblations, and all kinds of auspicious ceremonies.
- 89. And he himself gave to the Brāhmans for his son's welfare cows full of milk, with no traces of infirmity, golden-horned and with strong healthy calves, to the full number of a hundred thousand.
- 90. Then he, with his soul under strict restraint, having performed all kinds of ceremonies which rejoiced his heart, on a fortunate day, in an auspicious moment, gladly determined to enter his city.
- 91. Then the queen with her babe having worshipped the gods for good fortune, occupied a costly palanquin made of elephants' tusks, filled with all kinds of white flowers, and blazing with gems.
- 92. Having made his wife with her child enter first into the city, accompanied by the aged attendants, the king himself also advanced, saluted by the hosts of the citizens, as Indra entering heaven, saluted by the immortals.

- 93. The Śākya king, having entered his palace, like Bhava well-pleased at the birth of Kārttikeya, with his face full of joy, gave orders for lavish expenditure, showing all kinds of honour and liberality.
- 94. Thus at the good fortune of the birth of the king's son, that city surnamed after Kapila, with all the surrounding inhabitants, was full of gladness like the city of the lord of wealth, crowded with heavenly nymphs, at the birth of his son Nalakūvara.

[Such is the first chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called The Birth of the Holy One]

Book II [Life in the Palace]

- 1. From the time of the birth of that son of his, who, the true master of himself, was to end all birth and old age, the king increased day by day in wealth, elephants, horses, and friends as a river increases with its influx of waters.
- 2. Of different kinds of wealth and jewels, and of gold, wrought or unwrought, he found treasures of manifold variety, surpassing even the capacity of his desires.
- 3. Elephants from Himavat, raging with rut, whom not even princes of elephants like Padma could teach to go round in circles, came without any effort and waited on him.
- 4. His city was all astir with the crowds of horses, some adorned with various marks and decked with new golden trappings, others unadorned and with long flowing manes, suitable alike in strength, gentleness, and costly ornaments.
- 5. And many fertile cows, with tall calves, gathered in his kingdom, well nourished and happy, gentle and without fierceness, and producing excellent milk.
- 6. His enemies became indifferent; indifference grew into friendship; his friends became specially united; were there two sides, one passed into oblivion.

- 7. Heaven rained in his kingdom in due time and place, with the sound of gentle winds and clouds, and adorned with wreaths of lightning, and without any drawback of showers of stones or thunderbolts.
- 8. A fruitful crop sprang up according to season, even without the labour of ploughing; and the old plants grew more vigorous in juice and substance.
- 9. Even at that crisis which threatens danger to the body like the collision of battle, pregnant women brought forth in good health, in safety, and without sickness.
- 10. And whereas men do not willingly ask from others, even where a surety's property is available, at that time even one possessed of slender means turned not his face away when solicited.
- 11. There was no ruin nor murder, nay, there was not even one ungenerous to his kinsmen, no breaker of obligations, none untruthful nor injurious, as in the days of Yayāti the son of Nahuṣa.
- 12. Those who sought religious merit performed sacred works and made gardens, temples, and hermitages, wells, cisterns, lakes, and groves, having beheld heaven as it were visible before their eyes.
- 13. The people, delivered from famine, fear, and sickness, dwelt happily as in heaven; and in mutual contentment husband transgressed not against wife, nor wife against husband.

- 14. None pursued love for mere sensual pleasure; none hoarded wealth for the sake of desires; none practised religious duties for the sake of gaining wealth; none injured living beings for the sake of religious duty.
- 15. On every side theft and its kindred vices disappeared; his own dominion was in peace and at rest from foreign interference; prosperity and plenty belonged to him, and the cities in his realm were (healthy) like the forests.
- 16. When that son was born it was in that monarch's kingdom as in the reign of Manu the son of the Sun, gladness went everywhere and evil perished; right blazed abroad and sin was still.
- 17. Since at the birth of this son of the king such a universal accomplishment of all objects took place, the king in consequence caused the prince's name to be Sarvārthasiddha.
- 18. But the queen Māyā, having seen the great glory of her new-born son, like some Rṣi of the gods, could not sustain the joy which it brought; and that she might not die she went to heaven.
- 19. Then the queen's sister, with an influence like a mother's, undistinguished from the real mother in her affection or tenderness, brought up as her own son the young prince who was like the offspring of the gods.

- 20. Then like the young sun on the eastern mountain or the fire when fanned by the wind, the prince gradually grew in all due perfection, like the moon in the fortnight of brightness.
- 21. Then they brought him as presents from the houses of his friends costly unguents of sandalwood, and strings of gems exactly like wreaths of plants, and little golden carriages yoked with deer;
- 22. Ornaments also suitable to his age, and elephants, deer, and horses made of gold, carriages and oxen decked with rich garments, and carts gay with silver and gold.
- 23. Thus indulged with all sorts of such objects to please the senses as were suitable to his years, child as he was, he behaved not like a child in gravity, purity, wisdom, and dignity.
- 24. When he had passed the period of childhood and reached that of middle youth, the young prince learned in a few days the various sciences suitable to his race, which generally took many years to master.
- 25. But having heard before from the great seer Asita his destined future which was to embrace transcendental happiness, the anxious care of the king of the present Śākya race turned the prince to sensual pleasures.
- 26. Then he sought for him from a family of unblemished moral excellence a bride possessed of beauty, modesty, and gentle bearing,

of wide-spread glory, Yaśodharā by name, having a name well worthy of her, a very goddess of good fortune.

- 27. Then after that the prince, beloved of the king his father, he who was like Sanatkumāra, rejoiced in the society of that Śākya princess as the thousand-eyed (Indra) rejoiced with his bride Śacī.
- 28. 'He might perchance see some inauspicious sight which could disturb his mind,' thus reflecting the king had a dwelling prepared for him apart from the busy press in the recesses of the palace.
- 29. Then he spent his time in those royal apartments, furnished with the delights proper for every season, gaily decorated like heavenly chariots upon the earth, and bright like the clouds of autumn, amidst the splendid musical concerts of singing-women.
- 30. With the softly-sounding tambourines beaten by the tips of the women's hands, and ornamented with golden rims, and with the dances which were like the dances of the heavenly nymphs, that palace shone like Mount Kailāsa.
- 31. There the women delighted him with their soft voices, their beautiful pearl-garlands, their playful intoxication, their sweet laughter, and their stolen glances concealed by their brows.
- 32. Borne in the arms of these women well-skilled in the ways of love, and reckless in the pursuit of pleasure, he fell from the roof of a

pavilion and yet reached not the ground, like a holy sage stepping from a heavenly chariot.

- 33. Meanwhile the king for the sake of ensuring his son's prosperity and stirred in heart by the destiny which had been predicted for him, delighted himself in perfect calm, ceased from all evil, practised all self-restraint, and rewarded the good.
- 34. He turned to no sensual pleasures like one wanting in self-control; he felt no violent delight in any state of birth; he subdued by firmness the restless horses of the senses; and he surpassed his kindred and citizens by his virtues.
- 35. He sought not learning to vex another; such knowledge as was beneficent, that only he studied; he wished well to all mankind as much as to his own subjects.
- 36. He worshipped also duly the brilliant (Agni) that tutelary god of the Angirasas, for his son's long life; and he offered oblations in a large fire, and gave gold and cows to the Brāhmans.
- 37. He bathed to purify his body and mind with the waters of holy places and of holy feelings; and at the same time he drank the somajuice as enjoined by the Veda, and the heartfelt self-produced happiness of perfect calm.

- 38. He only spoke what was pleasant and not unprofitable; he discoursed about what was true and not ill-natured, he could not speak even to himself for very shame a false pleasant thing or a harsh truth.
- 39. In things which required to be done, whether they were pleasant or disagreeable, he found no reason either for desire or dislike; he pursued the advantageous which could be attained without litigation; he did not so highly value sacrifice.
- 40. When a suppliant came to him with a petition, he at once hastened to quench his thirst with the water sprinkled on his gift; and without fighting, by the battle-axe of his demeanour he smote down the arrogant armed with double pride.
- 41. Thus he took away the one, and protected the seven; he abandoned the seven and kept the five; he obtained the set of three and learned the set of three; he understood the two and abandoned the two.
- 42. Guilty persons, even though he had sentenced them to death, he did not cause to be killed nor even looked on them with anger; he bound them with gentle words and with the reform produced in their character, even their release was accompanied by no inflicted injury.
- 43. He performed great religious vows prescribed by ancient seers; he threw aside hostile feelings long cherished; he acquired glory redolent with the fragrance of virtue; he relinquished all passions involving defilement.

- 44. He desired not to take his tribute of one-sixth without acting as the guardian of his people; he had no wish to covet another's property; he desired not to mention the wrong-doing of his enemies; nor did he wish to fan wrath in his heart.
- 45. When the monarch himself was thus employed his servants and citizens followed his example, like the senses of one absorbed in contemplation whose mind is abstracted in profound repose.
- 46. In course of time to the fair-bosomed Yaśodharā, who was truly glorious in accordance with her name, there was born from the son of Śuddhodana a son named Rāhula, with a face like the enemy of Rāhu.
- 47. Then the king who from regard to the welfare of his race had longed for a son and been exceedingly delighted [at his coming], as he had rejoiced at the birth of his son, so did he now rejoice at the birth of his grandson.
- 48. 'O how can I feel that love which my son feels for my grandson?' Thus thinking in his joy he at the due time attended to every enjoined rite like one who fondly loves his son and is about to rise to heaven.
- 49. Standing in the paths of the pre-eminent kings who flourished in primaeval ages, he practised austerities without laying aside his white garments, and he offered in sacrifice only those things which involved no injury to living creatures.

- 50. He of holy deeds shone forth gloriously, in the splendour of royalty and the splendour of penances, conspicuous by his family and his own conduct and wisdom, and desirous to diffuse brightness like the sun.
- 51. Having offered worship, he whose own glory was secure muttered repetitions of Vedic texts to Svayambhū for the safety of his son, and performed various ceremonies hard to be accomplished, like the god Ka in the first aeon wishing to create living beings.
- 52. He laid aside weapons and pondered the Śāstra, he practised perfect calm and underwent various observances, like a hermit he refused all objects of sense, he viewed all his kingdoms like a father.
- 53. He endured the kingdom for the sake of his son, his son for his family, his family for fame, fame for heaven, heaven for the soul, he only desired the soul's continuance for the sake of duty.
- 54. Thus did he practise the various observances as followed by the pious and established from revelation, he asking himself, 'now that he has seen the face of his son, how may my son be stopped from going to the forest?'
- 55. The prudent kings of the earth, who wish to guard their prosperity, watch over their sons in the world; but this king, though loving religion, kept his son from religion and set him free towards all objects of pleasure.

But all Bodhisattvas, those beings of pre-eminent nature, after knowing the flavour of worldly enjoyments, have departed to the forest as soon as a son is born to them; therefore he too, though he had accomplished all his previous destiny, even when the (final) motive had begun to germinate, still went on pursuing worldly pleasure up to the time of attaining the supreme wisdom.

[Such is the second chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called Life in the Palace]

Book III [The Prince's Pertubation]

- 1. On a certain day he heard of the forests carpeted with tender grass, with their trees resounding with the kokilas, adorned with lotusponds, and which had been all bound up in the cold season.
- 2. Having heard of the delightful appearance of the city groves beloved by the women, he resolved to go out of doors, like an elephant long shut up in a house.
- 3. The king, having learned the character of the wish thus expressed by his son, ordered a pleasure-party to be prepared, worthy of his own affection and his son's beauty and youth.
- 4. He prohibited the encounter of any afflicted common person in the highroad; 'heaven forbid that the prince with his tender nature should even imagine himself to be distressed.'
- 5. Then having removed out of the way with the greatest gentleness all those who had mutilated limbs or maimed senses, the decrepit and the sick and all squalid beggars, they made the highway assume its perfect beauty.
- 6. Along this road thus made beautiful, the fortunate prince with his well-trained attendants came down one day at a proper time from the roof of the palace and went to visit the king by his leave.

- 7. Then the king, with tears rising to his eyes, having smelt his son's head and long gazed upon him, gave him his permission, saying, 'Go;' but in his heart through affection he could not let him depart.
- 8. He then mounted a golden chariot, adorned with reins bright like flashing lightning, and yoked with four gentle horses, all wearing golden trappings.
- 9. With a worthy retinue he entered the road which was strewn with heaps of gleaming flowers, with garlands suspended and banners waving, like the moon with its asterism entering the sky.
- 10. Slowly, slowly he passed along the highway, watched on every side by the citizens, and beshowered by their eyes opened wide with curiosity like blue lotuses.
- 11. Some praised him for his gentle disposition, others hailed him for his glorious appearance, others eulogised his beauty from his fine countenance and desired for him length of days.
- 12. Hump-backed men coming out from the great families, and troops of foresters and dwarfs, and women coming out from the meaner houses bowed down like the banners of some procession of the gods.
- 13. Hearing the news, 'the prince is going out,' from the attendants of the female apartments, the women hastened to the roofs of the different mansions, having obtained the leave of their lords.

- 14. Hindered by the strings of their girdles which had slipped down, with their eyes bewildered as just awakened from sleep, and with their ornaments hastily put on in the stir of the news, and filled with curiosity, they crowded round;
- 15. Frightening the flocks of birds which lived in the houses, with the noise of their girdles and the jingling of their anklets which resounded on the staircases and roofs of the mansions, and mutually reproaching one another for their hurry.
- 16. Some of these women, even in their haste as they rushed longing to see, were delayed in their going by the weight of their hips and full bosoms.
- 17. Another, though well able to go herself, checked her pace and forbore to run, hiding with shame her ornaments hitherto worn only in seclusion, and now too boldly displayed.
- 18. There they were restlessly swaying about in the windows, crowded together in the mutual press, with their earrings polished by the continual collision and their ornaments all jingling.
- 19. The lotus-like faces of the women gleamed while they looked out from the windows with their earrings coming into mutual proximity, as if they were real lotuses fastened upon the houses.
- 20. With the palaces all alive with crowds of damsels, every aperture thrown open in eager curiosity, the magnificent city appeared on

every side like heaven with its divine chariots thronged with celestial nymphs.

- 21. The faces of the beautiful women shone like lotuses wreathed in garlands, while through the narrowness of the windows their earrings were transferred to each other's cheeks.
- 22. Gazing down upon the prince in the road, the women appeared as if longing to fall to the earth; gazing up to him with upturned faces, the men seemed as if longing to rise to heaven.
- 23. Beholding the king's son thus radiant in his beauty and glory, those women softly whispered, 'happy is his wife,' with pure minds and from no baser feeling.
- 24. 'He with the long sturdy arms, who stands in his beauty like the flower-armed god visibly present, will leave his royal pomp and devote himself to religion,' thus thinking, full of kindly feelings towards him, they all offered reverence.
- 25. Beholding for the first time that high-road thus crowded with respectful citizens, all dressed in white sedate garments, the prince for a while did feel a little pleasure and thought that it seemed to promise a revival of his youth.
- 26. But then the gods, dwelling in pure abodes, having beheld that city thus rejoicing like heaven itself, created an old man to walk along on purpose to stir the heart of the king's son.

- 27. The prince having beheld him thus overcome with decrepitude and different in form from other men, with his gaze intently fixed on him, thus addressed his driver with simple confidence:
- 28. 'Who is this man that has come here, O charioteer, with white hair and his hand resting on a staff, his eyes hidden beneath his brows, his limbs bent down and hanging loose, is this a change produced in him or his natural state or an accident?'
- 29. Thus addressed, the charioteer revealed to the king's son the secret that should have been kept so carefully, thinking no harm in his simplicity, for those same gods had bewildered his mind:
- 30. 'That is old age by which he is broken down, the ravisher of beauty, the ruin of vigour, the cause of sorrow, the destruction of delights, the bane of memories, the enemy of the senses.
- 31. 'He too once drank milk in his childhood, and in course of time he learned to grope on the ground; having step by step become a vigorous youth, he has step by step in the same way reached old age.'
- 32. Being thus addressed, the prince, starting a little, spoke these words to the charioteer, 'What! will this evil come to me also?' and to him again spoke the charioteer:
- 33. 'It will come without doubt by the force of time through multitude of years even to my long-lived lord; all the world knows thus that old age will destroy their comeliness and they are content to have it so.'

- 34. Then he, the great-souled one, who had his mind purified by the impressions of former good actions, who possessed a store of merits accumulated through many preceding aeons, was deeply agitated when he heard of old age, like a bull who has heard the crash of a thunderbolt close by.
- 35. Drawing a long sigh and shaking his head, and fixing his eyes on that decrepit old man, and looking round on that exultant multitude he then uttered these distressed words:
- 36. 'Old age thus strikes down all alike, our memory, comeliness, and valour; and yet the world is not disturbed, even when it sees such a fate visibly impending.
- 37. 'Since such is our condition, O charioteer, turn back the horses, go quickly home; how can I rejoice in the pleasure-garden, when the thoughts arising from old age overpower me?'
- 38. Then the charioteer at the command of the king's son turned the chariot back, and the prince lost in thought entered even that royal palace as if it were empty.
- 39. But when he found no happiness even there, as he continually kept reflecting, 'old age, old age,' then once more, with the permission of the king, he went out with the same arrangement as before.

- 40. Then the same deities created another man with his body all afflicted by disease; and on seeing him the son of Śuddhodana addressed the charioteer, having his gaze fixed on the man:
- 41. 'Yonder man with a swollen belly, his whole frame shaking as he pants, his arms and shoulders hanging loose, his body all pale and thin, uttering plaintively the word "mother," when he embraces a stranger, who, pray, is this?'
- 42. Then his charioteer answered, 'Gentle Sir, it is a very great affliction called sickness, that has grown up, caused by the inflammation of the (three) humours, which has made even this strong man no longer master of himself.'
- 43. Then the prince again addressed him, looking upon the man compassionately, 'Is this evil peculiar to him or are all beings alike threatened by sickness?'
- 44. Then the charioteer answered, 'O prince, this evil is common to all; thus pressed round by diseases men run to pleasure, though racked with pain.'
- 45. Having heard this account, his mind deeply distressed, he trembled like the moon reflected in the waves of water; and full of sorrow he uttered these words in a low voice:

- 46. 'Even while they see all this calamity of diseases mankind can yet feel tranquillity; alas for the scattered intelligence of men who can smile when still not free from the terrors of disease!
- 47. 'Let the chariot, O charioteer, be turned back from going outside, let it return straight to the king's palace; having heard this alarm of disease, my mind shrinks into itself, repelled from pleasures.'
- 48. Then having turned back, with all joy departed, he entered his home, absorbed in thought; and having seen him thus return a second time, the king himself entered the city.
- 49. Having heard the occasion of the prince's return he felt himself as deserted by him, and, although unused to severe punishment, even when displeased, he rebuked him whose duty it was to see that the road was clear.
- 50. And once more he arranged for his son all kinds of worldly enjoyments to their highest point; imploring in his heart, 'Would that he might not be able to forsake us, even though rendered unable only through the restlessness of his senses.'
- 51. But when in the women's apartments his son found no pleasure in the several objects of the senses, sweet sounds and the rest, he gave orders for another progress outside, thinking to himself, 'It may create a diversion of sentiment.'

- 52. And in his affection pondering on the condition of his son, never thinking of any ills that might come from his haste, he ordered the best singing-women to be in attendance, as well-skilled in all the soft arts that can please.
- 53. Then the royal road being specially adorned and guarded, the king once more made the prince go out, having ordered the charioteer and chariot to proceed in a contrary direction (to the previous one).
- 54. But as the king's son was thus going on his way, the very same deities created a dead man, and only the charioteer and the prince, and none else, beheld him as he was carried dead along the road.
- 55. Then spoke the prince to the charioteer, 'Who is this borne by four men, followed by mournful companions, who is bewailed, adorned but no longer breathing?'
- 56. Then the driver, having his mind overpowered by the gods who possess pure minds and pure dwellings, himself knowing the truth, uttered to his lord this truth also which was not to be told:
- 57. 'This is some poor man who, bereft of his intellect, senses, vital airs and qualities, lying asleep and unconscious, like mere wood or straw, is abandoned alike by friends and enemies after they have carefully swathed and guarded him.'

- 58. Having heard these words of the charioteer he was somewhat startled and said to him, 'Is this an accident peculiar to him alone, or is such the end of all living creatures?'
- 59. Then the charioteer replied to him, 'This is the final end of all living creatures; be it a mean man, a man of middle state, or a noble, destruction is fixed to all in this world.'
- 60. Then the king's son, sedate though he was, as soon as he heard of death, immediately sank down overwhelmed, and pressing the end of the chariotpole with his shoulder spoke with a loud voice,
- 61. 'Is this end appointed to all creatures, and yet the world throws off all fear and is infatuated! Hard indeed, I think, must the hearts of men be, who can be self-composed in such a road.
- 62. 'Therefore, O charioteer, turn back our chariot, this is no time or place for a pleasure-excursion; how can a rational being, who knows what destruction is, stay heedless here, in the hour of calamity?'
- 63. Even when the prince thus spoke to him, the charioteer did not turn the chariot back; but at his peremptorily reiterated command he retired to the forest Padmakhanda.
- 64. There he beheld that lovely forest like Nandana itself, full of young trees in flower with intoxicated kokilas wandering joyously about, and with its bright lakes gay with lotuses and well-furnished with watering-places.

65. The king's son was perforce carried away to that wood filled with troops of beautiful women, just as if some devotee who had newly taken his vow were carried off, feeling weak to withstand temptation, to the palace of the monarch of Alakā, gay with the dancing of the loveliest heavenly nymphs.

[Such is the third chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called The Prince's Pertubation]

Book IV [The Women Rejected]

- 1. Then from that city-garden, with their eyes restless in excitement, the women went out to meet the prince as a newly-arrived bridegroom;
- 2. And when they came up to him, their eyes wide open in wonder, they performed their due homage with hands folded like a lotus-calyx.
- 3. Then they stood surrounding him, their minds overpowered by passion, as if they were drinking him in with their eyes motionless and blossoming wide with love.
- 4. Some of the women verily thought that he was Kāma incarnate, decorated as he was with his brilliant signs as with connate ornaments.
- 5. Others thought from his gentleness and majesty that it was the moon with its ambrosial beams as it were visibly come down to the earth.
- 6. Others, smitten by his beauty, yawned as if to swallow him, and fixing their eyes on each other, softly sighed.
- 7. Thus the women only looked upon him, simply gazing with their eyes, they spoke not, nor did they smile, controlled by his power.
- 8. But having seen them thus listless, bewildered in their love, the wise son of the family priest, Udāyin, thus addressed them:

- 9. 'Ye are all skilled in all the graceful arts, proficients in understanding the language of amorous sentiments, possessed of beauty and gracefulness, thorough masters in your own styles.
- 10. 'With these graces of yours ye may embellish even the Northern Kurus, yea, even the dances of Kuvera, much more this little earth.
- 11. 'Ye are able to move even sages who have lost all their desires, and to ensnare even the gods who are charmed by heavenly nymphs.
- 12. 'By your skill in expressing the heart's feelings, by your coquetry, your grace, and your perfect beauty, ye are able to enrapture even women, how much more easily men.
- 13. 'You thus skilled as ye are, each set in her own proper sphere, such as this is your power, I am not satisfied with your simplicity [when you profess to find him beyond your reach].
- 14. 'This timid action of yours would be fit for new brides, their eyes closed through shame, or it might be a blandishment worthy even of the wives of the cowherds.
- 15. 'What though this hero be great by his exalted glory, yet "great is the might of women," let this be your firm resolve.
- 16. 'In olden time a great seer, hard to be conquered even by the gods, was spurned by a harlot, the beauty of $K\bar{a}\dot{s}i$, planting her feet upon him.

- 17. 'The Bhikṣu Manthālagautama was also formerly spurned by Bālamukhyā with her leg, and wishing to please her he carried out dead bodies for her sake to be buried.
- 18. 'And a woman low in standing and caste fascinated the great seer Gautama, though a master of long penances and old in years.
- 19. 'So Śāntā by her various wiles captivated and subdued the sage's son Rsyaśṛṅga, unskilled in women's ways.
- 20. 'And the great seer Viśvāmitra, though plunged in a profound penance, was carried captive for ten years in the forests by the nymph Ghṛtācī.
- 21. 'Many such seers as these have women brought to shame how much more then a delicate prince in the first flower of his age?
- 22. 'This being so, boldly put forth your efforts that the prosperity of the king's family may not be turned away from him.
- 23. 'Ordinary women captivate similar lovers; but they are truly women who subdue the natures of high and low.'
- 24. Having heard these words of Udāyin these women as stung to the heart rose even above themselves for the conquest of the prince.
- 25. With their brows, their glances, their coquetries, their smiles, their delicate movements, they made all sorts of significant gestures like women utterly terrified.

- 26. But they soon regained their confidence through the command of the king and the gentle temperament of the prince, and through the power of intoxication and of love.
- 27. Then surrounded by troops of women the prince wandered in the wood like an elephant in the forests of Himavat accompanied by a herd of females.
- 28. Attended by the women he shone in that pleasant grove, as the sun surrounded by Apsarasas in his royal garden.
- 29. There some of them, urged by passion, pressed him with their full firm bosoms in gentle collisions.
- 30. Another violently embraced him after making a pretended stumble, leaning on him with her shoulders drooping down, and with her gentle creeper-like arms dependent.
- 31. Another with her mouth smelling of spirituous liquor, her lower lip red like copper, whispered in his ear, 'Let my secret be heard.'
- 32. Another, all wet with unguents, as if giving him her command, clasped his hand eagerly and said, 'Perform thy rites of adoration here.'
- 33. Another, with her blue garments continually slipping down in pretended intoxication, stood conspicuous with her tongue visible like the night with its lightning flashing.

- 34. Others, with their golden zones tinkling, wandered about here and there, showing to him their hips veiled with thin cloth.
- 35. Others leaned, holding a mango-bough in full flower, displaying their bosoms like golden jars.
- 36. Another, coming from a lotus-bed, carrying lotuses and with eyes like lotuses, stood like the lotus-goddess Padmā, by the side of that lotus-faced prince.
- 37. Another sang a sweet song easily understood and with the proper gesticulations, rousing him, self-subdued though he was, by her glances, as saying, 'O how thou art deluded!'
- 38. Another, having armed herself with her bright face, with its browbow drawn to its full, imitated his action, as playing the hero.
- 39. Another, with beautiful full bosoms, and having her earrings waving in the wind, laughed loudly at him, as if saying, 'Catch me, sir, if you can!'
- 40. Some, as he was going away, bound him with strings of garlands, others punished him with words like an elephant-driver's hook, gentle yet reproachful.
- 41. Another, wishing to argue with him, seizing a mango-spray, asked, all bewildered with passion, 'This flower, whose is it?'

- 42. Another, assuming a gait and attitude like those of a man, said to him, 'Thou who art conquered by women, go and conquer this earth!'
- 43. Then another with rolling eyes, smelling a blue lotus, thus addressed the prince with words slightly indistinct in her excitement,
- 44. 'See, my lord, this mango covered with its honey-scented flowers, where the kokila sings, as if imprisoned in a golden cage.
- 45. 'Come and see this asoka tree, which augments lovers' sorrows, where the bees make a noise as if they were scorched by fire.
- 46. 'Come and see this tilaka tree, embraced by a slender mangobranch, like a man in a white garment by a woman decked with yellow unguents.
- 47. 'Behold this kuruvaka in flower, bright like fresh resin-juice, which bends down as if it felt reproached by the colour of women's nails.
- 48. 'Come and see this young aśoka, covered all over with new shoots, which stands as it were ashamed at the beauty of our hands.
- 49. 'See this lake surrounded by the sinduvāra shrubs growing on its banks, like a fair woman reclining, clad in fine white cloth.
- 50. 'See the imperial power of females, yonder ruddy-goose in the water goes behind his mate following her like a slave.

- 51. 'Come and listen to the notes of this intoxicated cuckoo as he sings, while another cuckoo sings as if consenting, wholly without care.
- 52. 'Would that thine was the intoxication of the birds which the spring produces, and not the thought of a thinking man, ever pondering how wise he is!'
- 53. Thus these young women, their souls carried away by love, assailed the prince with all kinds of stratagems.
- 54. But although thus attacked, he, having his senses guarded by self-control, neither rejoiced nor smiled, thinking anxiously, 'One must die.'
- 55. Having seen them in their real condition, that best of men pondered with an undisturbed, and stedfast mind.
- 56. 'What is it that these women lack that they perceive not that youth is fickle? for this old age will destroy whatever has beauty.
- 57. 'Verily they do not see any one's plunge into disease, and so dismissing fear, they are joyous in a world which is all pain.
- 58. 'Evidently they know nothing of death which carries all away; and so at ease and without distress they can sport and laugh.
- 59. 'What rational being, who knows of old age, death and sickness, could stand or sit down at his ease or sleep, far less laugh?

- 60. 'But he verily is like one bereft of sense, who, beholding another aged or sick or dead, remains self-possessed and not afflicted.
- 61. '(So) even when a tree is deprived of its flowers and fruits, or if it is cut down and falls, no other tree sorrows.'
- 62. Seeing him thus absorbed in contemplation, with his desires estranged from all worldly objects, Udāyin, well skilled in the rules of policy, with kindly feelings addressed him:
- 63. 'Since I was appointed by the king as a fitting friend for thee, therefore I have a wish to speak to thee in this friendliness of my heart.
- 64. 'To hinder from what is disadvantageous, to urge to what is advantageous and not to forsake in misfortune, these are the three marks of a friend.
- 65. 'If I, after having promised my friendship, were not to heed when thou turnest away from the great end of man, there would be no friendship in me.
- 66. 'Therefore I speak as thy friend, such rudeness as this to women is not befitting for one young in years and graceful in person.
- 67. 'It is right to woo a woman even by guile, this is useful both for getting rid of shame and for one's own enjoyment.

- 68. 'Reverential behaviour and compliance with her wishes are what binds a woman's heart; good qualities truly are a cause of love, and women love respect.
- 69. 'Wilt thou not then, O large-eyed prince, even if thy heart is unwilling, seek to please them with a courtesy worthy of this beauty of thine?
- 70. 'Courtesy is the balm of women, courtesy is the best ornament; beauty without courtesy is like a grove without flowers.
- 71. 'But of what use is courtesy by itself? let it be assisted by the heart's feelings; surely, when worldly objects so hard to attain are in thy grasp, thou wilt not despise them.
- 72. 'Knowing that pleasure was the best of objects, even the god Puramdara (Indra) wooed in olden time Ahalyā the wife of the saint Gautama.
- 73. 'So too Agastya wooed Rohiṇī, the wife of Soma; and therefore, as Śruti saith, a like thing befell Lopāmudrā.
- 74. 'The great ascetic Vrhaspati begot Bharadvāja on Mamatā the daughter of the Maruts, the wife of Autathya.
- 75. 'The Moon, the best of offerers, begat Budha of divine nature on the spouse of Vrhaspati as she was offering a libation.

- 76. 'So too in old time Parāśara, overpowered by passion on the bank of the Yamunā, lay with the maiden Kālī who was the daughter of the son of the Water (Agni).
- 77. 'The sage Vaśiṣṭha through lust begot a son Kapiñjalāda on Aksamālā a despised low-caste woman.
- 78. 'And the seer-king Yayāti, even when the vigour of his prime was gone, sported in the Caitraratha forest with the Apsaras Viśvācī.
- 79. 'And the Kaurava king Pāṇḍu, though he knew that intercourse with his wife would end in death, yet overcome by the beauty and good qualities of Mādrī yielded to the pleasures of love.
- 80. 'And so Karālajanaka, when he carried off the Brāhman's daughter, incurred loss of caste thereby, but he would not give up his love.
- 81. 'Great heroes such as these pursued even contemptible desires for the sake of pleasure, how much more so when they are praiseworthy of their kind?
- 82. 'And yet thou, a young man, possessed of strength and beauty, despisest enjoyments which rightly belong to thee, and to which the whole world is devoted.'
- 83. Having heard these specious words of his, well-supported by sacred tradition, the prince made reply, in a voice like the thundering of a cloud:

- 84. 'This speech manifesting affection is well-befitting in thee; but I will convince thee as to where thou wrongly judgest me.
- 85. 'I do not despise worldly objects, I know that all mankind are bound up therein; but remembering that the world is transitory, my mind cannot find pleasure in them.
- 86. 'Old age, disease, and death if these three things did not exist, I too should find my enjoyment in the objects that please the mind.
- 87. 'Yet even though this beauty of women were to remain perpetual, still delight in the pleasures of desire would not be worthy of the wise man.
- 88. 'But since their beauty will be drunk up by old age, to delight therein through infatuation cannot be a thing approved even by thyself.
- 89. 'He who himself subject to death, disease, and old age, can sport undisturbed with those whose very nature implies death, disease, and old age, such a man is on a level with birds and beasts.
- 90. 'And as for what thou sayest as to even those great men having become victims to desire, do not be bewildered by them, for destruction was also their lot.
- 91. 'Real greatness is not to be found there, where there is universally destruction, or where there is attachment to earthly objects, or a want of self-control.

- 92. 'And when thou sayest, "Let one deal with women even by guile," I know nought about guile, even if it be accompanied with courtesy.
- 93. 'That compliance too with a woman's wishes pleases me not, if truthfulness be not there; if there be not a union with one's whole soul and nature, then "out upon it" say I.
- 94. 'A soul overpowered by passion, believing in falsehood, carried away by attachment and blind to the faults of its objects, what is there in it worth being deceived?
- 95. 'And if the victims of passion do deceive one another, are not men unfit for women to look at and women for men?
- 96. Since then these things are so, thou surely wouldest not lead me astray into ignoble pleasures, me afflicted by sorrow, and subject to old age and death?
- 97. 'Ah! thy mind must be very firm and strong, if thou canst find substance in the transitory pleasures of sense; even in the midst of violent alarm thou canst cling to worldly objects, when thou seest all created beings in the road of death.
- 98. 'But I am fearful and exceedingly bewildered, as I ponder the terrors of old age, death, and disease; I can find no peace, no self-command, much less can I find pleasure, while I see the world as it were ablaze with fire.

- 99. 'If desire arises in the heart of the man, who knows that death is certain, I think that his soul must be made of iron, who restrains it in this great terror and does not weep.'
- 100. Then the prince uttered a discourse full of resolve and abolishing the objects of desire; and the lord of day, whose orb is the worthy centre of human eyes, departed to the Western Mountain.
- 101. And the women, having worn their garlands and ornaments in vain, with their graceful arts and endearments all fruitless, concealing their love deep in their hearts, returned to the city with broken hopes.
- 102. Having thus seen the beauty of the troop of women who had gone out to the city-garden, now withdrawn in the evening, the prince, pondering the transitoriness which envelopes all things, entered his dwelling.
- 103. Then the king, when he heard how his mind turned away from all objects of sense, could not lie down all that night, like an elephant with an arrow in its heart; but wearied in all sorts of consultation, he and his ministers could find no other means beside these (despised) pleasures to restrain his son's purpose.

[Such is the fourth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called The Women Rejected]

Book V [Flight]

- 1. He, the son of the \dot{Sa} kya king, even though thus tempted by the objects of sense which infatuate others, yielded not to pleasure and felt not delight, like a lion deeply pierced in his heart by a poisoned arrow.
- 2. Then one day accompanied by some worthy sons of his father's ministers, friends full of varied converse, with a desire to see the glades of the forest and longing for peace, he went out with the king's permission.
- 3. Having mounted his good horse Kamthaka, decked with bells and bridle-bit of new gold, with beautiful golden harness and the chowrie waving, he went forth like the moon mounted on a comet.
- 4. Lured by love of the wood and longing for the beauties of the ground, he went to a spot near at hand on the forest-outskirts; and there he saw a piece of land being ploughed, with the path of the plough broken like waves on the water.
- 5. Having beheld the ground in this condition, with its young grass scattered and torn by the plough, and covered with the eggs and young of little insects which were killed, he was filled with deep sorrow as for the slaughter of his own kindred.
- 6. And beholding the men as they were ploughing, their complexions spoiled by the dust, the sun's rays, and the wind, and their cattle

bewildered with the burden of drawing, the most noble one felt extreme compassion.

- 7. Having alighted from the back of his horse, he went over the ground slowly, overcome with sorrow, pondering the birth and destruction of the world, he, grieved, exclaimed, 'this is indeed pitiable.'
- 8. Then desiring to become perfectly lonely in his thoughts, having stopped those friends who were following him, he went to the root of a rose-apple in a solitary spot, which had its beautiful leaves all tremulous (in the wind).
- 9. There he sat down on the ground covered with leaves, and with its young grass bright like lapis lazuli; and, meditating on the origin and destruction of the world, he laid hold of the path that leads to firmness of mind.
- 10. Having attained to firmness of mind, and being forthwith set free from all sorrows such as the desire of worldly objects and the rest, he attained the first stage of contemplation, unaffected by sin, calm, and 'argumentative.'
- 11. Having then obtained the highest happiness sprung from deliberation, he next pondered this meditation, having thoroughly understood in his mind the course of the world:

- 12. 'It is a miserable thing that mankind, though themselves powerless and subject to sickness, old age, and death, yet, blinded by passion and ignorant, look with disgust on another who is afflicted by old age or diseased or dead.
- 13. 'If I here, being such myself, should feel disgust for another who has such a nature, it would not be worthy or right in me who know this highest duty.'
- 14. As he thus considered thoroughly these faults of sickness, old age, and death which belong to all living beings, all the joy which he had felt in the activity of his vigour, his youth, and his life, vanished in a moment.
- 15. He did not rejoice, he did not feel remorse; he suffered no hesitation, indolence, nor sleep; he felt no drawing towards the qualities of desire; he hated not nor scorned another.
- 16. Thus did this pure passionless meditation grow within the great-souled one; and unobserved by the other men, there crept up a man in a beggar's dress.
- 17. The king's son asked him a question, he said to him, 'Tell me, who art thou?' and the other replied, 'Oh bull of men, I, being terrified at birth and death, have become an ascetic for the sake of liberation.

- 18. 'Desiring liberation in a world subject to destruction, I seek that happy indestructible abode, isolated from mankind, with my thoughts unlike those of others, and with my sinful passions turned away from all objects of sense.
- 19. 'Dwelling anywhere, at the root of a tree, or in an uninhabited house, a mountain or a forest, I wander without a family and without hope, a beggar ready for any fare, seeking only the highest good.'
- 20. When he had thus spoken, while the prince was looking on, he suddenly flew up to the sky; it was a heavenly inhabitant who, knowing that the prince's thoughts were other than what his outward form promised, had come to him for the sake of rousing his recollection.
- 21. When the other was gone like a bird to heaven, the foremost of men was rejoiced and astonished; and having comprehended the meaning of the term dharma, he set his mind on the manner of the accomplishment of deliverance.
- 22. Then like Indra himself, and having tamed his senses, desiring to return home he mounted his noble steed; and having made him turn back as he looked for his friends, from that moment he sought no more the desired forest.
- 23. Ever seeking to make an end of old age and death, fixing his thoughts in memory on dwelling in the woods, he entered the city

again but with no feelings of longing, like an elephant entering an exercise-ground after roaming in a forest-land.

- 24. 'Happy truly and blessed is that woman whose husband is such as thou, O long-eyed prince!' So, on seeing him, the princess exclaimed, folding her hands to welcome him, as he entered the road.
- 25. He whose voice was deep-sounding like a cloud heard this address and was filled with profound calm; and as he heard the word 'blessed' he fixed his mind on the attainment of Nirvāna.
- 26. Then the prince whose form was like the peak of a golden mountain, whose eye, voice, and arm resembled a bull, a cloud, and an elephant, whose countenance and prowess were like the moon and a lion, having a longing aroused for something imperishable, went into his palace.
- 27. Then stepping like a lion he went towards the king who was attended by his numerous counsellors, like Sanatkumāra in heaven waiting on Indra resplendent in the assembly of the Maruts.
- 28. Prostrating himself, with folded hands, he addressed him, 'Grant me graciously thy permission, O lord of men, I wish to become a wandering mendicant for the sake of liberation, since separation is appointed for me.'

- 29. Having heard his words, the king shook like a tree struck by an elephant, and having seized his folded hands which were like a lotus, he thus addressed him in a voice choked with tears:
- 30. 'O my son, keep back this thought, it is not the time for thee to betake thyself to dharma; they say that the practice of religion is full of evils in the first period of life when the mind is still fickle.
- 31. 'The mind of the thoughtless ignorant young man whose senses are eager for worldly objects, and who has no power of settled resolution for the hardships of vows of penance, shrinks back from the forest, for it is especially destitute of discrimination.
- 32. 'It is high time for me to practise religion, O my child of loved qualities, leaving my royal glory to thee who art well worthy to be distinguished by it; but thy religion, O firm-striding hero, is to be accomplished by heroism; it would be irreligion if thou wert to leave thine own father.
- 33. 'Do thou therefore abandon this thy resolution; devote thyself for the present to the duties of a householder; to a man who has enjoyed the pleasures of his prime, it is delightful to enter the penance-forest.'
- 34. Having heard these words of the king, he made his reply in a voice soft like a sparrow's: 'If thou wilt be my surety, O king, against four contingencies, I will not betake myself to the forest.

- 35. 'Let not my life be subject to death, and let not disease impair this health of mine; let not old age attack my youth, and let not misfortune destroy my weal.'
- 36. When his son uttered a speech so hard to be understood, the king of the Śākyas thus replied: 'Abandon this idea bent upon departure; extravagant desires are only ridiculous.'
- 37. Then he who was firm as Mount Meru addressed his father: 'If this is impossible, then this course of mine is not to be hindered; it is not right to lay hold of one who would escape from a house that is on fire.
- 38. 'As separation is inevitable to the world, but not for Dharma, this separation is preferable; will not death sever me helplessly, my objects unattained and myself unsatisfied?'
- 39. The monarch, having heard this resolve of his son longing for liberation, and having again exclaimed, 'He shall not go,' set guards round him and the highest pleasures.
- 40. Then having been duly instructed by the counsellors, with all respect and affection, according to the śāstras, and being thus forbidden with tears by his father, the prince, sorrowing, entered into his palace.

- 41. There he was gazed at by his wives with restless eyes, whose faces were kissed by their dangling earrings, and whose bosoms were shaken with their thick-coming sighs, as by so many young fawns.
- 42. Bright like a golden mountain, and bewitching the hearts of the noble women, he enraptured their ears, limbs, eyes, and souls by his speech, touch, form, and qualities.
- 43. When the day was gone, then, shining with his form like the sun, he ascended the palace, as the rising sun ascends Mount Meru, desiring to dispel the darkness by his own splendour.
- 44. Having ascended, he repaired to a special golden seat decorated with embellishments of diamond, with tall lighted candlesticks ablaze with gold, and its interior filled with the incense of black aloe-wood.
- 45. Then the noblest of women waited during the night on the noblest of men who was like Indra himself, with a concert of musical instruments, as the crowds of heavenly nymphs wait on the son of the Lord of wealth upon the summit of Himavat, white like the moon.
- 46. But even by those beautiful instruments like heavenly music he was not moved to pleasure or delight; since his desire to go forth from his home to seek the bliss of the highest end was never lulled.
- 47. Then by the power of the heavenly beings most excellent in self-mortification, the Akaniṣṭhas, who knew the purpose of his heart,

deep sleep was suddenly thrown on that company of women and their limbs and gestures became distorted.

- 48. One was lying there, resting her cheek on her trembling arm; leaving as in anger her lute, though dearly loved, which lay on her side, decorated with gold-leaf.
- 49. Another shone with her flute clinging to her hand, lying with her white garments fallen from her bosom, like a river whose banks are smiling with the foam of the water and whose lotuses are covered with a straight line of bees.
- 50. Another was sleeping, embracing her drum as a lover, with her two arms tender like the shoot of young lotus and bearing their bracelets closely linked, blazing with gold.
- 51. Others, decked with new golden ornaments and wearing peerless yellow garments, fell down alas! helpless with sleep, like the boughs of the Karnikāra broken by an elephant.
- 52. Another, leaning on the side of a window, with her willow-form bent like a bow, shone as she lay with her beautiful necklace hanging down, like a statue in an archway made by art.
- 53. The lotus-face of another, bowed down, with the pinguent-lines on her person rubbed by the jewelled earrings, appeared to be a lotus with its stalk bent into a half-circle, and shaken by a duck standing on it.

- 54. Others, lying as they sat, with their limbs oppressed by the weight of their bosoms, shone in their beauty, mutually clasping one another with their twining arms decorated with golden bracelets.
- 55. And another damsel lay sound asleep, embracing her big lute as if it were a female friend, and rolled it about, while its golden strings trembled, with her own face bright with her shaken earrings.
- 56. Another lay, with her tabour,
- 57. Others showed no lustre with their eyes shut, although they were really full-eyed and fair-browed, like the lotus-beds with their buds closed at the setting of the sun.
- 58. Another, with her hair loose and dishevelled, and her skirts and ornaments fallen from her loins, lay with her necklace in confusion, like a woman crushed by an elephant and then dropped.
- 59. Others, helpless and lost to shame, though naturally self-possessed and endued with all graces of person, breathed violently as they lay and yawned with their arms distorted and tossed about.
- 60. Others, with their ornaments and garlands thrown off, unconscious, with their garments spread out unfastened, their bright eyes wide open and motionless, lay without any beauty as if they were dead.

- 61. Another, with fully-developed limbs, her mouth wide open, her saliva dropping, and her person exposed, lay as though sprawling in intoxication, she spoke not, but bore every limb distorted.
- 62. Thus that company of women, lying in different attitudes, according to their disposition and family, bore the aspect of a lake whose lotuses were bent down and broken by the wind.
- 63. Then having seen these young women thus lying distorted and with uncontrolled gestures, however excellent their forms and graceful their appearance, the king's son felt moved with scorn.
- 64. 'Such is the nature of women, impure and monstrous in the world of living beings; but deceived by dress and ornaments a man becomes infatuated by a woman's attractions.
- 65. 'If a man would but consider the natural state of women and this change produced in them by sleep, assuredly he would not cherish his folly; but he is smitten from a right will and so succumbs to passion.'
- 66. Thus to him having recognised that difference there arose a desire to escape in the night; and then the gods, knowing his purpose, caused the door of the palace to fly open.
- 67. Then he went down from the roof of the palace, scorning those women who lay thus distorted; and having descended, undauntedly he went out first into the courtyard.

- 68. Having awakened his horse's attendant, the swift Chamdaka, he thus addressed him: 'Bring me quickly my horse Kamthaka, I wish today to go hence to attain immortality.
- 69. 'Since such is the firm content which to-day is produced in my heart, and since my determination is settled in calm resolve, and since even in loneliness I seem to possess a guide, verily the end which I desire is now before me.
- 70. 'Since abandoning all shame and modesty these women lay before me as they did, and the two doors opened of their own accord, verily the time is come to depart for my true health.'
- 71. Then, accepting his lord's command, though he knew the purport of the king's injunctions, as being urged by a higher power in his mind, he set himself to bring the horse.
- 72. Then he brought out for his master that noble steed, his mouth furnished with a golden bit, his back lightly touched by the bed on which he had been lying, and endued with strength, vigour, speed, and swiftness;
- 73. With a long chine, and root of the tail and heel, gentle, with short hair, back, and ears, with his back, belly, and sides depressed and elevated, with broad nostrils, forehead, hips, and breast.
- 74. The broad-chested hero, having embraced him, and caressing him with his lotus-like hand, ordered him with a gentle-toned voice, as if

he were desirous to plunge into the middle of an army:

- 75. 'Oftentimes have evil enemies been overthrown by the king when mounted on thee; do thou, O best of steeds, so exert thyself that I too may obtain the highest immortality.
- 76. 'Companions are easy to be found in battle or in the happiness obtained by winning worldly objects or in attaining wealth; but companions are hard for a man to find who has fallen into misfortune or when he flies for refuge to Dharma.
- 77. 'And yet all those who in this world are companions, whether in sinful custom or in seeking for Dharma, as my inner soul now recognises, they too are verily sharers in the common aim.
- 78. 'Since then, when I attain this righteous end, my escape from hence will be for the good of the world, O best of steeds, by thy speed and energy, strive for thine own good and the good of the world.'
- 79. Thus having exhorted the best of steeds like a friend to his duty, he, the best of men, longing to go to the forest, wearing a noble form, in brightness like fire, mounted the white horse as the sun an autumnal cloud.
- 80. Then that good steed, avoiding all noises which would sound startling in the dead of night and awaken the household, all sound

of his jaws hushed and his neighing silenced, – went forth, planting his hurrying steps at full speed.

- 81. With their lotus-like hands, whose fore-arms were adorned with golden bracelets, the Yakṣas, with their bodies bent down, threw lotuses and bore up his hoofs as he rushed in startled haste.
- 82. The city-roads which were closed with heavy gates and bars, and which could be with difficulty opened even by elephants, flew open of their own accord without noise, as the prince went through.
- 83. Firm in his resolve and leaving behind without hesitation his father who turned ever towards him, and his young son, his affectionate people and his unparalleled magnificence, he then went forth out of his father's city.
- 84. Then he with his eyes long and like a full-blown lotus, looking back on the city, uttered a sound like a lion, 'Till I have seen the further shore of birth and death I will never again enter the city called after Kapila.'
- 85. Having heard this his utterance, the troops of the court of the Lord of wealth rejoiced; and the hosts of the gods, triumphing, wished him a successful accomplishment of his purpose.
- 86. Other heavenly beings with forms bright like fire, knowing that his purpose was hard to fulfil, produced a light on his dewy path like the rays of the moon issuing from the rift of a cloud.

87. But he with his horse like the horse of Indra, the lord of bay horses, hurrying on as if spurred in his mind, went over the leagues full of many conflicting emotions, – the sky all the while with its cloud-masses checkered with the light of the dawn.

[Such is the fifth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called Flight]

Book VI [The Dismissal of Chamdaka]

- 1. Then when the sun, the eye of the world, was just risen, he, the noblest of men, beheld the hermitage of the son of Bhrgu,
- 2. Its deer all asleep in quiet trust, its birds tranquilly resting, seeing it he too became restful, and he felt as if his end was attained.
- 3. For the sake of ending his wonder and to show reverence for the penances observed, and as expressing his own conformity therewith, he alighted from the back of his horse.
- 4. Having alighted, he stroked the horse, exclaiming, 'All is saved,' and he spoke well-pleased to Chamdaka, bedewing him as it were with tears from his eyes:
- 5. 'Good friend, thy devotion to me and thy courage of soul have been proved by thy thus following this steed whose speed is like that of Tārkṣya.
- 6. 'Bent even though I am on other business, I am wholly won in heart by thee, one who has such a love for his master, and at the same time is able to carry out his wish.
- 7. 'One can be able without affection, and affectionate though unable; but one like thee, at once affectionate and able, is hard to find in the world.

- 8. 'I am pleased with this noble action of thine; this feeling is seen towards me, even though I am regardless of conferring rewards.
- 9. 'Who would not be favourably disposed to one who stands to him as bringing him reward? but even one's own people commonly become mere strangers in a reverse of fortune.
- 10. 'The son is maintained for the sake of the family, the father is honoured for the sake of our own (future) support; the world shows kindness for the sake of hope; there is no such a thing as unselfishness without a motive.
- 11. 'Why speak many words? in short, thou hast done me a very great kindness; take now my horse and return, I have attained the desired wood.'
- 12. Thus having spoken, the mighty hero in his desire to show perfect gentleness unloosed his ornaments and gave them to the other, who was deeply grieved.
- 13. Having taken a brilliant jewel whose effect illumined his diadem, he stood, uttering these words, like the mountain Mandara with the sun resting on it:
- 14. 'By thee with this jewel, O Chamda, having offered him repeated obeisance, the king, with his loving confidence still unshaken, must be enjoined to stay his grief.

- 15. "I have entered the ascetic-wood to destroy old age and death, with no thirst for heaven, with no lack of love nor feeling of anger.
- 16. "Do not think of mourning for me who am thus gone forth from my home; union, however long it may last, in time will come to an end.
- 17. "Since separation is certain, therefore is my mind fixed on liberation; how shall there not be repeated severings from one's kindred?
- 18. "Do not think of mourning for me who am gone forth to leave sorrow behind; it is the thralls of passion, who are attached to desires, the causes of sorrow, for whom thou shouldst mourn.
- 19. "This was the firm persuasion of our predecessors, I as one departing by a common road am not to be mourned for by my heir.
- 20. "At a man's death there are doubtless heirs to his wealth; but heirs to his merit are hard to find on the earth or exist not at all.
- 21. "Even though thou sayest, 'He is gone at a wrong time to the wood,' there is no wrong time for religious duty (dharma), life being fragile as it is.
- 22. "Therefore my determination is, 'I must seek my supreme good this very day;' what confidence can there be in life, when death stands as our adversary?"

- 23. 'Do thou address the king, O friend, with these and such-like words; and do thou use thy efforts so that he may not even remember me.
- 24. 'Yea, do thou repeat to the king our utter unworthiness; through unworthiness affection is lost, and where affection is lost, there is no sorrow.'
- 25. Having heard these words, Chamda, overwhelmed with grief, made reply with folded hands, his voice choked by tears:
- 26. 'At this state of mind of thine, causing affliction to thy kindred, my mind, O my lord, sinks down like an elephant in the mud of a river.
- 27. 'To whom would not such a determination as this of thine cause tears, even if his heart were of iron, how much more if it were throbbing with love?
- 28. 'Where is this delicacy of limb, fit to lie only in a palace, and where is the ground of the ascetic forest, covered with the shoots of rough kusa grass?
- 29. 'When, on hearing thy resolve, I first brought thee this horse, it was fate only, O my lord, which made me do it, mastering my will.
- 30. 'But how could I, O king, by mine own will, knowing this thy decision, carry back the horse to the sorrow of Kapilavastu?

- 31. 'Surely thou wilt not abandon, O hero, that fond old king, so devoted to his son, as a heretic might the true religion?
- 32. 'And her, thy second mother, worn with the care of bringing thee up, thou wilt not surely forget her, as an ingrate a benefit?
- 33. 'Thou wilt not surely abandon thy queen, endowed with all virtues, illustrious for her family, devoted to her husband and with a young son, as a coward the royal dignity within his reach?
- 34. 'Thou wilt not abandon the young son of Yaśodharā, worthy of all praise, thou the best of the cherishers of religion and fame, as a dissolute spendthrift his choicest glory?
- 35. 'Or even if thy mind be resolved to abandon thy kindred and thy kingdom, thou wilt not, O master, abandon me, thy feet are my only refuge.
- 36. 'I cannot go to the city with my soul thus burning, leaving thee behind in the forest as Sumitra left the son of Raghu.
- 37. 'What will the king say to me, returning to the city without thee? or what shall I say to thy queens by way of telling them good news?
- 38. 'As for what thou saidst, "thou must repeat my unworthiness to the king" how shall I speak what is false of thee as of a sage without a fault?

- 39. 'Or even if I ventured to speak it with a heart ashamed and a tongue cleaving to my mouth, who would think of believing it?
- 40. 'He who would tell of or believe the fierceness of the moon, might tell of or believe thy faults, O physician of faults.
- 41. 'Him who is always compassionate and who never fails to feel pity, it ill befits to abandon one who loves, turn back and have mercy on me.'
- 42. Having heard these words of Chamda overcome with sorrow, self-possessed with the utmost firmness the best of speakers answered:
- 43. 'Abandon this distress, Chamda, regarding thy separation from me, change is inevitable in corporeal beings who are subject to different births.
- 44. 'Even if I through affection were not to abandon my kindred in my desire for liberation, death would still make us helplessly abandon one another.
- 45. 'She, my mother, by whom I was borne in the womb with great thirst and pains, where am I now with regard to her, all her efforts fruitless, and where is she with regard to me?
- 46. 'As birds go to their roosting-tree and then depart, so the meeting of beings inevitably ends in separation.

- 47. 'As clouds, having come together, depart asunder again, such I consider the meeting and parting of living things.
- 48. 'And since this world goes away, each one of us deceiving the other, it is not right to think anything thine own in a time of union which is a dream.
- 49. 'Since the trees are parted from the innate colour of their leaves, why should there not still more be the parting of two things which are alien to each other?
- 50. 'Therefore, since it is so, grieve not, my good friend, but go; or if thy love lingers, then go and afterwards return.
- 51. 'Say, without reproaching us, to the people in Kapilavastu, "Let your love for him be given up, and hear his resolve.
- 52. "Either he will quickly come back, having destroyed old age and death; or else he will himself perish, having failed in his purpose and lost hold of every support."
- 53. Having heard his words, Kamthaka, the noblest of steeds, licked his feet with his tongue and dropped hot tears.
- 54. With his hand whose fingers were united with a membrane and which was marked with the auspicious svastika, and with its middle part curved, the prince stroked him and addressed him like a friend:

- 55. 'Shed not tears, Kamthaka, this thy perfect equine nature has been proved, bear with it, this thy labour will soon have its fruit.'
- 56. Then seizing the sharp jewelled sword which was in Chamdaka's hand, he resolutely drew out from the sheath the blade decked with golden ornaments, like a serpent from its hole.
- 57. Having drawn it forth, dark blue like a blue lotus petal, he cut his decorated tiara and his hair, and he tossed it with its scattered muslin into the air as a grey goose into a lake.
- 58. And the heavenly beings, with a longing to worship it, seized it respectfully as it was thrown up; and the divine hosts paid it due adoration in heaven with celestial honours.
- 59. Having thus divorced his ornaments and banished all royal magnificence from his head, and seeing his muslin floating away like a golden goose, the stedfast prince desired a sylvan dress.
- 60. Then a celestial being, wearing the form of a hunter, pure in heart, knowing his thoughts, approached near him in dark-red garments; and the son of the Śākya king thus addressed him:
- 61. 'Thy red garments are auspicious, the sign of a saint; but this destructive bow is not befitting; therefore, my good friend, if there is no strong preference in the matter, do thou give me that dress and take this of mine.'

- 62. The hunter replied, 'It has given me my desire, O giver of desires, as by this I have inspired animals with confidence and then killed them; but if thou hast need of it, O thou who art like Indra, accept it at once and give me the white dress.'
- 63. With extreme joy he then took that sylvan dress and gave away the linen one; and the hunter, assuming his heavenly form, having taken the white garment, went to heaven.
- 64. Then the prince and the attendant of the horse were filled with wonder as he was thus going, and forthwith they paid great honour anew to that sylvan dress.
- 65. Then the great-souled one, having dismissed the weeping Chamda, and wearing his fame veiled by the sign of the red garment, went towards the hermitage, like the king of mountains wrapped in an evening cloud.
- 66. While his master, thus regardless of his kingdom, was going to the ascetic-wood in mean garments, the groom, tossing up his arms, wailed bitterly and fell on the ground.
- 67. Having looked again he wept aloud, and embraced the horse Kamthaka with his arms; and then, hopeless and repeatedly lamenting, he went in body to the city, not in soul.
- 68. Sometimes he pondered, sometimes he lamented, sometimes he stumbled, and sometimes he fell; and so going along, wretched

through his devoted attachment, he performed all kinds of actions in the road without conscious will.

[Such is the sixth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called The Dismissal of Chamdaka]

Book VII [Entry into the Penance Grove]

- 1. Then having left the weeping tear-faced Chamda, indifferent to all things in his longing for the forest, he by whom all objects are accomplished, overpowering the place by his beauty, entered that hermitage as if it were fully blessed.
- 2. He the prince with a gait like the lion's, having entered that arena of deer, himself like a deer, by the beauty of his person, even though bereft of his magnificence, attracted the eyes of all the dwellers in the hermitage.
- 3. The drivers of wheeled carriages also, with their wives, stood still in curiosity, holding the yokes in their hands, they gazed on him who was like Indra, and moved not, standing like their beasts of burden with their heads half bent down.
- 4. And the Brāhmans who had gone outside for the sake of fuel, having come with their hands full of fuel, flowers, and kusa grass, pre-eminent as they were in penances, and proficients in wisdom, went to see him, and went not to their cells.
- 5. Delighted the peacocks uttered their cries, as if they had seen a dark-blue cloud rising up; and leaving the young grass and coming forward, the deer with restless eyes and the ascetics who grazed like deer stood still.

- 6. Beholding him, the lamp of the race of Ikṣvāku, shining like the rising sun, even though their milking was over, being filled with joy, the oblation-giving cows poured forth their milk.
- 7. 'It is one of the eight Vasus or one of the two Aśvins, descended here,' these words arose, uttered aloud by the sages in their astonishment at seeing him.
- 8. Like a second form of the lord of the gods, like the personified glory of the universe, he lighted up the entire wood like the sun come down of his own accord.
- 9. Then he, being duly honoured and invited to enter by those dwellers in the hermitage, paid his homage to the saints, with a voice like a cloud in the rainy season.
- 10. He, the wise one, longing for liberation, traversed that hermitage filled with the holy company desirous of heaven, gazing at their strange penances.
- 11. He, the gentle one, having seen the different kinds of penance practised by the ascetics in that sacred grove, desiring to know the truth, thus addressed one of the ascetics who was following him:
- 12. 'Since this to-day is my first sight of a hermitage I do not understand this rule of penance; therefore will your honour kindly explain to me what resolve possesses each one of you.'

- 13. Then the Brāhman well-versed in penance told in order to that bull of the Śākyas, a very bull in prowess, all the various kinds of penance and the fruit thereof.
- 14. 'Uncultivated food, growing out of the water, leaves, water, and roots and fruits, this is the fare of the saints according to the sacred texts; but the different alternatives of penance vary.
- 15. 'Some live like the birds on gleaned corn, others graze on grass like the deer, others live on air with the snakes, as if turned into anthills.
- 16. 'Others win their nourishment with great effort from stones, others eat corn ground with their own teeth; some, having boiled for others, dress for themselves what may chance to be left.
- 17. 'Others, with their tufts of matted hair continually wet with water, twice offer oblations to Agni with hymns; others plunging like fishes into the water dwell there with their bodies scratched by tortoises.
- 18. 'By such penances endured for a time, by the higher they attain heaven, by the lower the world of men; by the path of pain they eventually dwell in happiness, pain, they say, is the root of merit.'
- 19. The king's son, having heard this speech of the ascetic, even though he saw no lofty truth in it, was not content, but gently uttered these thoughts to himself:

- 20. 'The penance is full of pain and of many kinds, and the fruit of the penance is mainly heaven at its best, and all the worlds are subject to change; verily the labour of the hermitages is spent for but little gain.
- 21. 'Those who abandoning wealth, kindred, and worldly objects, undertake vows for the sake of heaven, they, when parted, only wish to go to a still greater wood of their own again.
- 22. 'He who by all these bodily toils which are called penances, seeks a sphere of action for the sake of desire, not examining the inherent evils of mundane existence, he only seeks pain by pain.
- 23. 'There is ever to living creatures fear from death, and they with all their efforts seek to be born again; where there is action, there must inevitably be death, he is always drowned therein, just because he is afraid.
- 24. 'Some undergo misery for the sake of this world, others meet toil for the sake of heaven; all living beings, wretched through hope and always missing their aim, fall certainly for the sake of happiness into misery.
- 25. 'It is not the effort itself which I blame, which flinging aside the base pursues a high path of its own; but the wise, by all this common toil, ought to attain that state in which nothing needs ever to be done again.

- 26. 'If the mortification of the body here is religion, then the body's happiness is only irreligion; but by religion a man obtains happiness in the next world, therefore religion here bears irreligion as its fruit.
- 27. 'Since it is only by the mind's authority that the body either acts or ceases to act, therefore to control the thought is alone befitting, without the thought the body is like a log.
- 28. 'If merit is gained by purity of food, then there is merit also in the deer; and in those men also who live as outcasts from all enjoyments, through being estranged from them by the fault of their destiny.
- 29. 'If the deliberate choice of pain is a cause of merit, why should not that same choice be directed to pleasure? If you say that the choice of pleasure carries no authority, is not the choice of pain equally without authority?
- 30. 'So too those who for the sake of purifying their actions, earnestly sprinkle water on themselves, saying, "this is a sacred spot," even there this satisfaction resides only in the heart, for waters will not cleanse away sin.
- 31. 'The water which has been touched by the virtuous, that is the spot, if you wish for a sacred spot on the earth; therefore I count as a place of pilgrimage only the virtues of a virtuous man', water without doubt is only water.'

- 32. Thus he uttered his discourse full of various arguments, and the sun went down into the west; then he entered the grove where penances had now ceased and whose trees were gray with the smoke of the (evening) oblations;
- 33. Where the sacred fires had been duly transferred when kindled to other spots, all crowded with the holy hermits who had performed their ablutions, and with the shrines of the gods murmuring with the muttered prayers, it seemed all alive like the full service of religion in exercise.
- 34. He spent several nights there, himself like the moon, examining their penances; and he departed from that penance-field, feeling that he had comprehended the whole nature of penance.
- 35. The dwellers of the hermitage followed him with their minds fixed on the greatness of soul visible in his person, as if they were great seers beholding Religion herself, withdrawn from a land invaded by the base.
- 36. Then he looked on all those ascetics with their matted hair, bark garments, and rag-strips waving, and he stood considering their penances under an auspicious and noble tree by the way-side.
- 37. Then the hermits having approached stood surrounding the best of men; and an old man from among them thus addressed him respectfully in a gentle voice:

- 38. 'At thy coming the hermitage seems to have become full, it becomes as it were empty when thou art gone, therefore, my son, thou wilt not surely desert it, as the loved life the body of one who wishes to live.
- 39. 'In front stands the holy mountain Himavat, inhabited by Brahmarşis, rājarşis, and surarşis; by whose mere presence the merit of these penances becomes multiplied to the ascetics.
- 40. 'Near us also are holy spots of pilgrimage, which become ladders to heaven; loved by divine sages and saints whose souls are intent on devotion and who keep their souls in perfect control.
- 41. 'From hence, again, the Northern quarter is especially to be fitly followed for the sake of preeminent merit; even one who was wise starting towards the south could not advance one single step.
- 42. 'Hast thou seen in this sacred grove one who neglects all ceremonies or who follows confused ceremonies or an outcast or one impure, that thou dost not desire to dwell here? Speak it out, and let the abode be welcomed.
- 43. 'These hermits here desire thee as their companion in penance, thee who art like a storehouse of penance, to dwell with thee who art like Indra would bring prosperity even to Vrhaspati.'

- 44. He, the chief of the wise, when thus addressed in the midst of the ascetics by their chief-having resolved in his mind to put an end to all existence thus uttered his inward thought:
- 45. 'The upright-souled saints, the upholders of religion, become the very ideal of our own kindred through their delight in showing hospitality; by all these kind feelings of thine towards me affection is produced in me and the path which regards the self as supreme is revealed.
- 46. 'I seem to be all at once bathed by these gentle heart-touching words of thine, and the joy now throbs in me once more which I felt when I first grasped the idea of dharma.
- 47. 'There is sorrow to me when I reflect that I shall have to depart, leaving you who are thus engaged, you who are such a refuge and who have shown such excessive kindness to me, just as there was when I had to leave my kindred behind.
- 48. 'But this devotion of yours is for the sake of heaven, while my desire is that there may be no fresh birth; therefore I wish not to dwell in this wood; the nature of cessation is different from that of activity.
- 49. 'It is not therefore any dislike on my part or the wrong conduct of another, which makes me go away from this wood; for ye are all like great sages, standing fast in the religious duties which are in accordance with former ages.

- 50. Then having heard the prince's discourse, gracious and of deep meaning, gentle, strong, and full of dignity, the ascetics paid him especial honour.
- 51. But a certain Brāhman who was lying there in the ashes, tall and wearing his hair in a tuft, and clothed in the bark of trees, with reddish eyes and a thin long nose, and carrying a pot with water in his hand, thus lifted his voice:
- 52. 'O sage, brave indeed is thy purpose, who, young as thou art, hast seen the evils of birth; he who, having pondered thoroughly heaven and liberation, makes up his mind for liberation, he is indeed brave!
- 53. 'By all those various sacrifices, penances and vows the slaves of passion desire to go to heaven; but the strong, having battled with passion as with an enemy, desire to obtain liberation.
- 54. 'If this is thy settled purpose, go quickly to Vimdhyakoṣṭha; the Muni Arāda lives there who has gained an insight into absolute bliss.
- 55. 'From him thou wilt hear the path to truth, and if thou hast a desire for it, thou wilt embrace it; but as I foresee, this purpose of thine will go on further, after having rejected his theory.
- 56. 'With the nose of a well-fed horse, large long eyes, a red lower lip, white sharp teeth, and a thin red tongue, this face of thine will drink up the entire ocean of what is to be known.

- 57. 'That unfathomed depth which characterises thee, that majesty and all those signs of thine, they shall win a teacher's chair in the earth which was never won by sages even in a former age.'
- 58. The prince replied, 'Very well,' and having saluted the company of sages he departed; the hermits also having duly performed to him all the rites of courtesy entered again into the ascetic grove.

[Such is the seventh chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called Entry into the Penance Grove]

Book VIII [Lamentations in the Palace]

- 1. Meanwhile the attendant of the horse, in deep distress, when his unselfish master thus went into the forest, made every effort in the road to dissolve his load of sorrow, and yet in spite of it all not a tear dropped from him.
- 2. But the road which by his lord's command he had traversed in one night with that horse, that same road he now travelled in eight days, pondering his lord's absence.
- 3. And the horse Kamthaka, though he still went on bravely, flagged and had lost all spirit in his heart; and decked though he was with ornaments, he had lost all his beauty when bereft of his master.
- 4. And turning round towards that ascetic-grove, he neighed repeatedly with a mournful sound; and though pressed with hunger, he welcomed not nor tasted any grass or water on the road, as before.
- 5. Slowly they two at last came back to the city called after Kapila, which seemed empty when deserted by that hero who was bent on the salvation of the world, like the sky bereft of the sun.
- 6. Bright as it was with lotus-covered waters, adorned also with trees full of flowers, that garden of his, which was now like a forest, was no longer gay with citizens who had lost all their gladness.

- 7. Then those two, who were as it were silently forbidden by the sad inhabitants who were wandering in that direction, their brightness gone and their eyes dim with tears, slowly entered the city which seemed all bathed in gloom.
- 8. Having heard that they had returned with their limbs all relaxed, coming back without the pride of the Śākya race, the men of the city shed tears in the road, as when in old days the chariot of the son of Daśaratha came back.
- 9. Full of wrath, the people followed Chamdaka in the road, crying behind him with tears, 'Where is the king's son, the glory of his race and kingdom? he has been stolen away by thee.'
- 10. Then he said to those faithful ones, I have not left the king's son; but by him in the uninhabited forest I weeping and the dress of a householder were abandoned together.'
- 11. Having heard these words of his those crowds adopted a most difficult resolve; they did not wipe away the tears which fell from their eyes, and they blamed their own (evil) hearts on account of the consequences of their actions;
- 12. Then they said, 'Let us go this very day into that forest, whither he is gone, whose gait is like the king of elephants; without him we have no wish to live, like the senses when the souls depart.

- 13. 'This city bereft of him is a forest, and that forest which possesses him is a city; the city without him has no charms for us, like heaven without the lord of the Maruts, when Vṛṭra was slain.'
- 14. Next the women crowded to the rows of windows, crying to one another, 'The prince has returned;' but having heard that his horse had an empty back, they closed the windows again and wailed aloud.
- 15. But the king, having undertaken religious observances for the recovery of his son, with his mind distressed by the vow and the sorrow, was muttering prayers in the temple, and performing such rites as suited the occasion.
- 16. Then with his eyes filled with tears, taking the horse, his whole soul fixed on the horse, overcome with grief he entered the palace as if his master had been killed by an enemy.
- 17. And entering the royal stable, looking about with his eyes full of tears, Kamthaka uttered a loud sound, as if he were uttering his woe to the people.
- 18. Then the birds that fed in the middle of the house, and the carefully cherished horses that were tied near by, re-echoed the sound of that horse, thinking that it might be the return of the prince.
- 19. And the people, deceived by an excessive joy, who were in the neighbourhood of the king's inner apartments, thought in their hearts,

'Since the horse Kamthaka neighs, it must be that the prince is coming.'

- 20. Then the women, who were fainting with sorrow, now in wild joy, with their eyes rolling to see the prince, rushed out of the palace full of hope, like flickering lightnings from an autumn cloud.
- 21. With their dress hanging down, and their linen garments soiled, their faces untouched by collyrium and with eyes dimmed by tears; dark and discoloured and destitute of all painting, like the stars in the sky, pale-red with the ending of night;
- 22. With their feet unstained by red, and undecked by anklets, their faces without earrings, and their ears in their native simplicity, their loins with only nature's fulness, and uncircled by any girdle, and their bosoms bare of strings of pearls as if they had been robbed.
- 23. But when they saw Chamdaka standing helpless, his eyes filled with tears, and the horse, the noble women wept with pale faces, like cows abandoned by the bull in the midst of the forest.
- 24. Then the king's principal queen Gautamī, like a fond cow that has lost her calf, fell bursting into tears on the ground with outstretched arms, like a golden plantain-tree with trembling leaves.
- 25. Some of the other women, bereft of their brightness and with arms and souls lifeless, and seeming to have lost their senses in their

despondency, raised no cry, shed no tear, and breathed not, standing senseless as if painted.

- 26. Others as having lost all self-control, fainting in their sorrow for their lord, their faces pouring tears from their eyes, watered their bosoms from which all sandal-wood was banished, like a mountain the rocks with its streams.
- 27. Then that royal palace was illumined with their faces pelted by the tears from their eyes, as a lake in the time of the first rains with its dripping lotuses pelted by the rain from the clouds.
- 28. The noble women beat their breasts with their lotus-like hands, falling incessantly, whose fingers were round and plump, which had their arteries hidden and bore no ornaments, as creepers tossed by the wind strike themselves with their shoots.
- 29. And again how those women shine forth, as their bosoms rose up together after the blow from the hand, and trembled with the shock, like the streams, when their pairs of ruddy geese shake, as the lotuses on which they sit wave about with the wind from the wood.
- 30. As they pressed their breasts with their hands, so too they pressed their hands with their breasts, dull to all feelings of pity, they made their hands and bosoms inflict mutual pains on each other.
- 31. Then thus spoke Yaśodharā, shedding tears with deep sorrow, her bosom heaving with her sighs, her eyes discoloured with aneer, and

her voice choking with emotion through the influence of despondency:

- 32. 'Leaving me helplessly asleep in the night, whither, O Chamdaka, is he, the desire of my heart, gone? and when thou and Kamthaka are alone come back, while three went away together, my mind trembles.
- 33. 'Why dost thou weep to-day, O cruel one, having done a dishonourable, pitiless, and unfriendly deed to me? Cease thy tears and be content in thy heart, tears and that deed of thine ill agree.
- 34. 'Through thee, his dear obedient faithful loyal companion, always doing what was right, the son of my lord is gone never to return, rejoice, all hail! thy pains have gained their end.
- 35. 'Better for a man a wise enemy rather than a foolish friend unskilled in emergencies; by thee, the unwise self-styled friend, a great calamity has been brought upon this family.
- 36. 'These women are sorely to be pitied who have put away their ornaments, having their eyes red and dimmed with continuous tears, who are as it were desolate widows, though their lord still stands as unshaken as the earth or Mount Himayat.
- 37. 'And these lines of palaces seem to weep aloud, flinging up their dovecots for arms, with the long unbroken moan of their doves, separated verily, with him, from all who could restrain them.

- 38. 'Even that horse Kamthaka without doubt desired my utter ruin; for he bore away from hence my treasure when all were sound asleep in the night, like one who steals jewels.
- 39. 'When he was able to bear even the onsets of arrows, and still more the strokes of whips, how then for fear of the fall of a whip, could he go carrying with him my prosperity and my heart together?
- 40. 'The base creature now neighs loudly, filling the king's palace with the sound; but when he carried away my beloved, then this vilest of horses was dumb.
- 41. 'If he had neighed and so woke up the people, or had even made a noise with his hoofs on the ground, or had made the loudest sound he could with his jaws, my grief would not have been so great.'
- 42. Having thus heard the queen's words, their syllables choked with tears and full of lament, slowly Chamdaka uttered this answer, with his face bent down, his voice low with tears, and his hands clasped in supplication:
- 43. 'Surely, O queen, thou wilt not blame Kamthaka nor wilt thou show thy anger against me, know that we two are entirely guiltless, that god amongst men, O queen, is gone away like a god.
- 44. 'I indeed, though I well knew the king's command, as though dragged by force by some divine powers, brought quickly to him this swift steed, and followed him on the road unwearied.

- 45. 'And this best of horses as he went along touched not the ground with the tips of his hoofs as if they were kept aloft from it; and so too, having his mouth restrained as by fate, he made no sound with his jaws and neighed not.
- 46. 'When the prince went out, then the gate was thrown open of its own accord; and the darkness of the night was, as it were, pierced by the sun, we may learn from hence too that this was the ordering of fate.
- 47. 'When also by the king's command, in palace and city, diligent guards had been placed by thousands, and at that time they were all overcome by sleep and woke not, we may learn from hence too that this was the ordering of fate.
- 48. 'When also the garment, approved for a hermit's dwelling in the forest, was offered to him at the moment by some denizen of heaven, and the tiara which he threw into the sky was carried off, we may learn from hence too that this was the ordering of fate.
- 49. 'Do not therefore assume that his departure arises from the fault of either of us, O queen; neither I nor this horse acted by our own choice; he went on his way with the gods as his retinue.'
- 50. Having thus heard the history of the prince's departure, so marvellous in many ways, those women, as though losing their grief, were filled with wonder, but they again took up their distress at the thought of his becoming an ascetic.

- 51. With her eyes filled with the tears of despondency, wretched like an osprey who has lost her young, Gautamī abandoning all self-control wailed aloud, she fainted, and with a weeping face exclaimed:
- 52. 'Beautiful, soft, black, and all in great waves, growing each from its own special root, those hairs of his are tossed on the ground, worthy to be encircled by a royal diadem.
- 53. 'With his long arms and lion-gait, his bull-like eye, and his beauty bright like gold, his broad chest, and his voice deep as a drum or a cloud, should such a hero as this dwell in a hermitage?
- 54. 'This earth is indeed unworthy as regards that peerless doer of noble actions, for such a virtuous hero has gone away from her, it is the merits and virtues of the subjects which produce their king.
- 55. 'Those two feet of his, tender, with their beautiful web spread between the toes, with their ankles concealed, and soft like a blue lotus, how can they, bearing a wheel marked in the middle, walk on the hard ground of the skirts of the forest?
- 56. 'That body, which deserves to sit or lie on the roof of a palace, honoured with costly garments, aloes, and sandal-wood, how will that manly body live in the woods, exposed to the attacks of the cold, the heat, and the rain?

- 57. 'He who was proud of his family, goodness, strength, energy, sacred learning, beauty, and youth, who was ever ready to give, not to ask, how will he go about begging alms from others?
- 58. 'He who, lying on a spotless golden bed, was awakened during the night by the concert of musical instruments, how alas! will he, my ascetic, sleep to-day on the bare ground with only one rag of cloth interposed?'
- 59. Having heard this piteous lamentation, the women, embracing one another with their arms, rained the tears from their eyes, as the shaken creepers drop honey from their flowers.
- 60. Then Yaśodharā fell upon the ground, like the ruddy goose parted from her mate, and in utter bewilderment she slowly lamented, with her voice repeatedly stopped by sobs:
- 61. 'If he wishes to practise a religious life after abandoning me his lawful wife widowed, where is his religion, who wishes to follow penance without his lawful wife to share it with him?
- 62. 'He surely has never heard of the monarchs of olden times, his own ancestors, Mahāsudarśa and the rest, how they went with their wives into the forest, that he thus wishes to follow a religious life without me.
- 63. 'He does not see that husband and wife are both consecrated in sacrifices, and both purified by the performance of the rites of the

Veda, and both destined to enjoy the same results afterwards, – he therefore grudges me a share in his merit.

- 64. 'Surely it must be that this fond lover of religion, knowing that my mind was secretly quarrelling even with my beloved, lightly and without fear has deserted me thus angry, in the hope to obtain heavenly nymphs in lndra's world!
- 65. 'But what kind of a thought is this of mine? those women even there have the attributes which belong to bodies, for whose sake he thus practises austerities in the forest, deserting his royal magnificence and my fond devotion.
- 66. If have no such longing for the joy of heaven, nor is that hard for even common people to win if they are resolute; but my one desire is how he my beloved may never leave me either in this world or the next.
- 67. 'Even if I am unworthy to look on my husbands face with its long eyes and bright smile, still is this poor Rāhula never to roll about in his father's lap?
- 68. 'Alas! the mind of that wise hero is terribly stern, gentle as his beauty seems, it is pitilessly cruel, who can desert of his own accord such an infant son with his inarticulate talk, one who would charm even an enemy.

- 69. 'My heart too is certainly most stern, yea, made of rock or fashioned even of iron, which does not break when its lord is gone to the forest, deserted by his royal glory like an orphan, he so well worthy of happiness.'
- 70. So the queen, fainting in her woe, wept and pondered and wailed aloud repeatedly, self-possessed as she was by nature, yet in her distress she remembered not her fortitude and felt no shame.
- 71. Seeing Yaśodharā thus bewildered with her wild utterances of grief and fallen on the ground, all the women cried out with their faces streaming with tears like large lotuses beaten by the rain.
- 72. But the king, having ended his prayers, and performed the auspicious rites of the sacrifice, now came out of the temple; and being smitten by the wailing sound of the people, he tottered like an elephant at the crash of a thunderbolt.
- 73. Having heard (of the arrival) of both Chamdaka and Kamthaka, and having learned the fixed resolve of his son, the lord of the earth fell struck down by sorrow like the banner of Indra when the festival is over.
- 74. Then the king, distracted by his grief for his son, being held up for a moment by his attendants all of the same race, gazed on the horse with his eyes filled with tears, and then falling on the ground wailed aloud:

- 75. 'After having done many dear exploits for me in battle, one great deed of cruelty, O Kamthaka, hast thou done, for by thee that dear son of mine, dear for his every virtue, has been tossed down in the wood, dear as he was, like a worthless thing.
- 76. 'Therefore either lead me to-day where he is, or go quickly and bring him back again; without him there is no life left to me, as to one plunged in sickness without the true medicine.
- 77. 'When Suvarṇaniṣṭhīvin was carried away by death, it seemed impossible that Sṛṁjaya should not die; and shall I, when my dutyloving son is gone, fear to set my soul free, like any coward?
- 78. 'How should not the mind of Manu himself be distracted, when parted from his dear virtuous son, (Manu) the son of Vivasvat, who knew the higher and the lower, the mighty lord of creatures, the institutor of the ten chieftains.
- 79. 'I envy the monarch, that friend of Indra, the wise son of king Aja, who, when his son went into the forest, went himself to heaven, and dragged out no miserable life here with vain tears.
- 80. 'Describe to me, O beloved one, the court of that hermitage, whither thou hast carried him who is as my funeral oblation of water; these my vital airs are all ready to depart, and are eager for it, longing to drink it.'

- 81. Thus the king, in his grief for his separation from his son, losing all his innate firmness which was stedfast like the earth, loudly lamented as one distraught, like Daśaratha, a prey to his sorrow for $R\bar{a}ma$.
- 82. Then the wise counsellor, endued with religious learning, courtesy, and virtue, and the old family priest, spoke to him as was befitting in these well-weighed words, neither with their faces overwhelmed by grief nor yet wholly unmoved:
- 83. 'Cease, O noblest of men, thy grief, regain thy firmness, surely thou wilt not, O firm hero, shed tears like one of no self-control; many kings on this earth have gone into the forests, throwing away their royal pomp like a crushed wreath.
- 84. 'Moreover, this his state of mind was all predetermined; remember those words long ago of the holy sage Asita; "He will never be made to dwell even for a moment contentedly in heaven or in an emperor's domain."
- 85. 'But if, O best of men, the effort must be made, quickly speak the word, we two will at once go together; let the battle be waged in every way with thy son and his fate whatever it be.'
- 86. Then the king commanded them both, 'Do you both go quickly hence, my heart will not return to quiet, any more than a bird's in the woods longing for its young.'

87. With a prompt acquiescence at the king's order the counsellor and the family priest went to that forest; and then with his wives and his queen the king also, saying, 'It is done,' performed the remainder of the rites.

[Such is the eighth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called Lamentations in the Palace]

Book IX [The Deputation to the Prince]

- 1. Then the two, the counsellor and the family priest, beaten by the king with his scourge of tears, went with every effort to that forest in the hurry of affection, like two noble horses goaded.
- 2. Having come at last full of weariness to that hermitage, accompanied by a fitting train, they dismissed their royal pomp and with sober gestures entered the abode of Bhārgava.
- 3. Having saluted that Brāhman with due respect, and having been honoured by him with due reverence in return, having seated themselves, plunging at once into the subject, they addressed Bhārgava, who was likewise seated, concerning their errand.
- 4. 'Let your honour know us to be respectively imperfect proficients in preserving the sacred learning and in retaining the state-counsels, in the service of the monarch of the Ikṣvāku race, pure in his valour and pure and wide in his glory.
- 5. 'His son, who is like Jayanta, while he himself is like Indra, has come here, it is said, desirous to escape from the fear of old age and death, know that we two are come here on account of him.'
- 6. He answered them, 'That prince of the long arms did indeed come here, but not as one unawakened; "this dharma only brings us back again," recognising this, he went off forthwith towards Arāḍa, seeking liberation.'

- 7. Then they two, having understood the true state of things, bade that Brāhman at once farewell, and wearied though they were, went on as if they were unwearied, thither whither the prince was gone.
- 8. As they were going, they saw him bereft of all ornaments, but still radiant with his beauty, sitting like a king in the road at the foot of a tree, like the sun under the canopy of a cloud.
- 9. Leaving his chariot, the family priest then went up to the prince with the counsellor, as the saint Aurvaseya went with Vāmadeva, wishing to see Rāma when he dwelt in the forest.
- 10. They paid him honour as was fitting, as Śukra and Aṅgiras honoured Indra in heaven; and he in return paid due honour to them, as Indra in heaven to Śukra and Aṅgiras.
- 11. Then they, having obtained his permission, sat down near him who was the banner of the Śākya race; and they shone in his proximity like the two stars of the asterism Punarvasū in conjunction with the moon.
- 12. The family priest addressed the prince who shone brightly as he sat at the foot of the tree, as Vṛhaspati addressed Indra's son Jayanta, seated in heaven under the heavenly tree pārijāta:
- 13. 'O prince, consider for a moment what the king with his eyes raining tears said to thee, as he lay fainting on the ground with the arrow of thy sorrow plunged into his heart.

- 14. "I know that thy resolve is fixed upon religion, and I am convinced that this purpose of thine is unchanging; but I am consumed with a flame of anguish like fire at thy flying to the woods at an inopportune time.
- 15. "Come, thou who lovest duty, for the sake of what is my heart's desire, abandon this purpose for the sake of duty; this huge swollen stream of sorrow sweeps me away as a river's torrent its bank.
- 16. "That effect which is wrought in the clouds, water, the dry grass, and the mountains by the wind, the sun, the fire, and the thunderbolt, that same effect this grief produces in us by its tearing in pieces, its drying up, its burning, and its cleaving.
- 17. "Enjoy therefore for a while the sovereignty of the earth, thou shalt go to the forest at the time provided by the śāstras, do not show disregard for thy unhappy kindred, compassion for all creatures is the true religion.
- 18. "Religion is not wrought out only in the forests, the salvation of ascetics can be accomplished even in a city; thought and effort are the true means; the forest and the badge are only a coward's signs.
- 19. "Liberation has been attained even by householders, Indras among men, who wore diadems, and carried strings of pearls suspended on their shoulders, whose garlands were entangled with bracelets, and who lay cradled in the lap of Fortune.

- 20. "Bali and Vajrabāhu, the two younger brothers of Dhruva, Vaibhrāja, Āṣāḍha and Antideva, and Janaka also, the king of the Videhas, and king Senajit's son, his tree of ripe blessing;
- 21. "Know that all these great kings who were householders were well skilled in attaining the merit which leads to final bliss, do thou also therefore obtain both simultaneously royal magnificence and the control over the mind.
- 22. "I desire, when I have once closely embraced thee after thy kingly consecration is once performed, and while thou art still wet with the sacred water, when I behold thee with the pomp of the royal umbrella, in the fulness of that joy to enter the forest."
- 23. 'Thus did the king say to thee in a speech whose words were stopped by tears, surely having heard it, for the sake of what is so dear to him, thou wilt with all affection follow his affection.
- 24. 'The king of the Śākyas is drowned in a deep sea of sorrow, full of waves of trouble, springing from thee; do thou therefore deliver him helpless and protectorless like an ox drowning in the sea.
- 25. 'Having heard that Bhīṣma who sprang from Gaṅgā's womb, Rāma, and Rāma the son of Bhṛgu, all did what would please their fathers; surely thou too wilt do thy father's desire.
- 26. 'Consider also the queen, who brought thee up, who has not yet gone to the region inhabited by Agastya wilt thou not take some

heed of her, who ceaselessly grieves like a fond cow that has lost her calf?

- 27. 'Surely thou wilt succour thy wife by the sight of thee, who now mourns widowed yet with her lord still alive, like a swan separated from her mate or a female elephant deserted in the forest by her companion.
- 28. 'Thy only son, a child little deserving such woe, distressed with sorrow, and [...] O deliver Rāhula from the grief of his kindred like the full moon from the contact of Rāhu!
- 29. 'Burned with the fire of anguish within him, to which thy absence adds fresh fuel, a fire whose smoke is sighs and its flame despair, he wanders for a sight of thee through the women's apartments and the whole city.'
- 30. The Bodhisattva, whose perfection was absolute, having heard the words of the family priest, reflected for a moment, knowing all the virtues of the virtuous, and then thus uttered his gentle reply:
- 31. 'I well know the paternal tenderness of the king, especially that which he has displayed towards me; yet knowing this as I do, still alarmed at sickness, old age, and death, I am inevitably forced to leave my kindred.
- 32. 'Who would not wish to see his dear kindred, if but this separation from beloved ones did not exist? but since even after it has been once,

separation will still come again, it is for this that I abandon my father, however loving.

- 33. 'I do not however approve that thou shouldst consider the king's grief as caused by me, when in the midst of his dream-like unions he is afflicted by thoughts of separations in the future.
- 34. 'Thus let thy thoughts settle into certainty, having seen the multiform in its various developments; neither a son nor kindred is the cause of sorrow, this sorrow is only caused by ignorance.
- 35. 'Since parting is inevitably fixed in the course of time for all beings, just as for travellers who have joined company on a road, what wise man would cherish sorrow, when he loses his kindred, even though he loves them?
- 36. 'Leaving his kindred in another world, he departs hither; and having stolen away from them here, he goes forth once more; "having gone thither, go thou elsewhere also," such is the lot of mankind, what consideration can the yogin have for them?
- 37. 'Since from the moment of leaving the womb death is a characteristic adjunct, why, in thy affection for thy son, hast thou called my departure to the forest ill-timed?
- 38. 'There may be an "ill time" in one's attaining a worldly object, time indeed is described as inseparably connected with all things; time

drags the world into all its various times; but all time suits a bliss which is really worthy of praise.

- 39. 'That the king should wish to surrender to me his kingdorn, this is a noble thought, well worthy of a father; but it would be as improper for me to accept it, as for a sick man through greed to accept unwholesome food.
- 40. 'How can it be right for the wise man to enter royalty, the home of illusion, where are found anxiety, passion, and weariness, and the violation of all right through another's service?
- 41. 'The golden palace seems to me to be on fire; the daintiest viands seem mixed with poison; infested with crocodiles [is the tranquil lotus-bed].'
- 42. And thus kingship is neither pleasure nor dharma, so that the kings of old, when age came on with it's unavoidable suffering, felt disgust and, giving up their kingdoms, betook themselves to the forest.
- 43. For it is better to eat herbs in the forest, embracing the highest contentmentas if one were concealing a jewel, than too live with the dangers to which sovereignty is exposed, as if with loathsome black snakes.
- 44. For it is praiseworthy for kings to leave their kingdoms and enter the forest in the desire for dharma, but it is not fitting to break one's vow and forsaking the forest to go to one's home.

- 45. For what man of resolution and good family, having once gone to the forest in the desire for dharma, would cast off the robe and, dead to shame, proceed to the city even of Puramdara?
- 46. For only the man, who from greed, delusion or fear, would take again the food he has vomited up, would from greed, delusion or fear, abondon the lusts of the flesh and then return to them.
- 47. And the man who, after escaping with difficulty from a burning house, would enter that very house again, only he, after giving up the state of a householder, because he sees its dangers, would desire out of delusion to assume it again.
- 48. As for the tradition that kings obtained final emancipation while remaining in their homes, this is not the case. How can the dharma of salvation in which quietude predominates be reconciled with the dharma of kings in which severity of action predominates?
- 49. If a king delights in quietude, his kingdom collapses; if his mind turns to his kingdom, his quietude is ruined. For quietude and severity are incompatible, like the union of water which is cold and fire which is hot.
- 50. Either therefore these lords of the earth resolutely cast aside their kingdoms and obtained quietude, or stained by kingship, the claimed to have attained liberation on the ground that their senses were under control, but in fact only reached a state that was not final.

- 51. Or let it be conceded they duly attained quitude while holding kingship, still I have not gone to the forest with an undecided mind; for having cut through the net known as home and kindred I am freed and have no intention of re-entering the net."
- 42. Having heard the king's son uttering this discourse, well suitable to his virtues and knowledge of the soul, freed from all desires, full of sound reasons, and weighty, the counsellor thus made answer:
- 43. 'This resolve of thine is an excellent counsel, not unfit in itself but only unfit at the present time; it could not be thy duty, loving duty as thou dost, to leave thy father in his old age to sorrow.
- 44. 'Surely thy mind is not very penetrating, or it is ill-skilled in examining duty, wealth, and pleasure, when for the sake of an unseen result thou departest disregarding a visible end.
- 45. 'Again, some say that there is another birth, others with confident assertion say that there is not; since then the matter is all in doubt, it is right to enjoy the good fortune which comes into thy hand.
- 46. 'If there is any activity hereafter, we will enjoy ourselves in it as may offer; or if there is no activity beyond this life, then there is an assured liberation to all the world without any effort.
- 47. 'Some say there is a future life, but they do not allow the possibility of liberation; as fire is hot by nature and water liquid, so they hold that there is a special nature in our power of action.

- 48. 'Some maintain that all things arise from inherent properties, both good and evil and existence and non-existence; and since all this world thus arises spontaneously, therefore also all effort of ours is vain.
- 49. 'Since the action of the senses is fixed, and so too the agreeableness or the disagreeableness of outward objects, then for that which is united to old age and pains, what effort can avail to alter it? Does it not all arise spontaneously?
- 50. 'The fire becomes quenched by water, and fire causes water to evaporate; and different elements, united in a body, producing unity, bear up the world.
- 51. 'That the nature of the embryo in the womb is produced as composed of hands, feet, belly, back, and head, and that it is also united with the soul, the wise declare that all this comes of itself spontaneously.
- 52. 'Who causes the sharpness of the thorn? or the various natures of beasts and birds? All this has arisen spontaneously; there is no acting from desire, how then can there be such a thing as will?
- 53. 'Others say that creation comes from Īśvara, what need then is there of the effort of the conscious soul? That which is the cause of the action of the world, is also determined as the cause of its ceasing to act.

- 54. 'Some say that the coming into being and the destruction of being are alike caused by the soul, but they say that coming into being arises without effort, while the attainment of liberation is by effort.
- 55. 'A man discharges his debt to his ancestors by begetting offspring, to the saints by sacred lore, to the gods by sacrifices; he is born with these three debts upon him, whoever has liberation (from these,) he indeed has liberation.
- 56. 'Thus by this series of rules the wise promise liberation to him who uses effort; but however ready for effort with all their energy, those who seek liberation will find weariness.
- 57. 'Therefore, gentle youth, if thou hast a love for liberation, follow rightly the prescribed rule; thus wilt thou thyself attain to it, and the king's grief will come to an end.
- 58. 'And as for thy meditations on the evils of life ending in thy return from the forest to thy home, let not the thought of this trouble thee, my son, those in old time also have returned from the forests to their houses.
- 59. 'The king Ambarīṣa, though he had dwelt in the forest, went back to the city, surrounded by his children; so too Rāma, seeing the earth oppressed by the base, came forth from his hermitage and ruled it again.

- 60. 'So too Drumākṣa, the king of the Śālvas, came to his city from the forest with his son; and Sāmkṛti Antideva, after he had become a Brahmarṣi, received his royal dignity from the saint Vaśiṣṭha.'
- 61. 'Such men as these, illustrious in glory and virtue, left the forests and came back to their houses; therefore it is no sin to return from a hermitage to one's home, if it be only for the sake of duty.'
- 62. Then having heard the affectionate and loyal words of the minister, who was as the eye of the king, firm in his resolve, the king's son made his answer, with nothing omitted or displaced, neither tedious nor hasty:
- 63. 'This doubt whether anything exists or not, is not to be solved for me by another's words; having determined the truth by asceticism or quietism, I will myself grasp whatever is ascertained concerning it.
- 64. 'It is not for me to accept a theory which depends on the unknown and is all controverted, and which involves a hundred prepossessions; what wise man would go by another's belief? Mankind are like the blind directed in the darkness by the blind.
- 65. 'But even though I cannot discern the truth, yet still, if good and evil are doubted, let one's mind be set on the good; even a toil in vain is to be chosen by him whose soul is good, while the man of base soul has no joy even in the truth.

- 66. 'But having seen that this "sacred tradition" is uncertain, know that that only is right which has been uttered by the trustworthy; and know that trustworthiness means the absence of faults; he who is without faults will not utter an untruth.
- 67. 'And as for what thou saidst to me in regard to my returning to my home, by alleging Rāma and others as examples, they are no authority, for in determining duty, how canst thou quote as authorities those who have broken their vows?
- 68. 'Even the sun, therefore, may fall to the earth, even the mountain Himavat may lose its firmness; but never would I return to my home as a man of the world, with no knowledge of the truth and my senses only alert for external objects.
- 69. 'I would enter the blazing fire, but not my house with my purpose unfulfilled.' Thus he proudly made his resolve, and rising up in accordance with it, full of disinterestedness, went his way.
- 70. Then the minister and the Brāhman, both full of tears, having heard his firm determination, and having followed him awhile with despondent looks, and overcome with sorrow, slowly returned of necessity to the city.
- 71. Through their love for the prince and their devotion to the king, they returned, and often stopped looking back; they could neither behold him on the road nor yet lose the sight of him, shining in his own splendour and beyond the reach of all others, like the sun.

72. Having placed faithful emissaries in disguise to find out the actions of him who was the supreme refuge of all, they went on with faltering steps, saying to each other, 'How shall we approach the king and see him, who is longing for his dear son?'

[Such is the ninth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, called The Deputation to the Prince]

Book X [Śrenya's Visit]

- 1. The prince, he of the broad and lusty chest, having thus dismissed the minister and the priest, crossed the Ganges with its speeding waves and went to $R\bar{a}jag_{\bar{i}}ha$ with its beautiful palaces.
- 2. He reached the city distinguished by the five hills, well guarded and adorned with mountains, and supported and hallowed by auspicious sacred places, like Brahman in a holy calm going to the uppermost heaven.
- 3. Having heard of his majesty and strength, and his splendid beauty, surpassing all other men, the people of that region were all astonished as at him who has a bull for his sign and is immovable in his vow.
- 4. On seeing him, he who was going elsewhere stood still, and he who was standing there followed him in the way; he who was walking gently and gravely ran quickly, and he who was sitting at once sprang up.
- 5. Some people reverenced him with their hands, others in worship saluted him with their heads, some addressed him with affectionate words, not one went on without paying him homage.
- 6. Those who were wearing gay-coloured dresses were ashamed when they saw him, those who were talking on random subjects fell to silence on the road; no one indulged in an improper thought, as at the presence of Religion herself embodied.

- 7. In the men and the women on the highway, even though they were intent on other business, that conduct alone with the profoundest reverence seemed proper which is enjoined by the rules of royal homage; but his eyes never looked upon them.
- 8. His brows, his forehead, his mouth, or his eyes, his body, his hands, his feet, or his gait, whatever part of him any one beheld, that at once riveted his eyes.
- 9. Having beheld him with the beautiful circle of hair between his brows and with long eyes, with his radiant body and his hands showing a graceful membrane between the fingers, so worthy of ruling the earth and yet wearing a mendicant's dress, the Goddess of Rājagṛha was herself perturbed.
- 10. Then Śrenya, the lord of the court of the Magadhas, beheld from the outside of his palace the immense concourse of people, and asked the reason of it; and thus did a man recount it to him:
- 11. 'He who was thus foretold by the Brāhmans, "he will either attain supreme wisdom or the empire of the earth," it is he, the son of the king of the Śākyas, who is the ascetic whom the people are gazing at.'
- 12. The king, having heard this and perceived its meaning with his mind, thus at once spoke to that man: 'Let it be known whither he is going;' and the man, receiving the command, followed the prince.

- 13. With unrestless eyes, seeing only a yoke's length before him, with his voice hushed, and his walk slow and measured, he, the noblest of mendicants, went begging alms, keeping his limbs and his wandering thoughts under control.
- 14. Having received such alms as were offered, he retired to a lonely cascade of the mountain; and having eaten it there in the fitting manner, he ascended the mountain Pāṇdava.
- 15. In that wood, thickly filled with lodhra trees, having its thickets resonant with the notes of the peacocks, he the sun of mankind shone, wearing his red dress, like the morning sun above the eastern mountain.
- 16. That royal attendant, having thus watched him there, related it all to the king Śreṇya; and the king, when he heard it, in his deep veneration, started himself to go thither with a modest retinue.
- 17. He who was like the Pāṇḍavas in heroism, and like a mountain in stature, ascended Pāṇḍava, that noblest of mountains, a crownwearer, of lion-like gait, a lion among men, as a maned lion ascends a mountain.
- 18. There he beheld the Bodhisattva, resplendent as he sat on his hams, with subdued senses, as if the mountain were moving, and he himself were a peak thereof, like the moon rising from the top of a cloud.

- 19. Him, distinguished by his beauty of form and perfect tranquillity as the very creation of Religion herself, filled with astonishment and affectionate regard the king of men approached, as Indra the self-existent (Brahman).
- 20. He, the chief of the courteous, having courteously drawn night o him, inquired as to the equilibrium of his bodily humours; and the other with equal gentleness assured the king of his health of mind and freedom from all ailments.
- 21. Then the king sat down on the clean surface of the rock, dark blue like an elephant's ear; and being seated, with the other's assent, he thus spoke, desiring to know his state of mind:
- 22. 'I have a strong friendship with thy family, come down by inheritance and well proved; since from this a desire to speak to thee, my son, has arisen in me, therefore listen to my words of affection.
- 23. 'When I consider thy widespread race, beginning with the sun, thy fresh youth, and thy conspicuous beauty, whence comes this resolve of thine so out of all harmony with the rest, set wholly on a mendicant's life, not on a kingdom?
- 24. 'Thy limbs are worthy of red sandal-wood perfumes, they do not deserve the rough contact of red cloth; this hand is fit to protect subjects, it deserves not to hold food given by another.

- 25. 'If therefore, gentle youth, through thy love for thy father thou desirest not thy paternal kingdom in thy generosity, then at any rate thy choice must not be excused, accepting forthwith one half of my kingdom.
- 26. 'If thou actest thus there will be no violence shown to thine own people, and by the mere lapse of time imperial power at last flies for refuge to the tranquil mind; therefore be pleased to do me a kindness, the prosperity of the good becomes very powerful, when aided by the good.
- 27. 'But if from thy pride of race thou dost not now feel confidence in me, then plunge with thy arrows into countless armies, and with me as thy ally seek to conquer thy foes.
- 28. 'Choose thou therefore one of these ends, pursue according to rule religious merit, wealth, and pleasure; for these, love and the rest, in reverse order, are the three objects in life; when men die they pass into dissolution as far as regards this world.
- 29. 'That which is pleasure when it has overpowered wealth and merit, is wealth when it has conquered merit and pleasure; so too it is merit, when pleasure and wealth fall into abeyance; but all would have to be alike abandoned, if thy desired end were obtained.
- 30. 'Do thou therefore by pursuing the three objects of life, cause this beauty of thine to bear its fruit; they say that when the attainment of

religion, wealth, and pleasure is complete in all its parts, then the end of man is complete.

- 31. 'Do not thou let these two brawny arms lie useless which are worthy to draw the bow; they are well fitted like Māndhātr's to conquer the three worlds, much more the earth.
- 32. 'I speak this to you out of affection, not through love of dominion or through astonishment; beholding this mendicant-dress of thine, I am filled with compassion and I shed tears.
- 33. 'O thou who desirest the mendicant's stage of life enjoy pleasures now; in due time, O thou lover of religion, thou shalt practise religion; ere old age comes on and overcomes this thy beauty, well worthy of thy illustrious race.
- 34. 'The old man can obtain merit by religion; old age is helpless for the enjoyment of pleasures; therefore they say that pleasures belong to the young man, wealth to the middle-aged, and religion to the old.
- 35. 'Youth in this present world is the enemy of religion and wealth, since pleasures, however we guard them, are hard to hold, therefore, wherever pleasures are to be found, there they seize them.
- 36. 'Old age is prone to reflection', it is grave and intent on remaining quiet; it attains unimpassionedness with but little effort, unavoidably, and for very shame.

- 37. 'Therefore having passed through the deceptive period of youth, fickle, intent on external objects, heedless, impatient, not looking at the distance, they take breath like men who have escaped safe through a forest.
- 38. 'Let therefore this fickle time of youth first pass by, reckless and giddy, our early years are the mark for pleasure, they cannot be kept from the power of the senses.
- 39. Or if religion is really thy one aim, then offer sacrifices, this is thy family's immemorial custom, climbing to highest heaven by sacrifices, even Indra, the lord of the winds, went thus to highest heaven.
- 40. 'With their arms pressed by golden bracelets, and their variegated diadems resplendent with the light of gems, royal sages have reached the same goal by sacrifices which great sages reached by self-mortification.'
- 41. Thus spoke the monarch of the Magadhas, who spoke well and strongly like Indra; but having heard it, the prince did not falter, (firm) like the mountain Kailāsa, having its many summits variegated (with lines of metals).

[Such is the tenth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, written by Aśvaghosa, called Śrenya's Visit]

Book XI [The Passions Spurned]

- 1. Being thus addressed by the monarch of the Magadhas, in a hostile speech with a friendly face, self-possessed, unchanged, pure by family and personal purity, the son of Śuddhodana thus made answer:
- 2. 'This is not to be called a strange thing for thee, born as thou art in the great family whose ensign is the lion that by thee of pure conduct, O lover of thy friends, this line of conduct should be adopted towards him who stands as one of thy friends.
- 3. 'Amongst the bad a friendship, worthy of their family, ceases to continue (and fades) like prosperity among the faint-hearted; it is only the good who keep increasing the old friendship of their ancestors by a new succession of friendly acts.
- 4. 'But those men who act unchangingly towards their friends in reverses of fortune, I esteem in my heart as true friends; who is not the friend of the prosperous man in his times of abundance?
- 5. 'So those who, having obtained riches in the world, employ them for the sake of their friends and religion, their wealth has real solidity, and when it perishes it produces no pain at the end.
- 6. 'This thy determination concerning me, O king, is prompted by pure generosity and friendship; I will meet thee courteously with simple friendship; I would not utter aught else in my reply.

- 7. 'I, having experienced the fear of old age and death, fly to this path of religion in my desire for liberation; leaving behind my dear kindred with tears in their faces, still more then those pleasures which are the causes of evil.
- 8. 'I am not so afraid even of serpents nor of thunderbolts falling from heaven, nor of flames blown together by the wind, as I am afraid of these worldly objects.
- 9. 'These transient pleasures, the robbers of our happiness and our wealth, and which float empty and like illusions through the world, infatuate men's minds even when they are only hoped for, still more when they take up their abode in the soul.
- 10. 'The victims of pleasure attain not to happiness even in the heaven of the gods, still less in the world of mortals; he who is athirst is never satisfied with pleasures, as the fire, the friend of the wind, with fuel.
- 11. 'There is no calamity in the world like pleasures, people are devoted to them through delusion; when he once knows the truth and so fears evil, what wise man would of his own choice desire evil?
- 12. 'When they have obtained all the earth girdled by the sea, kings wish to conquer the other side of the great ocean: mankind are never satiated with pleasures, as the ocean with the waters that fall into it.

- 13. 'When it had rained a golden shower from heaven, and when he had conquered the continents and the four oceans, and had even obtained the half of Śakra's throne, Māndhātr was still unsatisfied with worldly objects.
- 14. 'Though he had enjoyed the kingdom of the gods in heaven, when Indra had concealed himself through fear of Vrtra, and though in his pride he had made the great śiṣis bear his litter, Nahuṣa fell, unsatisfied with pleasures.
- 15. 'King (Purūravas) the son of Iḍā, having penetrated into the furthest heaven, and brought the goddess Urvaśī into his power, when he wished in his greed to take away gold from the Rṣis being unsatisfied with pleasures, fell into destruction.
- 16. 'Who would put his trust in these worldly objects, whether in heaven or in earth, unsettled as to lot or family, which passed from Bali to Indra, and from Indra to Nahuṣa, and then again from Nahuṣa back to Indra?
- 17. 'Who would seek these enemies bearing the name of pleasures, by whom even those sages have been overcome, who were devoted to other pursuits, whose only clothes were rags, whose food was roots, fruits, and water, and who wore their twisted locks as long as snakes?
- 18. 'Those pleasures for whose sake even Ugrāyudha, armed terribly as he was with his weapon, found death at Bhisma's hands, is not

the mere thought of them unlucky and fatal, – still more the thought of the irreligious whose lives are spent in their service?

- 19. 'Who that considers the paltry flavour of worldly objects, the very height of union being only insatiety, the blame of the virtuous, and the certain sin, has ever drawn near this poison which is called pleasure?
- 20. 'When they hear of the miseries of those who are intent on pleasure and are devoted to worldly pursuits, such as agriculture and the rest, and the self-content of those who are careless of pleasure, it well befits the self-controlled to fling it away.
- 21. 'Success in pleasure is to be considered a misery in the man of pleasure, for he becomes intoxicated when his desired pleasures are attained; through intoxication he does what should not be done, not what should be done; and being wounded thereby he falls into a miserable end.
- 22. 'These pleasures which are gained and kept by toil, which after deceiving leave you and return whence they came, these pleasures which are but borrowed for a time, what man of self-control, if he is wise, would delight in them?
- 23. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in these pleasures which are like a torch of hay, which excite thirst when you seek them and when you grasp them, and which they who abandon not keep only as misery?

- 24. 'Those men of no self-control who are bitten by them in their hearts, fall into ruin and attain not bliss, what man of self-control could find satisfaction in these pleasures, which are like an angry, cruel serpent?
- 25. 'Even if they enjoy them men are not satisfied, like dogs famishing with hunger over a bone, what man of self-control could find satisfaction in these pleasures, which are like a skeleton composed of dry bones?
- 26. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in these pleasures which are like flesh that has been flung away, and which produce misery by their being held only in common with kings, thieves, water, and fire?
- 27. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in these pleasures, which, like the senses, are destructive, and which bring calamity on every hand to those who abide in them, from the side of friends even more than from open enemies?
- 28. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in those pleasures, which are like the fruit that grows on the top of a tree, which those who would leap up to reach fall down upon a mountain or into a forest, waters, or the ocean?
- 29. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in those pleasures, which are like snatching up a hot coal, men never attain happiness, however they pursue them, increase them, or guard them?

- 30. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in those pleasures, which are like the enjoyments in a dream, which are gained by their recipients after manifold pilgrimages and labours, and then perish in a moment?
- 31. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in those pleasures which are like a spear, sword, or club, for the sake of which the Kurus, the Vṛṣṇis and the Andhakas, the Maithilas and the Daṇḍakas suffered destruction?
- 32. 'What man of self-control could find satisfaction in those pleasures which dissolve friendships and for the sake of which the two Asuras Sunda and Upasunda perished, victims engaged in mutual enmity?
- 33. 'None, however their intellect is blinded with pleasure, give themselves up, as in compassion, to ravenous beasts; so what man of self-control could find satisfaction in those pleasures which are disastrous and constant enemies?
- 34. 'He whose intellect is blinded with pleasure does pitiable things; he incurs calamities, such as death, bonds, and the like; the wretch, who is the miserable slave of hope for the sake of pleasure, well deserves the pain of death even in the world of the living.
- 35. 'Deer are lured to their destruction by songs, insects for the sake of the brightness fly into the fire, the fish greedy for the flesh

swallows the iron hook, – therefore worldly objects produce misery as their end.

- 36. 'As for the common opinion, "pleasures are enjoyments," none of them when examined are worthy of being enjoyed; fine garments and the rest are only the accessories of things, they are to be regarded as merely the remedies for pain.
- 37. 'Water is desired for allaying thirst; food in the same way for removing hunger; a house for keeping off the wind, the heat of the sun, and the rain; and dress for keeping off the cold and to cover one's nakedness.
- 38. 'So too a bed is for removing drowsiness; a carriage for remedying the fatigue of a journey; a seat for alleviating the pain of standing; so bathing as a means for washing, health, and strength.
- 39. 'External objects therefore are to human beings means for remedying pain, not in themselves sources of enjoyment; what wise man would allow that he enjoys those delights which are only used as remedial?
- 40. 'He who, when burned with the heat of bilious fever, maintains that cold appliances are an enjoyment, when he is only engaged in alleviating pain, he indeed might give the name of enjoyment to pleasures.

- 41. 'Since variableness is found in all pleasures, I cannot apply to them the name of enjoyment; the very conditions which mark pleasure, bring also in its turn pain.
- 42. 'Heavy garments and fragrant aloe-wood are pleasant in the cold, but an annoyance in the heat; and the moonbeams and sandal-wood are pleasant in the heat, but a pain in the cold.
- 43. 'Since the well-known opposite pairs, such as gain and loss and the rest, are inseparably connected with everything in this world, therefore no man is invariably happy on the earth nor invariably wretched.
- 44. 'When I see how the nature of pleasure and pain are mixed, I consider royalty and slavery as the same; a king does not always smile, nor is a slave always in pain.
- 45. 'Since to be a king involves a wider range of command, therefore the pains of a king are great; for a king is like a peg, he endures trouble for the sake of the world.
- 46. 'A king is unfortunate, if he places his trust in his royalty which is apt to desert and loves crooked turns; and on the other hand, if he does not trust in it, then what can be the happiness of a timid king?
- 47. 'And since after even conquering the whole earth, one city only can serve as a dwelling-place, and even there only one house can be inhabited, is not royalty mere labour for others?

- 48. 'And even in royal clothing one pair of garments is all he needs, and just enough food to keep off hunger; so only one bed, and only one seat; all a king's other distinctions are only for pride.
- 49. 'And if all these fruits are desired for the sake of satisfaction, I can be satisfied without a kingdom; and if a man is once satisfied in this world, are not all distinctions indistinguishable?
- 50. 'He then who has attained the auspicious road to happiness is not to be deceived in regard to pleasures; remembering thy professed friendship, tell me again and again, do they keep their promise?
- 51. 'I have not repaired to the forest through anger, nor because my diadem has been dashed down by an enemy's arrows; nor have I set my desires on loftier objects, that I thus refuse thy proposal.
- 52. 'Only he who, having once let go a malignant incensed serpent, or a blazing hay-torch all on fire, would strive again to seize it, would ever seek pleasures again after having once abandoned them.
- 53. 'Only he who, though seeing, would envy the blind, though free the bound, though wealthy the destitute, though sound in his reason the maniac, only he, I say, would envy one who is devoted to worldly objects.
- 54. 'He who lives on alms, my good friend, is not to be pitied, having gained his end and being set on escaping the fear of old age and

death; he has here the best happiness, perfect calm, and hereafter all pains are for him abolished.

- 55. 'But he is to be pitied who is overpowered by thirst though set in the midst of great wealth, who attains not the happiness of calm here, while pain has to be experienced hereafter.
- 56. 'Thus to speak to me is well worthy of thy character, thy mode of life, and thy family; and to carry out my resolve is also befitting my character, my mode of life, and my family.
- 57. 'I have been wounded by the enjoyment of the world, and I have come out longing to obtain peace; I would not accept an empire free from all ill even in the third heaven, how much less amongst men?
- 58. 'But as for what thou saidst to me, O king, that the universal pursuit of the three objects is the supreme end of man, and thou saidst that what I regard as the desirable is misery, thy three objects are perishable and also unsatisfying.
- 59. 'But that world in which there is no old age nor fear, no birth, nor death, nor anxieties, that alone I consider the highest end of man, where there is no ever-renewed action.
- 60. 'And as for what thou saidst "wait till old age comes, for youth is ever subject to change;" this want of decision is itself uncertain; for age too can be irresolute and youth can be firm.

- 61. 'But since Fate is so well skilled in its art as to draw the world in all its various ages into its power, how shall the wise man, who desires tranquillity, wait for old age, when he knows not when the time of death will be?
- 62. 'When death stands ready like a hunter, with old age as his weapon, and diseases scattered about as his arrows, smiting down living creatures who fly like deer to the forest of destiny, what desire can there be in any one for length of life?
- 63. 'It well befits the youthful son or the old man or the child so to act with all promptitude that they may choose the action of the religious man whose soul is all mercy, nay, better still, his inactivity.
- 64. 'And as for what thou saidst, "be diligent in sacrifices for religion, such as are worthy of thy race and bring a glorious fruit," honour to such sacrifices! I desire not that fruit which is sought by causing pain to others!
- 65. 'To kill a helpless victim through a wish for future reward, it would be an unseemly action for a merciful-hearted good man, even if the reward of the sacrifice were eternal; but what if, after all, it is subject to decay?
- 66. 'And even if true religion did not consist in quite another rule of conduct, by self-restraint, moral practice and a total absence of

passion, – still it would not be seemly to follow the rule of sacrifice, where the highest reward is described as attained only by slaughter.

- 67. 'Even that happiness which comes to a man, while he stays in this world, through the injury of another, is hateful to the wise compassionate heart; how much more if it be something beyond our sight in another life?
- 68. 'I am not to be lured into a course of action for future reward, my mind does not delight, O king, in future births; these actions are uncertain and wavering in their direction, like plants beaten by the rain from a cloud.
- 69. 'I have come here with a wish to see next the seer Arāḍa who proclaims liberation; I start this very day, happiness be to thee, O king; forgive my words which may seem harsh through their absolute freedom from passion.
- 70. 'Now therefore do thou guard (the world) like Indra in heaven; guard it continually like the sun by thy excellencies; guard its best happiness here; guard the earth; guard life by the noble; guard the sons of the good; guard thy royal powers, O king; and guard thine own religion.
- 71. 'As in the midst of a sudden catastrophe arising from the flame of (fire), the enemy of cold, a bird, to deliver its body, betakes itself to the enemy of fire (water), so do thou, when occasion calls, betake

thyself, to deliver thy mind, to those who will destroy the enemies of thy home.'

- 72. The king himself, folding his hands, with a sudden longing come upon him, replied, 'Thou art obtaining thy desire without hindrance; when thou hast at last accomplished all that thou hast to do, thou shalt show hereafter thy favour towards me.'
- 73. Having given his firm promise to the monarch, he proceeded to the Vaiśvantara hermitage; and, after watching him with astonishment, as he wandered on in his course, the king and his courtiers returned to the mountain (of Rājagiri).

[Such is the eleventh chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, written by Aśvaghosa, called The Passions Spurned]

Book XII [Visit to Arāḍa]

- 1. Then the moon of the Ikṣvāku race turned towards the hermitage of the sage Arāḍa of tranquil life, as it were, doing honour to it by his beauty.
- 2. He drew near, on being addressed in a loud voice 'Welcome' by the kinsman of Kālāma, as he saw him from afar.
- 3. They, having mutually asked after each other's health as was fitting, sat down in a clean place on two pure wooden seats.
- 4. The best of sages, having seen the prince seated, and as it were drinking in the sight of him with eyes opened wide in reverence, thus addressed him:
- 5. 'I know, gentle youth, how thou hast come forth from thy home, having severed the bond of affection, as a wild elephant its cord.
- 6. 'In every way thy mind is stedfast and wise, who hast come here after abandoning royal luxury like a creeper-plant with poisonous fruit.
- 7. 'It is no marvel that kings have retired to the forest who have grown old in years, having given up their glory to their children, like a garland left behind after being used.

- 8. 'But this is to me indeed a marvel that thou art come hither in life's fresh prime, set in the open field of the world's enjoyments, ere thou hast as yet tasted of their happiness.
- 9. 'Verily thou art a worthy vessel to receive this highest religion; having mastered it with full knowledge, cross at once over the sea of misery.
- 10. 'Though the doctrine is generally efficient only after a time, when the student has been thoroughly tested, thou art easy for me to examine from thy depth of character and determination.'
- 11. The prince, having heard these words of Arāḍa, was filled with great pleasure and thus made reply:
- 12. 'This extreme kindliness which thou showest to me, calmly passionless as thou art, makes me, imperfect as I am, seem even already to have attained perfection.
- 13. 'I feel at the sight of thee like one longing to see who finds a light, like one wishing to journey, a guide, or like one wishing to cross, a boat.
- 14. 'Wilt thou therefore deign to tell me that secret, if thou thinkest it should be told, whereby thy servant may be delivered from old age, death, and disease.'
- 15. Arāḍa, thus impelled by the noble nature of the prince, declared in a concise form the tenets of his doctrine:

- 16. 'O best of hearers, hear this our firmly-settled theory, how our mortal existence arises and how it revolves.
- 17. "The evolvent" and "the evolute," birth, old age, and death, know that this has been called the reality by us; do thou receive our words, O thou who art stedfast in thy nature.
- 18. 'But know, O thou who art deep in the search into the nature of things, that the five elements, egoism, intellect, and "the unmanifested" are the "evolvents:"
- 19. 'But know that the "evolutes" consist of intellect, external objects, the senses, and the hands, feet, voice, anus, and generative organ, and also the mind.
- 20. 'There is also a something which bears the name kṣetrajña, from its knowledge of this "field" (kṣetra or the body); and those who investigate the soul call the soul kṣetrajña.
- 21. 'Kapila with his disciple became the illuminated, such is the tradition; and he, as the illuminated, with his son is now called here Prajāpati.
- 22. 'That which is born and grows old and is bound and dies, is to be known as "the manifested," and "the unmanifested" is to be distinguished by its contrariety.

- 23. 'Ignorance, the merit or demerit of former actions, and desire are to be known as the causes of mundane existence; he who abides in the midst of this triad does not attain to the truth of things, –
- 24. 'From mistake, egoism, confusion, fluctuation, indiscrimination, false means, inordinate attachment, and gravitation.
- 25. 'Now "mistake" acts in a contrary manner, it does wrongly what it should do, and what it should think it thinks wrongly.
- 26. "I say," "I know," "I go," "I am firmly fixed," it is thus that "egoism" shows itself here, O thou who art free from all egoism.
- 27. 'That state of mind is called "confusion," O thou who art all unconfused, which views under one nature, massed like a lump of clay, objects that thus become confused in their nature.
- 28. 'That state of mind which says that this mind, intellect, and these actions are the same as "I," and that which says that all this aggregate is the same as "I," is called "fluctuation."
- 29. 'That state of mind is called "indiscrimination," O thou who art discriminating, which thinks there is no difference between the illuminated and the unwise, and between the different evolvents.
- 30. 'Uttering "namas" and "vaṣaṭ," sprinkling water upon sacrifices, &c. with or without the recital of Vedic hymns, and such like rites, these are declared by the wise to be "false means," O thou who art well skilled in true means.

- 31. 'That is called "inordinate attachment," by which the fool is entangled in external objects through his mind, speech, actions, and thoughts, O thou who hast shaken thyself free from all attachments.
- 32. 'The misery which a man imagines by the ideas "This is mine," "I am connected with this," is to be recognised as "gravitation," by this a man is borne downwards into new births.
- 33. 'Thus Ignorance, O ye wise, being fivefold in its character, energises towards torpor, delusion, the great delusion, and the two kinds of darkness.
- 34. 'Know, that among these indolence is "torpor," death and birth are "delusion," and be it clearly understood, O undeluded one, that desire is the "great delusion."
- 35. 'Since by it even the higher beings are deluded, therefore, O hero, is this called the "great delusion."
- 36. 'They define anger, O thou angerless one, as "darkness;" and despondency, O undesponding, they pronounce to be the "blind darkness."
- 37. 'The child, entangled in this fivefold ignorance, is effused in his different births in a world abounding with misery.
- 38. 'He wanders about in the world of embodied existence, thinking that I am the seer, and the hearer, and the thinker, the effect and the cause.

- 39. 'Through these causes, O wise prince, the stream of "torpor" is set in motion; be pleased to consider that in the absence of the cause there is the absence of the effect.
- 40. 'Let the wise man who has right views know these four things, O thou who desirest liberation, the illuminated and the unilluminated, the manifested and the unmanifested.
- 41. 'The soul, having once learned to distinguish these four properly, having abandoned all (ideas of) straightness or quickness, attains to the immortal sphere.
- 42. 'For this reason the Brāhmans in the world, discoursing on the supreme Brahman, practise here a rigorous course of sacred study and let other Brāhmans live with them to follow it also.'
- 43. The prince, having heard this discourse from the seer, asked concerning the means and the final state.
- 44. 'Wilt thou please to explain to me how, how far, and where this life of sacred study is to be led, and the limit of this course of life?'
- 45. Then Arāḍa, according to his doctrine, declared to him in another way that course of life clearly and succinctly.
- 46. 'The devotee, in the beginning, having left his house, and assumed the signs of the mendicant, goes on, following a rule of conduct which extends to the whole life.

- 47. 'Cultivating absolute content with any alms from any person, he carries out his lonely life, indifferent to all feelings, meditating on the holy books, and satisfied in himself.
- 48. 'Then having seen how fear arises from passion and the highest happiness from the absence of passion, he strives, by restraining all the senses, to attain to tranquility of mind.
- 49. 'Then he reaches the first stage of contemplation, which is separated from desires, evil intentions and the like, and arises from discrimination and which involves reasoning.
- 50. 'And having obtained this ecstatic contemplation, and reasoning on various objects, the childish mind is carried away by the possession of the new unknown ecstasy.
- 51. 'With a tranquillity of this kind, which disdains desire or dislike, he reaches the world of Brahman, deceived by the delight.
- 52. 'But the wise man, knowing that these reasonings bewilder the mind, reaches a (second) stage of contemplation separate from this, which has its own pleasure and ecstasy.
- 53. 'And he who, carried away by this pleasure, sees no further distinction, obtains a dwelling full of light, even amongst the Ābhāsura deities.
- 54. 'But he who separates his mind from this pleasure and ecstasy, reaches the third stage of contemplation ecstatic but without pleasure.

- 55. 'Upon this stage some teachers make their stand, thinking that it is indeed liberation, since pleasure and pain have been left behind and there is no exercise of the intellect.
- 56. 'But he who, immersed in this ecstasy, strives not for a further distinction, obtains an ecstasy in common with the Śubhakrtsna deities.
- 57. 'But he who, having attained such a bliss desires it not but despises it, obtains the fourth stage of contemplation which is separate from all pleasure or pain.
- 58. 'The fruit of this contemplation which is on an equality with the $V_{\bar{i}}$ hatphala deities, those who investigate the great wisdom call the $V_{\bar{i}}$ hatphala.
- 59. 'But rising beyond this contemplation, having seen the imperfections of all embodied souls, the wise man climbs to a yet higher wisdom in order to abolish all body.
- 60. 'Then, having abandoned this contemplation, being resolved to find a further distinction, he becomes as disgusted with form itself as he who knows the real is with pleasures.
- 61. 'First he makes use of all the apertures of his body; and next he exerts his will to experience a feeling of void space even in the solid parts.

- 62. 'But another wise man, having contracted his soul which is by nature extended everywhere like the ether, as he gazes ever further on, detects a yet higher distinction.
- 63. 'Another one of those who are profoundly versed in the supreme Self, having abolished himself by himself, sees that nothing exists and is called a Nihilist.
- 64. 'Then like the Muñja-reed's stalk from its sheath or the bird from its cage, the soul, escaped from the body, is declared to be "liberated."
- 65. 'This is that supreme Brahman, constant, eternal, and without distinctive signs; which the wise who know reality declare to be liberation.
- 66. 'Thus have I shown to thee the means and liberation; if thou hast understood and approved it, then act accordingly.
- 67. 'Jaigīṣavya and Janaka, and the aged Parāsara, by following this path, were liberated, and so were others who sought liberation.'
- 68. The prince having not accepted his words but having pondered them, filled with the force of his former arguments, thus made answer:
- 69. 'I have heard this thy doctrine, subtil and pre-eminently auspicious, but I hold that it cannot be final, because it does not teach us how to abandon this soul itself in the various bodies.

- 70. 'For I consider that the embodied soul, though freed from the evolutes and the evolvents, is still subject to the condition of birth and has the condition of a seed.
- 71. 'Even though the pure soul is declared to be "liberated," yet as long as the soul remains there can be no absolute abandonment of it.
- 72. 'If we abandon successively all this triad, yet "distinction" is still perceived; as long as the soul itself continues, there this triad continues in a subtil form.
- 73. 'It is held (by some) that this is liberation, because the "imperfections" are so attenuated, and the thinking power is inactive, and the term of existence is so prolonged;
- 74. 'But as for this supposed abandonment of the principle of egoism,
 as long as the soul continues, there is no real abandonment of egoism.
- 75. 'The soul does not become free from qualities as long as it is not released from number and the rest; therefore, as long as there is no freedom from qualities, there is no liberation declared for it.
- 76. 'There is no real separation of the qualities and their subject; for fire cannot be conceived, apart from its form and heat.
- 77. 'Before the body there will be nothing embodied, so before the qualities there will be no subject; how, if it was originally free, could the soul ever become bound?

- 78. 'The body-knower (the soul) which is unembodied, must be either knowing or unknowing; if it is knowing, there must be some object to be known, and if there is this object, it is not liberated.
- 79. 'Or if the soul is declared to be unknowing, then of what use to you is this imagined soul? Even without such a soul, the existence of the absence of knowledge is notorious as, for instance, in a log of wood or a wall.
- 80. 'And since each successive abandonment is held to be still accompanied by qualities, I maintain that the absolute attainment of our end can only be found in the abandonment of everything.'
- 81. Thus did he remain unsatisfied after he had heard the doctrine of Arāḍa; then having decided it to be incomplete, he turned away.
- 82. Seeking to know the true distinction, he went to the hermitage of Udraka, but he gained no clear understanding from his treatment of the soul.
- 83. For the sage Udraka, having learned the inherent imperfections of the name and the thing named, took refuge in a theory beyond Nihilism, which maintained a name and a non-name.
- 84. And since even a name and a non-name were substrata, however subtil, he went even further still and found his restlessness set at rest in the idea that there is no named and no un-named;

- 85. And because the intellect rested there, not proceeding any further, it became very subtil, and there was no such thing as un-named nor as named.
- 86. But because, even when it has reached this goal it yet returns again to the world, therefore the Bodhisattva, seeking something beyond, left Udraka.
- 87. Having quitted his hermitage, fully resolved in his purpose, and seeking final bliss, he next visited the hermitage, called a city, of the royal sage Gaya.
- 88. Then on the pure bank of the Nairañjanā the saint whose every effort was pure fixed his dwelling, bent as he was on a lonely habitation.

(Then he saw five mendicants who had come there before him; they had taken vows on themselves and practised austerities, vaunting themselves of control of the five senses.)

- 89. Five mendicants, desiring liberation, came up to him when they beheld him there, just as the objects of the senses come up to a percipient who has gained wealth and health by his previous merit.
- 90. Being honoured by these disciples who were dwelling in that family, as they bowed reverently with their bodies bent low in humility, as the mind is honoured by the restless senses,

- 91. And thinking, 'this may be the means of abolishing birth and death,' he at once commenced a series of difficult austerities by fasting.
- 92. For six years, vainly trying to attain merit, he practised self-mortification, performing many rules of abstinence, hard for a man to carry out.
- 93. At the hours for eating, he, longing to cross the world whose farther shore is so difficult to reach, broke his vow with single jujube fruits, sesame seeds, and rice.
- 94. But the emaciation which was produced in his body by that asceticism, became positive fatness through the splendour which invested him.
- 95. Though thin, yet with his glory and his beauty unimpaired, he caused gladness to other eyes, as the autumnal moon in the beginning of her bright fortnight gladdens the lotuses.
- 96. Having only skin and bone remaining, with his fat, flesh and blood entirely wasted, yet, though diminished, he still shone with undiminished grandeur like the ocean.
- 97. Then the seer, having his body evidently emaciated to no purpose in a cruel self-mortification; dreading continued existence, thus reflected in his longing to become a Buddha:

- 98. 'This is not the way to passionlessness, nor to perfect knowledge, nor to liberation; that was certainly the true way which I found at the root of the Jambu tree.
- 99. 'But that cannot be attained by one who has lost his strength', so resuming his care for his body, he next pondered thus, how best to increase his bodily vigour:
- 100. 'Wearied with hunger, thirst, and fatigue, with his mind no longer self-possessed through fatigue, how should one who is not absolutely calm reach the end which is to be attained by his mind?
- 101. 'True calm is properly obtained by the constant satisfaction of the senses; the mind's self-possession is only obtained by the senses being perfectly satisfied.
- 102. 'True meditation is produced in him whose mind is self-possessed and at rest, to him whose thoughts are engaged in meditation the exercise of perfect contemplation begins at once.
- 103. 'By contemplation are obtained those conditions through which is eventually gained that supreme calm, undecaying, immortal state, which is so hard to be reached.'
- 104. Having thus resolved, 'this means is based upon eating food,' the wise seer of unbounded wisdom, having made up his mind to accept the continuance of life,

- 105. And having bathed, thin as he was, slowly came up the bank of the Nairañjanā, supported as by a hand by the trees on the shore, which bent down the ends of their branches in adoration.
- 106. Now at that time Nandabalā, the daughter of the leader of the herdsmen, impelled by the gods, with a sudden joy risen in her heart, had just come near,
- 107. Her arm gay with a white shell, and wearing a dark blue woollen cloth, like the river Yamunā, with its dark blue water and its wreath of foam.
- 108. She, having her joy increased by her faith, with her lotus-like eyes opened wide, bowed down before him and persuaded him to take some milk.
- 109. By partaking that food having made her obtain the full reward of her birth, he himself became capable of gaining the highest knowledge, all his six senses being now satisfied,
- 110. The seer, having his body now fully robust, together with his glorious fame, one beauty and one majesty being equally spread in both, shone like the ocean and the moon.
- 111. Thinking that he had returned to the world the five mendicants left him, as the five elements leave the wise soul when it is liberated.
- 112. Accompanied only by his own resolve, having fixed his mind on the attainment of perfect knowledge, he went to the root of an

Asvattha tree, where the surface of the ground was covered with young grass.

- 113. Then $K\bar{a}la$, the best of serpents, whose majesty was like the lord of elephants, having been awakened by the unparalleled sound of his feet, uttered this praise of the great sage, being sure that he was on the point of attaining perfect knowledge:
- 114. 'Inasmuch as the earth, pressed down by thy feet, O sage, resounds repeatedly, and inasmuch as thy splendour shines forth like the sun, thou shalt assuredly to-day enjoy the desired fruit.
- 115. 'Inasmuch as lines of birds fluttering in the sky offer thee reverential salutation, O lotus-eyed one, and inasmuch as gentle breezes blow in the sky, thou shalt certainly to-day become the Buddha.'
- 116. Being thus praised by the best of serpents, and having taken some pure grass from a grasscutter, he, having made his resolution, sat down to obtain perfect knowledge at the foot of the great holy tree.
- 117. Then he sat down on his hams in a posture, immovably firm and with his limbs gathered into a mass like a sleeping serpent's hood, exclaiming, 'I will not rise from this position on the earth until I have obtained my utmost aim.'

118. Then the dwellers in heaven burst into unequalled joy; the herds of beasts and the birds uttered no cry; the trees moved by the wind made no sound, when the holy one took his seat firm in his resolve.

[Such is the twelth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, written by Aśvaghosa, called Visit to Arāḍa]

Book XIII [Defeat of Māra]

- 1. When the great sage, sprung from a line of royal sages, sat down there with his soul fully resolved to obtain the highest knowledge, the whole world rejoiced; but Māra, the enemy of the good law, was afraid.
- 2. He whom they call in the world Kāmadeva, the owner of the various weapons, the flower-arrowed, the lord of the course of desire, it is he whom they also style Māra the enemy of liberation.
- 3. His three sons, Confusion, Gaiety, and Pride, and his three daughters, Lust, Delight, and Thirst, asked of him the reason of his despondency, and he thus made answer unto them:
- 4. 'This sage, wearing the armour of resolution, and having drawn the arrow of wisdom with the barb of truth, sits yonder intending to conquer my realms, hence is this despondency of my mind.
- 5. 'If he succeeds in overcoming me and proclaims to the world the path of final bliss, all this my realm will to-day become empty, as did that of the disembodied lord when he violated the rules of his station.
- 6. 'While, therefore, he stands within my reach and while his spiritual eyesight is not yet attained, I will assail him to break his vow as the swollen might of a river assails a dam.'

- 7. Then having seized his flower-made bow and his five infatuating arrows, he drew near to the root of the Aśvattha tree with his children, he the great disturber of the minds of living beings.
- 8. Having fixed his left hand on the end of the barb and playing with the arrow, Māra thus addressed the calm seer as he sat on his seat, preparing to cross to the further side of the ocean of existence:
- 9. 'Up, up, O thou Kṣatriya, afraid of death! follow thine own duty and abandon this law of liberation! and having conquered the lower worlds by thy arrows [and sacrifices], proceed to gain the higher worlds of Indra.
- 10. 'That is a glorious path to travel, which has been followed by former leaders of men; this mendicant life is ill-suited for one born in the noble family of a royal sage to follow.
- 11. 'But if thou wilt not rise, strong in thy purpose, then be firm if thou wilt and quit not thy resolve, this arrow is uplifted by me, it is the very one which was shot against Sūryaka, the enemy of the fish.
- 12. 'So too, I think, when somewhat probed by this weapon, even the son of Iḍā, the grandson of the moon, became mad; and Sāntanu also lost his self-control, how much more then one of feebler powers now that the age has grown degenerate?
- 13. 'Therefore quickly rise up and come to thyself for this arrow is ready, darting out its tongue, which I do not launch even against the

cakravāka birds, tenderly attached as they are and well deserving the name of lovers.'

- 14. But when, even though thus addressed, the Śākya saint unheeding did not change his posture, then Māra discharged his arrow at him, setting in front of him his daughters and his sons.
- 15. But even when that arrow was shot he gave no heed and swerved not from his firmness; and Māra, beholding him thus, sank down, and slowly thus spoke, full of thought:
- 16. 'He does not even notice that arrow by which the god Śambhu was pierced with love for the daughter of the mountain and shaken in his vow; can he be destitute of all feeling? is not this that very arrow?
- 17. 'He is not worthy of my flower-shaft, nor my arrow "gladdener," nor the sending of my daughter Rati (to tempt him); he deserves the alarms and rebukes and blows from all the gathered hosts of the demons.'
- 18. Then Māra called to mind his own army, wishing to work the overthrow of the Śākya saint; and his followers swarmed round, wearing different forms and carrying arrows, trees, darts, clubs, and swords in their hands;
- 19. Having the faces of boars, fishes, horses, asses, and camels, of tigers, bears, lions, and elephants, one-eyed, many-faced, three-headed, with protuberant bellies and speckled bellies;

- 20. Blended with goats, with knees swollen like pots, armed with tusks and with claws, carrying headless trunks in their hands, and assuming many forms, with half-mutilated faces, and with monstrous mouths;
- 21. Copper-red, covered with red spots, bearing clubs in their hands, with yellow or smoke-coloured hair, with wreaths dangling down, with long pendulous ears like elephants, clothed in leather or wearing no clothes at all:
- 22. Having half their faces white or half their bodies green, red and smoke-coloured, yellow and black, with arms reaching out longer than a serpent, and with girdles jingling with rattling bells.
- 23. Some were as tall as palm-trees, carrying spears, others were of the size of children with projecting teeth, others birds with the faces of rams, others with men's bodies and cats' faces;
- 24. With dishevelled hair, or with topknots, or half-bald, with ropegarments or with head-dress all in confusion, – with triumphant faces or frowning faces, – wasting the strength or fascinating the mind.
- 25. Some as they went leaped about wildly, others danced upon one another, some sported about in the sky, others went along on the tops of the trees.
- 26. One danced, shaking a trident, another made a crash, dragging a club, another bounded for joy like a bull, another blazed out flames from every hair.

- 27. Such were the troops of demons who encircled the root of the Bodhi tree on every side, eager to seize it and to destroy it, awaiting the command of their lord.
- 28. Beholding in the first half of the night that battle of Māra and the bull of the Śākya race, the heavens did not shine and the earth shook and the (ten) regions of space flashed flame and roared.
- 29. A wind of intense violence blew in all directions, the stars did not shine, the moon gave no light, and a deeper darkness of night spread around, and all the oceans were agitated.
- 30. The mountain deities and the Nāgas who honoured the Law, indignant at the attack on the saint, rolling their eyes in anger against Māra, heaved deep sighs and opened their mouths wide.
- 31. But the god-sages, the Śuddhādhivāsas, being as it were absorbed in the perfect accomplishment of the good Law, felt only a pity for Māra in their minds and through their absolute passionlessness were unruffled by anger.
- 32. When they saw the foot of the Bodhi tree crowded with that host of Māra, intent on doing harm, the sky was filled with the cry raised by all the virtuous beings who desired the world's liberation.
- 33. But the great sage having beheld that army of Māra thus engaged in an attack on the knower of the Law, remained untroubled and suffered no perturbation, like a lion seated in the midst of oxen.

- 34. Then Māra commanded his excited army of demons to terrify him; and forthwith that host resolved to break down his determination with their various powers.
- 35. Some with many tongues hanging out and shaking, with sharp-pointed savage teeth and eyes like the disk of the sun, with wide-yawning mouths and upright ears like spikes, they stood round trying to frighten him.
- 36. Before these monsters standing there, so dreadful in form and disposition, the great sage remained unalarmed and untroubled, sporting with them as if they had been only rude children.
- 37. Then one of them, with his eyes rolling wildly, lifted up a club against him; but his arm with the club was instantly paralysed, as was Indra's of old with its thunderbolt.
- 38. Some, having lifted up stones and trees, found themselves unable to throw them against the sage; down they fell, with their trees and their stones, like the roots of the Vindhya shattered by the thunderbolt.
- 39. Others, leaping up into the sky, flung rocks, trees, and axes; these remained in the sky and did not fall down, like the many-coloured rays of the evening clouds.
- 40. Another hurled upon him a mass of blazing straw as big as a mountain-peak, which, as soon as it was thrown, while it hung poised

in the sky, was shattered into a hundred fragments by the sage's power.

- 41. One, rising up like the sun in full splendour, rained down from the sky a great shower of live embers, as at the end of an aeon blazing Meru showers down the pulverised scoriae of the golden valleys.
- 42. But that shower of embers full of sparks, when scattered at the foot of the Bodhi tree, became a shower of red lotus-petals through the operation of the great saint's boundless charity.
- 43. But with all these various scorching assaults on his body and his mind, and all these missiles showered down upon him, the Śākya saint did not in the least degree move from his posture, clasping firmly his resolution as a kinsman.
- 44. Then others spat out serpents from their mouths as from old decayed trunks of trees; but, as if held fast by a charm, near him they neither breathed nor discharged venom nor moved.
- 45. Others, having become great clouds, emitting lightning and uttering the fierce roar of thunderbolts, poured a shower of stones upon that tree, but it turned to a pleasant shower of flowers.
- 46. Another set an arrow in his bow, there it gleamed but it did not issue forth, like the anger which falls slack in the soul of an ill-tempered impotent man.

- 47. But five arrows shot by another stood motionless and fell not, through the saint's ruling guidance, like the five senses of him who is well experienced in the course of worldly objects and is afraid of embodied existence.
- 48. Another, full of anger, rushed towards the great saint, having seized a club with a desire to smite him; but he fell powerless without finding an opportunity, like mankind in the presence of faults which cause failure.
- 49. But a woman named Meghakālī, bearing a skull in her hand, in order to infatuate the mind of the sage, flitted about unsettled and stayed not in one spot, like the mind of the fickle student over the sacred texts.
- 50. Another, fixing a kindling eye, wished to burn him with the fire of his glance like a poisonous serpent; but he saw the sage and lo! he was not there, like the votary of pleasure when true happiness is pointed out to him.
- 51. Another, lifting up a heavy rock, wearied himself to no purpose, having his efforts baffled, like one who wishes to obtain by bodily fatigue that condition of supreme happiness which is only to be reached by meditation and knowledge.
- 52. Others, wearing the forms of hyenas and lions, uttered loudly fierce howls, which caused all beings round to quail with terror, as

thinking that the heavens were smitten with a thunderbolt and were bursting.

- 53. Deer and elephants uttering cries of pain ran about or lay down, in that night as if it were day screaming birds flew around disturbed in all directions.
- 54. But amidst all these various sounds which they made, although all living creatures were shaken, the saint trembled not nor quailed, like Garuda at the noise of crows.
- 55. The less the saint feared the frightful hosts of that multitude, the more did Māra, the enemy of the righteous, continue his attacks in grief and anger.
- 56. Then some being of invisible shape, but of pre-eminent glory, standing in the heavens, beholding Māra thus malevolent against the seer, addressed him in a loud voice, unruffled by enmity:
- 57. 'Take not on thyself, O Māra, this vain fatigue, throw aside thy malevolence and retire to peace; this sage cannot be shaken by thee any more than the mighty mountain Meru by the wind.
- 58. 'Even fire might lose its hot nature, water its fluidity, earth its steadiness, but never will he abandon his resolution, who has acquired his merit by a long course of actions through unnumbered aeons.
- 59. 'Such is that purpose of his, that heroic effort, that glorious strength, that compassion for all beings, until he attains the highest

wisdom, he will never rise from his seat, just as the sun does not rise, without dispelling the darkness.

- 60. 'One who rubs the two pieces of wood obtains the fire, one who digs the earth finds at last the water, and to him in his perseverance there is nothing unattainable, all things to him are reasonable and possible.
- 61. 'Pitying the world lying distressed amidst diseases and passions, he, the great physician, ought not to be hindered, who undergoes all his labours for the sake of the remedy knowledge.
- 62. 'He who toilsomely pursues the one good path, when all the world is carried away in devious tracks, he the guide should not be disturbed, like a right informant when the caravan has lost its way.
- 63. 'He who is made a lamp of knowledge when all beings are lost in the great darkness, it is not for a right-minded soul to try to quench him, like a lamp kindled in the gloom of night.
- 64. 'He who, when he beholds the world drowned in the great flood of existence and unable to reach the further shore, strives to bring them safely across, would any right-minded soul offer him wrong?
- 65. 'The tree of knowledge, whose roots go deep in firmness, and whose fibres are patience, whose flowers are moral actions and whose branches are memory and thought, and which gives out the law as its fruit, surely when it is growing it should not be cut down.

- 66. 'Him whose one desire is to deliver mankind bound in soul by the fast snares of illusion, thy wish to overthrow him is not worthy, wearied as he is for the sake of unloosing the bonds of the world.
- 67. 'To-day is the appointed period of all those actions which have been performed by him for the sake of knowledge, he is now seated on this seat just as all the previous saints have sat.
- 68. 'This is the navel of the earth's surface, endued with all the highest glory; there is no other spot of the earth than this, the home of contemplation, the realm of well-being.
- 69. 'Give not way, then, to grief but put on calm; let not thy greatness, O Māra, be mixed with pride; it is not well to be confident, fortune is unstable, why dost thou accept a position on a tottering base?'
- 70. Having listened to his words, and having seen the unshaken firmness of the great saint, Māra departed dispirited and broken in purpose with those very arrows by which, O world, thou art smitten in thy heart.
- 71. With their triumph at an end, their labour all fruitless, and all their stones, straw, and trees thrown away, that host of his fled in all directions, like some hostile army when its camp has been destroyed by the enemy.
- 72. When the flower-armed god thus fled away vanquished with his hostile forces and the passionless sage remained victorious, having

conquered all the power of darkness, the heavens shone out with the moon like a maiden with a smile, and a sweet-smelling shower of flowers fell down wet with dew.

73. When the wicked one thus fled vanquished, the different regions of the sky grew clear, the moon shone forth, showers of flowers fell down from the sky upon the earth, and the night gleamed out like a spotless maiden.

[Such is the thirteenth chapter in the great poem Śri Buddhacarita, written by Aśvaghosa, called Defeat of Māra]

Book XIV [Enlightenment]

- 1. Then, having conquered the hosts of $M\bar{a}$ ra by his firmness and calmness, he the great master of meditation set himself to meditate, longing to know the supreme end.
- 2. And having attained the highest mastery in all kinds of meditation, he remembered in the first watch the continuous series of all his former births.
- 3. 'In such a place I was so and so by name, and from thence I passed and came hither,' thus he remembered his thousands of births, experiencing each as it were over again.
- 4. And having remembered each birth and each death in all those various transmigrations, the compassionate one then felt compassion for all living beings.
- 5. Having wilfully rejected the good guides in this life and done all kinds of actions in various lives, this world of living beings rolls on helplessly, like a wheel.
- 6. As he thus remembered, to him in his strong self-control came the conviction, 'All existence is insubstantial, like the fruit of a plantain.'
- 7. When the second watch came, he, possessed of unequalled energy, received a pre-eminent divine sight, like the highest of all sight-gifted beings.

- 8. Then by that divine perfectly pure sight he beheld the whole world as in a spotless mirror.
- 9. As he saw the various transmigrations and rebirths of the various beings with their several lower or higher merits from their actions, compassion grew up more within him.
- 10. 'These living beings, under the influence of evil actions, pass into wretched worlds, these others, under the influence of good actions, go forward in heaven.
- 11. 'The one, being born in a dreadful hell full of terrors, are miserably tortured, alas! by many kinds of suffering;
- 12. 'Some are made to drink molten iron of the colour of fire, others are lifted aloft screaming on a red-hot iron pillar;
- 13. 'Others are baked like flour, thrown with their heads downwards into iron jars; others are miserably burned in heaps of heated charcoal;
- 14. 'Some are devoured by fierce dreadful dogs with iron teeth, others by gloating crows with iron beaks and all made as it were of iron;
- 15. 'Some, wearied of being burned, long for cold shade; these enter like bound captives into a dark blue wood with swords for leaves.

- 16. 'Others having many arms are split like timber with axes, but even in that agony they do not die, being supported in their vital powers by their previous actions.
- 17. 'Whatever deed was done only to hinder pain with the hope that it might bring pleasure, its result is now experienced by these helpless victims as simple pain.
- 18. These who did something evil for the sake of pleasure and are now grievously pained, does that old taste produce even an atom of pleasure to them now?
- 19. 'The wicked deed which was done by the wicked-hearted in glee, its consequences are reaped by them in the fulness of time with cries.
- 20. 'If only evil doers could see the fruits of their actions, they would vomit hot blood as if they were smitten in a vital part.
- 21. 'And worse still than all these bodily tortures in hell seems to me the association of an intelligent man with the base.
- 22. 'Others also, through various actions arising from the spasmodic violence of their minds, are born miserable in the wombs of various beasts.
- 23. 'There the poor wretches are killed even in the sight of their kindred, for the sake of their flesh, their skin, their hair, or their teeth, or through hatred or for mere pleasure.

- 24. 'Even though powerless and helpless, oppressed by hunger, thirst, and fatigue, they are driven along as oxen and horses, their bodies wounded with goads.
- 25. 'They are driven along, when born as elephants, by weaker creatures than themselves for all their strength, their heads tormented by the hook and their bodies kicked by foot and heel.
- 26. 'And with all these other miseries there is an especial misery arising from mutual enmity and from subjection to a master.
- 27. 'Air-dwellers are oppressed by air-dwellers, the denizens of water by the denizens of water, those that dwell on dry land are made to suffer by the dwellers on dry land in mutual hostility.
- 28. 'And others there are who, when born again, with their minds filled with envy, reap the miserable fruit of their actions in a world of the Pitrs destitute of all light;
- 29. 'Having mouths as small as the eye of a needle and bellies as big as a mountain, these miserable wretches are tortured with the pains of hunger and thirst.
- 30. 'If a man only knew that such was the consequence of selfishness, he would always give to others even pieces of his own body like Śibi.
- 31. 'Rushing up filled with hope but held back by their former deeds, they try in vain to eat anything large, however impure.

32. 'Others, having found a hell in an impure lake called the womb, are born amongst men and there suffer anguish.

[Here ends the original part of Buddhacarita]

The Buddha-carita continuation By Amrtananda

- 33. 'Others, ascetics, who have performed meritorious actions go to heaven; others, having attained widely extended empire, wander about on the earth;
- 34. 'Others as Nāgas in the subterranean regions become the guardians of treasures, they wander in the ocean of existence, receiving the fruits of their deeds.'
- 35. Having pondered all this, in the last watch he thus reflected, 'Alas for this whole world of living beings doomed to misery, all alike wandering astray!
- 36. 'They know not that all this universe, destitute of any real refuge, is born and decays through that existence which is the site of the skandhas and pain;
- 37. 'It dies and passes into a new state and then is born anew.' Then he reflected, 'What is that which is the necessary condition for old age and death?'
- 38. He saw that when there is birth, there is old age and death, then he pondered, 'What is that which is the necessary condition for a new birth'?'
- 40. He perceived that where there has been the attachment to existence there arises a (previous) existence; then he pondered, 'What

is that which is the necessary condition for the attachment to existence?'

- 41. Having ascertained this to be desire, he again meditated, and he next pondered, 'What is that which is the necessary condition for desire?'
- 42. He saw that desire arises where there is sensation, and he next pondered, 'What is that which is the necessary condition for sensation?'
- 43. He saw that sensation arises where there is contact, and he next pondered, 'What is that which is the necessary condition for contact?'
- 44. He saw that contact arises through the six organs of sense; he then pondered, 'Where do the six organs of sense arise?'
- 45. He reflected that these arise in the organism, he then pondered, 'Where does the organism arise?'
- 46. He saw that the organism arises where there is incipient consciousness; he then pondered, 'Where does incipient consciousness arise?'
- 47. He reflected that incipient consciousness arises where there are the latent impressions left by former actions; and he next pondered, 'Where do the latent impressions arise?'

- 48. He reflected exhaustively that they arise in ignorance; thus did the great seer, the Bodhisattva, the lord of saints,
- 49. After reflecting, pondering, and meditating, finally determine, 'The latent impressions start into activity after they are once developed from ignorance.
- 50. 'Produced from the activity of the latent impressions incipient consciousness starts into action; (the activity) of the organism starts into action on having an experience of incipient consciousness;
- 51. 'The six organs of sense become active when produced in the organism; sensation is produced from the contact of the six organs (with their objects);
- 52. 'Desire starts into activity when produced from sensation; the attachment to existence springs from desire; from this attachment arises a (continued) existence;
- 53. 'Birth is produced where there has been a (continued) existence; and from birth arise old age, disease, and the rest; and scorched by the flame of old age and disease the world is devoured by death;
- 54. 'When it is thus scorched by the fire of death's anguish great pain arises; such verily is the origin of this great trunk of pain.'
- 55. Thus having ascertained it all, the great Being was perfectly illuminated; and having again meditated and pondered, he thus reflected,

- 56. 'When old age and disease are stopped, death also is stopped; and when birth is stopped, old age and disease are stopped;
- 57. 'When the action of existence is stopped, birth also is stopped; when the attachment to existence is stopped, the action of existence is stopped;
- 58. 'So too when desire is stopped, the attachment to existence is stopped; and with the stopping of sensation desire is no longer produced;
- 59. 'And when the contact of the six organs is stopped, sensation is no longer produced; and with the stopping of the six organs their contact (with their objects) is stopped;
- 60. 'And with the stopping of the organism the six organs are stopped; and with the stopping of incipient consciousness the organism is stopped;
- 61. 'And with the stopping of the latent impressions incipient consciousness is stopped; and with the stopping of ignorance the latent impressions have no longer any power.
- 62. 'Thus ignorance is declared to be the root of this great trunk of pain by all the wise; therefore it is to be stopped by those who seek liberation.
- 63. 'Therefore by the stopping of ignorance all the pains also of all existing beings are at once stopped and cease to act.'

- 64. The all-knowing Bodhisattva, the illuminated one, having thus determined, after again pondering and meditating thus came to his conclusion:
- 65. 'This is pain, this also is the origin of pain in the world of living beings; this also is the stopping of pain; this is that course which leads to its stopping.' So having determined he knew all as it really was.
- 66. Thus he, the holy one, sitting there on his seat of grass at the root of the tree, pondering by his own efforts attained at last perfect knowledge.
- 67. Then bursting the shell of ignorance, having gained all the various kinds of perfect intuition, he attained all the partial knowledge of alternatives which is included in perfect knowledge.
- 68. He became the perfectly wise, the Bhagavat, the Arhat, the king of the Law, the Tathāgata, He who has attained the knowledge of all forms, the Lord of all science.
- 69. Having beheld all this, the spirits standing in heaven spoke one to another, 'Strew flowers on this All-wise Monarch of Saints.'
- 70. While other immortals exclaimed, who knew the course of action of the greatest among the former saints, 'Do not now strew flowers no reason for it has been shown.'

- 71. Then the Buddha, mounted on a throne, up in the air to the height of seven palm-trees, addressed all those Nirmitā Bodhisattvāḥ, illumining their minds,
- 72. 'Ho! ho! listen ye to the words of me who have now attained perfect knowledge; everything is achieved by meritorious works, therefore as long as existence lasts acquire merit.
- 73. 'Since I ever acted as liberal, pure-hearted, patient, skilful, devoted to meditation and wisdom, by these meritorious works I became a Bodhisattva.
- 74. 'After accomplishing in due order the entire round of the preliminaries of perfect wisdom, I have now attained that highest wisdom and I am become the All-wise Arhat and Jina.
- 75. 'My aspiration is thus fulfilled; this birth of mine has borne its fruit; the blessed and immortal knowledge which was attained by former Buddhas, is now mine.
- 76. 'As they through the good Law achieved the welfare of all beings, so also have I; all my sins are abolished, I am the destroyer of all pains.
- 77. 'Possessing a soul now of perfect purity, I urge all living beings to seek the abolition of worldly existence through the lamps of the Law.' Having worshipped him as he thus addressed them, those sons of the Jinas disappeared.

- 78. The gods then with exultation paid him worship and adoration with divine flowers; and all the world, when the great saint had become all-wise, was full of brightness.
- 79. Then the holy one descended and stood on his throne under the tree; there he passed seven days filled with the thought, 'I have here attained perfect wisdom.'
- 80. When the Bodhisattva had thus attained perfect knowledge, all beings became full of great happiness; and all the different universes were illumined by a great light.
- 81. The happy earth shook in six different ways like an overjoyed woman, and the Bodhisattvas, each dwelling in his own special abode, assembled and praised him.
- 82. 'There has arisen the greatest of all beings, the Omniscient Allwise Arhat a lotus, unsoiled by the dust of passion, sprung up from the lake of knowledge;
- 83. 'A cloud bearing the water of patience, pouring forth the ambrosia of the good Law, fostering all the seeds of merit, and causing all the shoots of healing to grow;
- 84. 'A thunderbolt with a hundred edges, the vanquisher of Māra, armed only with the weapon of patience; a gem fulfilling all desires, a tree of paradise, a jar of true good fortune, a cow that yields all that heart can wish:

- 85. 'A sun that destroys the darkness of delusion, a moon that takes away the scorching heat of the inherent sins of existence, glory to thee, glory to thee, O Tathāgata;
- 86. 'Glory to thee, O Lord of the whole world, glory to thee, who hast gone through the ten (Balas); glory to thee, O true hero amongst men, O Lord of righteousness, glory to thee!'
- 87. Thus having praised, honoured, and adored him, they each returned to their several homes, after making repeated reverential circumambulations, and recounting his eulogy.
- 88. Then the beings of the Kāmāvacara worlds, and the brilliant inhabitants of the Pure Abodes, the Brahmakāyika gods, and those sons of Māra who favoured the side of truth,
- 89. The Paranirmitavaśavarti beings, and the Nirmānaratayaḥ; the Tuṣita beings, the Yāmas, the Trayastriṁsad Devas, and the other rulers of worlds.
- 90. The deities who roam in the sky, those who roam on the earth or in forests, accompanying each their own king, came to the pavilion of the Bodhi tree,
- 91. And having worshipped the Jina with forms of homage suitable to their respective positions, and having praised him with hymns adapted to their respective degrees of knowledge, they returned to their own homes.

Book XV of The Buddha-carita continuation by Amrtānanda

- 1. Daily praised by all the various heavenly beings, the perfectly Wise One thus passed that period of seven days which is designated 'the aliment of joy.'
- 2. He then passed the second week, while he was bathed with jars full of water by the heavenly beings, the Bodhisattvas and the rest.
- 3. Then having bathed in the four oceans and being seated on his throne, he passed the third week restraining his eyes from seeing.
- 4. In the fourth week, assuming many forms, he stood triumphant on his throne, having delivered a being who was ready to be converted.
- 5. A god named Samantakusuma, bearing an offering of flowers, thus addressed with folded hands the great Buddha who was seated there:
- 6. 'What is the name, O holy one, of this meditation, engaged in which thou hast thus passed four whole weeks with joy, deeply pondering?'
- 7. 'This is designated, O divine being, "the array of the aliment of great joy," like an inaugurated king, who has overcome his enemies and enjoys prosperity.'

- 8. Having said this, the saint possessing the ten pre-eminent powers, full of joy, continued, 'The former perfect Buddhas also did not leave the Bodhi tree.
- 9. 'Here the Kleśas and the Māras together with ignorance and the Āsravas have been conquered by me; and perfect wisdom has been attained able to deliver the world.
- 10. 'I too, resolved to follow the teaching of the former Buddhas, remained four whole weeks in the fulfilment of my inauguration.'
- 11. Then Māra, utterly despondent in soul, thus addressed the Tathāgata, 'O holy one, be pleased to enter Nirvāṇa, thy desires are accomplished.'
- 12. 'I will first establish in perfect wisdom worlds as numerous as the sand, and then I will enter Nirvāṇa,' thus did the Buddha reply, and with a shriek Māra went to his home.
- 13. Then the three daughters of Māra, Lust, Thirst, and Delight, beholding their father with defeated face, approached the Tathāgata.
- 14. Lust, with a face like the moon and versed in all the arts of enchantment, tried to infatuate him by her descriptions of the pleasures of a householder's life.
- 15. 'Think, "If I abandon an emperor's happiness, with what paltry happiness shall I have to content myself? When success is lost, what shall I have to enjoy?" and come and take refuge with us.

- 16. 'Else, in bitter repentance, thou wilt remember me hereafter, when thou art fallen.' But he listened not to her words, closing his eyes in deep meditation like one who is sleepy.
- 17. Then Thirst, shameless like one distriessed with thirst, thus addressed him who was free from all thirst: 'Fie, fie, thou hast abandoned thy family duties, thou hast fallen from all social obligations;
- 18. 'Without power no asceticism, sacrifice, or vow can be accomplished, those great śiṣis Brahman and the rest, because they were endowed with power, enjoy their present triumph.
- 19. 'Know me to be the power called Thirst, and worship thirst accordingly; else I will clasp thee with all my might and fling away thy life.'
- 20. Motionless as one almost dead, he continued in meditation, remembering the former Buddhas; then Delight next tried to win him who was indeed hard to be won by evil deeds.
- 21. 'O holy one, I am Delight by name, fostering all practicable delights, therefore making me the female mendicant's tutelary power, bring delight within thy reach.'
- 22. But whether flattered or threatened, whether she uttered curses or blessings, he remained absorbed in meditation, perfectly tranquil like one who has entered Nirvāna.

- 23. Then the three, with despondent faces, having retired together on one side, consulted with one another and came forward wearing the appearance of youthful beauty.
- 24. Folding their hands in reverence they thus addressed the Tathāgata, 'O holy one, receive us as religious mendicants, we are come to thy one refuge.
- 25. 'Having heard the fame of thy achievements, we, the daughters of Namuci, have come from the golden city, abandoning the life of a household.
- 26. 'We are desirous of repressing the teaching of our five hundred brothers, we would be freed from a master, as thou thyself art freed from all passions.'
- 27. Having his mind continually guided by the conduct which leads to Nirvāṇa, and setting himself to remember the (former) Buddhas, he kept his eyes closed, absorbed in meditation.
- 28. Then again, having resolved on their new plan in concert, these enchantresses, assuming an older aspect, approached once more to delude him.
- 29. 'We have come here after wandering under the dismal avatāra of slaves', thou art the avatāra of Buddha, do thou establish us, mature, in the true Buddha doctrine.

- 30. 'We are women of older age, much to be pitied, bewildered by the fear of death, we are therefore worthy to be established in that doctrine of Nirvāna which puts an end to all future births.'
- 31. These words of the enchantresses were heard by him, yet he felt no anger; but they all became the victims of old age, through the manifestation of his divine power.
- 32. Having beheld him plunged in meditation, immovable like the mountain Meru, they turned away their faces and they could not retain their beauty.
- 33. Bending their feet, with decrepit limbs, they thus addressed their father: 'O father, do thou, the lord of the world of Desire, restore us to our own forms.'
- 34. His daughters were dear, but he had no power to alter the effect of the will of Buddha; then their father said to them, 'Go to the refuge which he gives.'
- 35. Then they in various guises, bent humbly at his feet, implored the perfect Buddha, 'Pardon our transgression, whose minds were intoxicated with youth.'
- 36. The teacher, that mine of Forgiveness, in silence restored them by his will; and having repeatedly worshipped and praised him they went joyfully to their home.

- 37. Then again Māra, the lord of the world of Desire, lost to shame, taking the form of the head of a family, thus addressed him from the sky:
- 38. 'I worshipped thee long ago, foretelling that thou wouldest become a Buddha; and by my blessings thou hast to-day become Buddha Tathāgata.
- 39. 'As thou didst come from thine own kingdom, so now having returned as Tathāgata, with a name corresponding to the reality be a king Tathāgata.
- 40. 'Having gone to that royal station, do thou meditate on the three jewels, and cherish thy father and mother, and delight Yaśodharā, –
- 41. 'Possessed of a thousand sons, and able to deliver the world, be successively the supreme lord of every world from the Yāma heaven onwards'.
- 42. 'Having become also the supreme lord of all Bodhisattvas, thou shalt attain Nirvāṇa; O wise seer, repair to the hermitage of Kapila in order to beget those sons.
- 43. 'As thou art the king of the Law, so shall thy sons also be all Tathāgatas, and all the activity and cessation of existence shall depend upon thee, O Jina.'

- 44. To him thus speaking the All-wise replied, 'Hear, O shameless one; thou art $M\bar{a}ra$, not the head of a clan, the upholder of the race of the $S\bar{a}kyas$.
- 45. 'A host like thee, though they came in myriads, could not harm me, I will go to my kingdom gradually, I will bring the world to perfect happiness.
- 46. 'Thou art utterly vanquished, O Namuci, go back to thy own home; I will go hence to turn the wheel of the Law in Vārānasī.'
- 47. He, on hearing this command, saying with a deep sigh, 'Alas! I am crushed,' left him and went despondent and companionless through the sky to his home.
- 48. Then he, the conqueror of Māra, rising from that throne, set forth to journey alone to the holy Vārāṇasī.
- 49. The heavens became covered with clouds when they saw the chief of saints, and the king of the Nāgas Mucilinda made a petition in reverential faith:
- 50. 'O holy one, thou art all-wise, there will be stormy weather for seven days, wind, rain, and darkness, dwell for the time in my abode.'
- 51. Though himself possessed of all supernatural power, the holy one thought of the world still involved in embodied existence, and sitting on that jewel-seat he remained absorbed in contemplation.

- 52. That king of the Nāgas there protected the Buddha, who is himself the source of all protection, from the rain, wind, and darkness, covering his body with his own hood.
- 53. When the seven days were past and the Nāga had paid his homage and was gone, the Jina proceeded to the bank of a river, near a forest of goat-herds.
- 54. As the Sugata stayed there during the night, a deity, who bore the name of the Indian fig-tree, came up to him, illumining the spot where he was, and thus addressed him with folded hands:
- 55. 'The fig-tree was planted by me when I was born as a man, bearing the name of Buddha; and it has been fostered like the Bodhi tree in the hope of delivering myself from evil.
- 56. 'By the merit of that action I myself have been born in heaven; in kindness to me, O my lord, do thou dwell seven days in triumph here.'
- 57. 'So be it,' said the chief of all saints, the true Kalpa tree to grant the wishes of the faithful votary, and he stayed under the fig-tree, absorbed in contemplation, spreading lustre around like a full moon.
- 58. There he dwelt seven days; and then in a forest of Datura trees, sitting at the foot of a palm, he remained absorbed in contemplation.
- 59. Spending thus in different spots his weeks of meditation, day and night, the great saint, pondering and fasting, went on in his way, longing to accomplish the world's salvation.

- 60. Then two wealthy merchants from the land of Uttara Utkala, named Trapusha and Bhallika, journeying with five hundred waggons,
- 61. Being freed from a sin which involved a birth as pretas, both joyfully worshipped Buddha with an offering of the three sweet substancess and milk; and they obtained thereby auspicious blessings.
- 62. They obtained pieces of his nails and hairs for a Caitya and they also received a prophecy of their future birth, and having received the additional promise, 'Ye shall also obtain a stone,' they then proceeded on their way elsewhere.
- 63. Then Buddha accepted alms in his bowl, offered by the goddess who dwelt in the Datura grove, and he blessed her with benedictions.
- 64. The Jina then blessed the four bowls as one, which were offered by the four Mahārājas, and ate with pleasure the offering of milk.
- 65. Then one day the Jina ate there an Haritakī fruit which was offered to him by Śakra, and having planted the seed he caused it to grow to a tree.
- 66. The king of the Devas carried the news thereof joyfully to the Deva-heavens; and gods, men, and demons watered it with reverential circumambulations.
- 67. On hearing the news of the Haritakī seed, and remembering the whole history from first to last, a daughter of the gods named

Bhadrikā, who had been a cow in her former birth, came from heaven.

- 68. She, the daughter of the gods, smiling with her companions, thus addressed the Jina, bringing him a garment of rags, dependent from a bough:
- 69. 'I beg to bring to thy notice what? O Buddha! accept this garment of rags, by whose influence I am now a daughter of heaven named Bhadrikā.'
- 70. 'By the further development of this merit thou shalt become a Bodhisattva' uttering this blessing the Teacher accepted the rags.
- 71. Beholding the tattered rags, the gods, crowding in the sky, filled with wonder, and uttering cries of hī hī, flung down upon him garments of heavenly silk.
- 72. 'These are not fit for a religious mendicant,' so saying, he did not accept even one of them, only thinking in his calm apathy, 'these are fit for imperial pomp and a householder's luxury.'
- 73. He desired a stone slab and some water in order to wash the dirt away, Śakra at that moment dug out a great river full of water;
- 74. And four stones are brought to him by the four Mahārājas, on one he himself sat, on another he performed the washing;

- 75. On another he performed the drying, and another he flung up into the sky; the stone as it flew up reached the blazing city and astonished all the worlds.
- 76. After paying their worship in many ways, Trapusha and Bhallika duly raised an excellent Caitya and they called it Silāgarbha.
- 77. The ascetics of that neighbourhood paid their homage to the 'Three Stones' when they were made into a Caitya, and the noble stream flowed widely known as the 'Holy River.'
- 78. Those who bathe and offer their worship in the holy river and reverence the Caitya of the three stones, become great-souled Bodhisattvas and obtain Nirvāṇa.
- 79. Then seated under a palm-tree the holy one pondered: 'The profound wisdom so hard to be understood is now known by me.
- 80. 'These sin-defiled worlds understand not this most excellent (Law), and the unenlightened shamelessly censure both me and my wisdom.
- 81. 'Shall I proclaim the Law? It is only produced by knowledge; having attained it thus in my lonely pondering, do I feel strong enough to deliver the world?'
- 82. Having remembered all that he had heard before, he again pondered; and resolving, 'I will explain it for the sake of delivering the world,'

- 83. Buddha, the chief of saints, absorbed in contemplation, shone forth, arousing the world, having emitted in the darkness of the night a light from the tuft of hair between his eyebrows.
- 84. When it became dawn, Brahman and the other gods, and the various rulers of the different worlds, besought Sugata to turn the wheel of the Law.
- 85. When the Jina by his silence uttered an assenting 'so be it,' they returned to their own abodes; and the lion of the Śākyas also shone there, still remaining lost in contemplation.
- 86. Then the four divinities (of the Bodhi tree), Dharmaruci and the rest, addressed him, 'Where, O teacher of the world, will the holy one turn the wheel of the Law?'
- 87. 'In Vārāṇasī, in the Deer Park will I turn the wheel of the Law; seated in the fourth posture O deities, I will deliver the world.'
- 88. There the holy one, the bull of the Śākya race, pondered, 'For whom shall I first turn the wheel of the Law?'
- 89. The glorious one reflected that Rudraka and Arāḍa were dead, and then he remembered those others, the five men united in a worthy society, who dwelt at Kāśī.
- 90. Then Buddha set out to go joyfully to Kāśī, manifesting as he went the manifold supernatural course of life of Magadha.

- 91. Having made a mendicant (whom he met) happy in the path of those who are illustrious through the Law, the glorious one went on, illumining the country which lies to the north of Gaya.
- 92. (Having stayed) in the dwelling of the prince of the Nāgas, named Sudarśana, on the occurrence of night, he ate a morning meal consisting of the five kinds of ambrosia, and departed, gladdening him with his blessing.
- 93. Near Vaṇārā he went under the shadow of a tree and there he established a poor Brāhman named Nandin in sacred knowledge.
- 94. In Vaṇārā in a householder's dwelling he was lodged for the night; in the morning he partook of some milk and departed, having given his blessing.
- 95. In the village called Vundadvīra he lodged in the abode of a Yakṣa named Vunda, and in the morning after taking some milk and giving his blessing he departed.
- 96. Next was the garden named Rohitavastuka, and there the Nāgaking Kamaṇḍalu with his courtiers also worshipped him.
- 97. Having delivered various beings in every place, the compassionate saint journeyed on to Gandhapura and was worshipped there by the Yaksa Gandha.

- 98. When he arrived at the city Sārathi, the citizens volunteered to be charioteers in his service; thence he came to the Ganges, and he bade the ferryman cross.
- 99. 'Good man, convey me across the Ganges, may the seven blessings be thine.' 'I carry no one across unless he pays the fee.'
- 100. 'I have nothing, what shall I give?' So saying he went through the sky like the king of birds; and from that time Bimbisāra abolished the ferry-fee for all ascetics.
- 101. Then having entered Vārāṇasī, the Jina, illumining the city with his light, filled the minds of all the inhabitants of Kāśī with excessive interest.
- 102. In the Sankhamedhīya garden, the king of righteousness, absorbed in meditation, passed the night, gladdening like the moon all those who were astonished at his appearance.
- 103. The next day at the end of the second watch, having gone his begging round collecting alms, he, the unequalled one, like Hari, proceeded to the Deer Park.
- 104. The five disciples united in a worthy society, when they beheld him, said to one another, 'This is Gautama who has come hither, the ascetic who has abandoned his self-control.

- 105. 'He wanders about now, greedy, of impure soul, unstable and with his senses under no firm control, devoted to inquiries regarding the frying-pan.
- 106. 'We will not ask after his health, nor rise to meet him, nor address him, nor offer him a welcome, nor a seat, nor bid him enter into our dwelling.'
- 107. Having understood their agreement, with a smiling countenance, spreading light all around, Buddha advanced gradually nearer, holding his staff and his begging-pot.
- 108. Forgetful of their agreement, the five friends, under his constraining majesty, rose up like birds in their cages when scorched by fire.
- 109. Having taken his begging-bowl and staff, they gave him an arghya, and water for washing his feet and rinsing his mouth; and bowing reverentially they said to him, 'Honoured Sir, health to thee.'
- 110. 'Health in every respect is ours, that wisdom has been attained which is so hard to be won,' so saying, the holy one thus spoke to the five worthy associates:
- 111. 'But address me not as "worthy Sir," know that I am a Jina, I have come to give the first wheel of the Law to you. Receive initiation from me, ye shall obtain the place of Nirvāṇa.'

- 112. Then the five, pure in heart, begged leave to undertake his vow of a religious life; and the Buddha, touching their heads, received them into the mendicant order.
- 113. Then at the mendicants' respectful request the chief of saints bathed in the tank, and after eating ambrosia he reflected on the field of the Law.
- 114. Remembering that the Deer Park and the field of the Jina were there, he went joyfully with them and pointed out the sacred seats.
- 115. Having worshipped three seats, he desired to visit the fourth, and when the worthy disciples asked about it, the teacher thus addressed them:
- 116. 'These are the four seats of the Buddhas of the (present) Bhadra Age, three Buddhas have passed therein, and I here am the fourth possessor of the ten powers.'
- 117. Having thus addressed them the glorious one bowed to that throne of the Law, decked with tapestries of cloth and silk, and having its stone inlaid with jewels, like a golden mountain, guarded by the kings of kings,

In the former fortnight of \bar{A} \bar{s} \bar{a} \bar{d} a, on the day consecrated to the Regent of Jupiter, on the lunar day sacred to Viṣnu, and on an auspicious conjunction, under the asterism Anur \bar{a} dh \bar{a} , and in the

muhūrta called the Victorious, in the night, – he took his stand on the throne.

118. The five worthy disciples stood in front, with joyful minds, paying their homage, and the son of Śuddhodana performed that act of meditation which is called the Arouser of all worlds;

Brahman and the other gods came surrounded by their attendants, summoned each from his own world; and Maitrīya with the deities of the Tusita heaven came for the turning of the wheel of the Law.

119. So too when the multitude of the sons of the Jinas and the Suras gathered together from the ten directions of space, there came also the noble chief of the sons of the Jinas, named Dharmacakra, carrying the wheel of the Law; With head reverentially bowed, having placed it, a mass of gold and jewels, before the Buddha and having worshipped him, he thus besought him, 'O thou lord of saints, turn the wheel of the Law as it has been done by (former) Sugatas.'

Book XVI of The Buddha-carita continuation by Amrtānanda

- 1. The omniscient lion of the Śākyas then caused all the assembly, headed by those who belonged to the company of Maitrīya, to turn the wheel of the Law.
- 2. 'Listen, O company belonging to Maitrīya, ye who form one vast congregation, as it was proclaimed by those past arch-saints, so is it now proclaimed by Me.
- 3. 'These are the two extremes, O mendicants, in the self-control of the religious ascetic, the one which is devoted to the joys of desire, vulgar and common,
- 4. 'And the other which is tormented by the excessive pursuit of self-inflicted pain in the mortification of the soul's corruptions, these are the two extremes of the religious ascetic, each devoted to that which is unworthy and useless.
- 5. 'These have nothing to do with true asceticism, renunciation of the world, or self-control, with true indifference or suppression of pain, or with any of the means of attaining deliverance.
- 6. 'They do not tend to the spiritual forms of knowledge, to wisdom, nor to Nirvāṇa; let him who is acquainted with the uselessness of inflicting pain and weariness on the body,

- 7. 'Who has lost his interest in any pleasure or pain of a visible nature, or in the future, and who follows this middle Path for the good of the world, –
- 8. 'Let him, the Tathāgata, the teacher of the world, proclaim the good Law, beginning that manifestation of the good Law which consists of the (four) noble truths,
- 9. 'And let the Buddha proclaim the Path with its eight divisions. I too who am now the perfectly wise, and the Tathāgata in the world,
- 10. 'Will proclaim the noble Law, beginning with those sublime truths and the eightfold Path which is the means to attain perfect knowledge.
- 11. 'Instructing all the world I will show to it Nirvāṇa; those four noble truths must be heard first and comprehended by the soul.
- 12. 'That must be understood and thoroughly realised by the true students of wisdom, which has been known here by me, through the favour of all the Buddhas.
- 13. 'Having known the noble eightfold Path, and embraced it as realised with joy, thus I declare to you the first means for the attainment of liberation.
- 14. 'Having thus commenced the noble truths, I will describe the true self-control; this noble truth is the best of all holy laws.

- 15. 'Walk as long as existence lasts, holding fast the noble eightfold Path, this noble truth is the highest law for the attainment of true liberation.
- 16. 'Having pondered and held fast the noble eightfold Path, walk in self-control; others, not understanding this, idle talkers full of self-conceit.
- 17. 'Say according to their own will that merit is the cause of corporeal existence, others maintain that the soul must be preserved (after death) for its merit is the cause of liberation.
- 18. 'Some say that everything comes spontaneously; others that the consequence was produced before; others talk loudly that all also depends on a Divine Lord.
- 19. 'If merit and demerit are produced by the good and evil fortune of the soul, how is it that good fortune does not always come to all embodied beings (at last), even in the absence of merit?
- 20. 'How is the difference accounted for, which we see in form, riches, happiness, and the rest, if there are no previous actions, how do good and evil arise here?
- 21. 'If karman is said to be the cause of our actions, who would imagine cogency in this assumption? If all the world is produced spontaneously, who then would talk of the ownership of actions?

- 22. 'If good is caused by good, then evil will be the cause of evil, how then could liberation from existence be produced by difficult penances?
- 23. 'Others unwisely talk of Īśvara as a cause, how then is there not uniformity in the world if Īśvara be the uniformly acting cause?
- 24. 'Thus certain ignorant people, talking loudly "he is," "he is not," through the demerits of their false theories, are at last born wretched in the different hells.
- 25. 'Through the merits of good theories virtuous men, who understand noble knowledge, go to heavenly worlds, from their self-restraint as regards body, speech, and thought.
- 26. 'All those who are devoted to existence are tormented with the swarms of its evils, and being consumed by old age, diseases, and death, each one dies and is born again.
- 27. 'There are many wise men here who can discourse on the laws of coming into being; but there is not even one who knows how the cessation of being is produced.
- 28. 'This body composed of the five skandhas, and produced from the five elements, is all empty and without soul, and arises from the action of the chain of causation,
- 29. 'This chain of causation is the cause of coming into existence, and the cessation of the series thereof is the cause of the state of cessation.

- 30. 'He who knowing this desires to promote the good of the world, let him hold fast the chain of causation, with his mind fixed on wisdom;
- 31. 'Let him embrace the vow of self-denial for the sake of wisdom, and practise the four perfections, and go through existence always doing good to all beings.
- 32. 'Then having become an Arhat and conquered all the wicked, even the hosts of Māra, and attained the threefold wisdom, he shall enter Nirvāṇa.
- 33. 'Whosoever therefore has his mind indifferent and is void of all desire for any further form of existence, let him abolish one by one the several steps of the chain of causation.
- 34. 'When these effects of the chain of causation are thus one by one put an end to, he at last, being free from all stain and substratum, will pass into a blissful Nirvāna.
- 35. 'Listen all of you for your own happiness, with your minds free from stain, I will declare to you step by step this chain of causation.
- 36. 'The idea of ignorance is what gives the root to the huge poisontree of mundane existence with its trunk of pain.
- 37. 'The impressions are caused by this, which produce [the acts of] the body, voice, and mind; and consciousness arises from these

impressions, which produces as its development the five senses and the mind (or internal sense).

- 38. 'The organisms which is sometimes called samjñā or sandarśana, springs from this; and from this arises the six organs of the senses, including mind.
- 39. 'The association of the six organs with their objects is called "contact;" and the consciousness of these different contacts is called "sensation; "
- 40. 'By this is produced thirst, which is the desire of being troubled by worldly objects; "attachment to continued existence," arising from this, sets itself in action towards pleasure and the rest;
- 41. 'From attachment springs continued existence, which is sensual, possessing form, or formless; and from existence arises birth through a returning to various wombs.
- 42. 'On birth is dependent the series of old age, death, sorrow and the like; by putting a stop to ignorance and what follows from it, all these successively surcease.
- 43. 'This is the chain of causation, having many turns, and whose sphere of action is created by ignorance, this is to be meditated upon by you who enjoy the calm of dwelling tranquilly in lonely woods;

'He who knows it thoroughly reaches at last to absolute tenuity; and having become thus attenuated he becomes blissfully extinct.

- 44. 'When you have thus learned this, in order to be freed from the bond of existence, you must cut down with all your efforts the root of pain, ignorance.
- 45. 'Then, being set free from the bonds of the prison-house of existence, as Arhats, possessing natures perfectly pure, you shall attain Nirvāṇa.'
- 46. Having heard this lesson preached by the chief of saints, all the mendicants comprehended the course and the cessation of embodied existence.
- 47. As these five ascetics listened to his words, their intellectual eye was purified for the attainment of perfect wisdom:
- 48. The eye of dharma was purified in six hundred millions of gods, and the eye of wisdom in eight hundred millions of Brahmans.
- 49. The eye of dharma was purified in eighty thousand men, and even in all beings an ardour for the Law was made visible.
- 50. Everywhere all kinds of evil became tranquillised, and on every side an ardour for all that helps on the good Law manifested itself.

- 51. In the heavens everywhere the heavenly beings with troops of Apsarases uttered forth great shouts, 'Even so, O noble being of boundless energy!'
- 52. Then Maitreya addressed the holy one, 'O great mendicant, in what form has the wheel been turned by thee?'
- 53. Having heard this question asked by the great-souled Maitreya, the holy one looked at him and thus addressed him:
- 54. 'The profound subtil wheel of the Law, so hard to be seen, has been turned by me, into which the disputatious Tīrthikas cannot penetrate.
- 55. 'The wheel of the Law has been turned, which has no extension, no origin, no birth, no home, isolated, and free from matter;
- 56. 'Having many divisions, and not being without divisions, having no cause, and susceptible of no definition, that wheel, which is described as possessing perfect equilibrium, has been proclaimed by the Buddha.
- 57. 'Everything subject to successive causation is like a delusion, a mirage, or a dream like the moon seen in water or an echo, it lies stretched out on the surface, not to be extirpated, but not eternal.
- 58. 'The wheel of the Law has been described as that in which all false doctrines are extirpated; it is always like the pure ether, involving no doubts, ever bright.

- 59. 'The wheel of the Law is described as without end or middle, existing apart from "it is" or "it is not," separated from soul or soullessness.
- 60. 'The wheel of the Law has been here set forth, with a description according to its real nature, as it has a limit and as it has not a limit, in its actual quantity and quality.
- 61. 'The wheel of the Law has been here set forth, described as possessing unique attributes, apart from the power of the eye and so too as regards the sense of hearing or smell;
- 62. 'Apart from the tongue, the touch, or the mind, without soul or exertion; 'Such is this wheel of the Law which has been turned by me;
- 63. 'He makes wise all the ignorant, therefore is he called the Buddha; this knowledge of the laws of reality has been ascertained by me of myself,
- 64. 'Apart from all teaching by another, therefore is he called the self-existent, having all laws under his control, therefore is he called the lord of Law.
- 65. 'He knows what is right (naya) and wrong (anaya) in laws, therefore is he called Nāyaka; he teaches unnumbered beings as they become fit to be taught.

- 66. 'He has reached the furthest limit of instruction, therefore is he called Vināyaka, from his pointing out the best of good paths to beings who have lost their way.
- 67. 'He has reached the furthest limit of good teaching, he is the guide to all the Law, attracting all beings by his knowledge of all the means of conciliation;
- 68. 'He has passed through the forest of mundane existence, therefore is he called the Leader of the Caravan; the absolute ruler over all law, therefore he is the Jina, the lord of Law.
- 69. 'From his turning the wheel of the Law he is the lord of all the sovereigns of Law; the master-giver of the Law, the teacher, the master of the Law, the lord of the world;
- 70. 'He who has offered the sacrifice, accomplished his end, fulfilled his hope, achieved his success, the consoler, the loving regarder, the hero, the champion, the victorious one in conflict;
- 71. 'He has come out from all conflict, released himself and the releaser of all, he is become the light of the world, the illuminator of the knowledge of true wisdom;
- 72. 'The dispeller of the darkness of ignorance, the illuminer of the great torch, the great physician, the great seer, the healer of all evils,

- 73. 'The extractor of the barb of evil from all those who are wounded by evil, he who is possessed of all distinctive marks and adorned with all signs,
- 74. 'With his body and limbs every way perfect, of pure conduct and perfectly clear mind, possessed of the ten powers, having great fortitude, learned with all learning,
- 75. 'Endowed with all the independent states, he who has attained the great Yāna, the lord of all Dharma, the ruler, the monarch of all worlds, the sovereign,
- 76. 'The lord of all wisdom, the wise, the destroyer of the pride of all disputers, the omniscient, the Arhat, possessed of the perfect knowledge, the great Buddha, the lord of saints;
- 77. 'The victorious triumphant overthrower of the insolence and pride of the evil Māra, the perfect Buddha, the Sugata, the wise one, he who brings the desired end to all beings,
- 78. 'Ever cognisant of past acts, never speaking falsely, a mine of perfect excellence and of all good qualities, the destroyer of all evil ways, the guide in all good ways,
- 79. 'The ruler of the world, the bearer of the world, the master of the world, the sovereign of the world, the teacher of the world, the preceptor of the world, he who brings to the world the Law, virtue, and its true end,

- 80. 'The fount of an ambrosia which quenches the scorching of the flame of all pain, and the powerful luminary which dries up the great ocean of all pain,
- 81. 'He who brings all virtue and all true wealth, the possessor of perfect excellence and all good qualities, the guide on the road of wisdom, he who shows the way to Nirvāna,
- 82. 'The Tathāgata, without stain, without attachment, without uncertainty. This is the compendious declaration in the turning of the wheel of the Law.
- 83. 'A concise manifestation of a Tathāgata's qualities is now declared by me; for a Buddha's knowledge is endless, unlimited like the ether;
- 84. 'A narrator might spend a Kalpa, but the virtues of the Buddha would not come to an end, thus by me has the multitude of the virtues of the Buddha been described.
- 85. 'Having heard this and welcomed it with joy go on ever in happiness; this, Sirs, is the Mahāyāna, the instrument of the Law of the perfect Buddha, which is the establisher of the welfare of all beings, set forth by all the Buddhas.
- 86. 'In order that this methodical arrangement of the Law may be always spread abroad, do you yourselves always proclaim it and hand it on.

- 87. 'Whosoever, Sirs, hears, sees, and welcomes with joy this methodical arrangement of the Law, which is a mine of happiness and prosperity, and honours it with folded hands,
- 88. 'Shall attain pre-eminent strength with a glorious form and limbs, and a retinue of the holy, and an intelligence of the highest reach,
- 89. 'And the happiness of perfect contemplation, with a deep calm of uninterrupted bliss, with his senses in their highest perfection, and illuminated by unclouded knowledge.
- 90. 'He shall assuredly attain these eight pre-eminent perfections, who hears and sees this Law with a serene soul and worships it with folded hands.
- 91. 'Whosoever in the midst of the assembly shall gladly offer a pulpit to the high-minded teacher of the great Law,
- 92. 'That virtuous man shall assuredly attain the seat of the most excellent, and also the seat of a householder, and the throne of a universal monarch;
- 93. 'He shall also attain the throne of one of the guardian-spirits of the world, and also the firm throne of Śakra, and also throne of the Vaśavartinaḥ gods, aye, and the supreme throne of Brahman;
- 94. 'And also with the permission of the Bodhisattva who is seated on the Bodhi throne he shall obtain the throne of a teacher of the good Law who has risen to perfect knowledge.

- 95. 'These eight seats shall the pure-souled one attain who offers joyfully a seat to him who proclaims the Law.
- 96. 'Whosoever with a believing heart, after examination, shall utter applause to the pious man who proclaims this carefully arranged Law;
- 97. 'Shall become a truthful and pure speaker, and one whose words are to be accepted, one whose utterances are welcome and delightful, whose voice is sweet and gentle;
- 98. 'Having a voice like a Kalavińka bird, with a deep and sweet tone, having also a pure voice like Brahman's, and a loud voice with a lion's sound.
- 99. 'He as an all-wise and truthful speaker shall obtain these eight excellences of speech, who utters applause to one who proclaims the good Law.
- 100. 'And whosoever, after writing this method of the Law in a book, shall set it in his house and always worship it and honour it with all reverential observances,
- 101. 'And uttering its praises shall hand the doctrine onward on every side, he, the very pious man, shall obtain a most excellent treasure of memory,
- 102. 'And a treasure of insight, and a treasure of prudence, and a treasure of good spells, and a treasure full of intelligence,

- 103. 'And a treasure of the highest wisdom, and the most excellent treasure of the Law, and a treasure of knowledge, the means to attain the excellences of the good Law, –
- 104. 'These eight treasures shall that highminded man attain who joyfully writes this down and sets it in a sure place and always worships it.
- 105. 'And he who, himself holding this method of the Law in his mind, sets it going around him, shall obtain a complete supply for liberality for the good of the world,
- 106. 'Next, a complete supply of virtuous dispositions, a most excellent supply of sacred knowledge, a supply of perfect calmness, and that which is called spiritual insight,
- 107. A supply of the merit caused by the good Law, a most excellent supply of knowledge, a supply of boundless compassion, which is the means to attain the virtues of the perfect Buddha.
- 108. 'He, full of joy, shall obtain these eight supplies who himself holds this method of the Law in his mind and sets it going abroad.
- 109. 'And he who shall declare this method of the Law to others, shall have himself purified by great merit and shall be prosperous and possessed of supernatural powers.

- 110. 'He shall become a universal monarch, a king of kings, and even a ruler among the guardians of the world, an Indra ruler of the gods, and even the ruler of the Yāma heaven,
- 111. 'Yea, the ruler of the Tuṣita heaven, and the ruler of the Sunirmitāḥ, and the king of the Vaśavartinaḥ, and the lord of the Brahmaloka;
- 112. 'Yea, Mahābrahman, the highest of Sages, and in the end he shall even become a Buddha, he, possessing a thoroughly pure intelligence, shall obtain these eight sublime rewards of merit.
- 113. 'And he who, thoroughly intent, with a believing heart, and filled with faith and devotion, shall hear this method of the Law as it is preached,
- 114. 'He shall have his intellect made perfectly pure, his mind calmed with boundless charity, and his soul happy with boundless compassion, and he shall be filled with boundless joy;
- 115. 'His soul constantly calm with universal indifference, rejoicing in the four contemplations, having reached the ecstatic state of absolute indifference, and with his senses abolished,
- 116. 'With the five transcendent faculties attained, and destroying the aggregate of latent impressions, he, endowed with supernatural powers, will attain the samādhi called Sūraṅgama.

- 117. 'He, having his soul pure, will attain these eight forms of absolute spotlessness; yea, wherever this method of the Law will prevail universally,
- 118. 'There will be no fear of any disturbance in the kingdom, no fear of evil-minded thieves, nor fear of evil beasts;
- 119. 'There will be no fear of plagues, famines, or wildernesses; and no alarm shall spread, caused by quarrel or war;
- 120. 'There shall be no fear from the gods nor from Nāgas, Yakṣas, and the like, nor shall there be anywhere any fear of any misfortune.
- 121. 'These eight fears shall not be found there where this Law extends; it is all briefly explained, my friends, all that arises from holding it stedfastly.
- 122. 'A yet higher and most excellent merit is declared by all the Buddhas, even although all living beings were to practise complete self-restraint.
- 123. 'Let a man worship the Buddhas, honouring them always with faith; from that comes this pre-eminent merit, as is declared by the Jinas.
- 124. 'And whosoever joyfully worships a Pratyeka-Buddha, they shall become themselves Pratyeka-Buddhas; therefore let every one worship them.

- 125. 'There is pre-eminent merit from the worship of one Bodhisattva, and they shall all themselves become Bodhisattvas, let every one worship them;
- 126. 'Therefore there is pre-eminent merit from the worship of one Buddha, they shall all themselves become Jinas, let every one devoutly worship them; and he too shall obtain this pre-eminent merit who hears this or causes others to hear it.
- 127. 'And whosoever in days when the good Law is abolished abandons love for his own body and life and proclaims day and night these good words, pre-eminent is his merit from this.
- 128. 'He who wishes to worship constantly the lords of saints, the Pratyeka-Buddhas and the Arhats, let him resolutely produce in his mind the idea of true wisdom and proclaim these good words and the Law.
- 129. 'This jewel of all good doctrines, which is uttered by the Buddhas for the good of all beings, even one who lives in a house will be a Tathāgata for it, where this good doctrine prevails.
- 130. 'He obtains a glorious and endless splendour who teaches even one word thereof; he will not miss one consonant nor the meaning who gives this Sūtra to others.

- 131. 'He is the best of all guides of men, no other being is like unto him; he is like a jewel, of imperishable glory, who hears this Law with a pure heart.
- 132. 'Therefore let those who are endowed with lofty ambitions, always hear this Law which causes transcendent merit; let them hear it and gladly welcome it and lay it up in their minds and continually worship the three jewels with faith.'

Book XVII [The Progress to Lumbinī] of The Buddha-Carita continuation by Amṛtānanda

- 1. When the heavenly beings with Brahman at their head and the Bodhisattvas intent on self-mortification heard this glorification of the Law uttered by the lion of the Śākyas, they were desirous to hear again this which is so difficult to find, and they went to the city and worshipped him, propitiating his favour; in the dark fortnight of the month Aṣaḍha on the lunar day sacred to Agni, with the moon in the constellation called Karṇa (?) and on an auspicious day, he, remembering the Buddha worlds and being desirous to save all creatures, set off on his journey, longing for disciples with his father at their head.
- 2. The associated Brāhmans, accompanied by the inhabitants of Kāśī who had gone to the Deer Park, and the mendicants to the number of thirty, were rendered resplendent by the chief of saints; Kāśikā the harlot of Kāśī went to the heaven of the gods, after she had worshipped the Jina and attached her sons to the service of the glorious one; the conqueror of the world then made thirty rejoicing officiating priests of Kāśī his disciples, initiating them in the course of perfect wisdom; and the son of Maitrāyaṇī and Maitra, the preceptor of hosts of the twice-born, named Pūrṇa, obtained true wisdom from the chief of saints and became a noble mendicant.

- 3. The priest of the lord of the city Marakata, a Brāhman named Ajaya, and his son Nālaka, well versed in sacred learning and full of answers to questions, and an ascetic named Dhṛti, dwelling in the Vindhya, and an invincible Brahman ascetic Sañjayin with his disciples, these all, dwellers in the Vindhya, when they came to him for refuge, the chief of saints initiated as mendicants, touching them with his hand bearing the mark of a wheel; moreover the Nāga Elapatra came to the abode of the best of saints, and stood resplendent there, perfectly calm in his demeanour and worshipping him with his rosaries.
- 4. There was also a female ascetic of Mathurā named Trikavyaṅgikā, and a Brāhman named Vidyākara, their son was named Sabhya, a dweller in the district called Śvetabālārka, a wise ascetic, proud of his wisdom, he went into the Deer Park, wearing the aspect of one perfectly illumined, and desiring the highest wisdom from the chief of mendicants; seeking from the omniscient admission to the noble life, he became renowned as the mendicant Sabhya in all assemblies.
- 5. The son of Lalitāprabudhā, born after worship paid to the best of trees on the bank of the stream Varaṇā, renowned in the world as Yaśoda, wise from the besprinkling of the ambrosia of the words of the king of heaven, remembering all former discourses which he had heard, came with his friends to the wood in the Deer Park, accompanied by his glory; and the holy one, touching his head with his hand, made him the guru of the chief Bhiksus.

- 6. The glorious one, named the great Buddha, proceeded with the mendicants in an auspicious company, and having manifested his triumphal march for the salvation of the world, entered the city of Kāśī. A poor Brāhman, named Svastika, a native of Vārāṇasī, obtained riches from heaven through the favour of the glorious one, and having received adoption as a slave in the Jina faith, became a mendicant and an Arhat at the hands of the great teacher.
- 7. Blessing the king of Kāśī Divodāsa and the citizens with gold, corn, and other riches, taking up his abode in different places in forests, caves, mountains, he at last came in his rambles to the river Jāhnavī. The boatman who conveyed the Jina across the Ganges worshipped him and offered him milk with due services of reverence, and became a mendicant through his favour and by the Jina's command found a dwelling in the Buddha's hermitage in the grove.
- 8. The glorious one, after he had crossed the Ganges, went to the hermitage of Kāśyapa at Gaya, called Uruvilva; there, having shown his supernatural power, he received as Bhikṣus the Kāśyapas, Uruvilva, and others, with more than a thousand of their disciples, having endued them forthwith with all kinds of spiritual knowledge and with the power to abandon all worldly action; then accompanied by three hundred disciples Upasena at the command of his maternal uncle became an ascetic.
- 9. The glorious one made seven hundred ascetics enter Nirvāṇa who dwelt in the wood Dharma; and the lord of the Law also caused the

daughters of Nandika, Sujātā and others, who dwelt in the village, to become the first female ascetics; and in the city of Rājageha, having enlightened in right action and in activity the king Bimbisāra, the monarch, who is to be considered as the elderborn in perfect knowledge, he made him who was the devoted follower of the Buddha, a Bodhisattva and a Sakṛdāgāmin.

- 10. In another village named Nāradya there was a Brāhman Dharmapālin and a Brāhman woman named Śālyā; their seventh son named Upatiṣya, who had studied the entire Veda, became a Buddhist mendicant; so too there was a great pandit, a Brāhman named Dhānyāyana, who dwelt in the village Kolata, and his son; him and the son of Śālī named Maudgalya the great saint received as the best of Bhikṣus, pre-eminent disciples.
- 11. Next he ordained as a mendicant the keen-witted maternal uncle of Śāliputra, Dīrghānakha by name; then travelling in the realm of Magadha, the glorious one, being honoured by the inhabitants with alms and other signs of devotion, and delivering them from evil, dwelt in the convent given by the seer Jeta, attracting to himself many of the monks; and after ordaining as a mendicant a native of Mithilā, named Ānanda, with his companions, he dwelt there a year.
- 12. The Brahman named Kāśyapa, a very Kuvera for wealth, and a master in all the sciences connected with the Veda, an inhabitant of Rājageha, being pure-minded and wearing only one garment, left all his kindred and came seeking wisdom in asceticism; when this noble

youth came to the Bodhi tree and practised for six years a penance hard to carry out, then he paid worship to the chief of saints who had attained perfect knowledge, and he became the well known Kāśyapa, the chief of ascetics, the foremost of the Arhats.

- 13. The saint Naradatta, dwelling on Mount Himavat, remembering the wholesome words of his maternal uncle, came to the Sugata with his disciples, and the holy one admitted them all into the order of the Jina; then a woman named Śakti, and another named Kamalā, preeminent in Brāhmanical power, came to the Sugata and fell down at his feet, and then standing before him they were received by the saint, and made happy with the staff and begging-bowl.
- 14. Seven hundred disciples of the ascetic Rudraka, remembering the noble words of their teacher, becoming mendicants according to the doctrine of the Jina, flocked round him paying him their homage and carrying their staves; next a seer, named Raivata, joyfully uttering his praises, having finished his course of discipline, became a mendicant, full of devotion to the guru, counting gold and clay as the same, well versed in sacred spells and meditation, and able to counteract the three kinds of poisons and other fatal harms.
- 15. Having received as followers and disciples certain householders of Śrāvastī, Pūrṇa and others, and given them alms-vessels, and having made many poor wretches as rich as Kuvera, and maimed persons with all their limbs perfect, and paupers and orphans affluent, and having proclaimed the Law, and dwelt two years in the forest Jetaka

delivering the suppliants, the glorious one, having taught again the saint Jeta, and established the Bhikṣu Pūrṇa, once more proceeded on his way.

- 16. Then the glorious one went on, protecting the merchant-caravans by the stores of his own treasures from the troops of robbers, next he went into the neighbourhood of Rājageha wandering with his begging-vessel which had been given by the merchants. In the wood called Venu, filled with Śāl trees, he ate an offering of food prepared by the enriched robbers, and he received as mendicants five hundred of them and gave them their begging-vessels and the other requisites.
- 17. At the invitation of Buddha's son, Śuddhodana gave this message to his envoys Chandaka and Udāyin, 'Thy father and mother, some noble ladies, headed by Yaśodrh, and this my young son have come in the hope of seeing thee, under the idea that thou art devoted to the world's salvation; what shall I tell them?' They two went, and reverentially saluting the Buddha in the vihara called Venu, they told him the message with their eyes filled with tears.
- 18. Chandaka and Udāyin accepted his counsel, and, being delighted at the mighty power of Buddha, became great ascetics; and the great Jina took them with him and proceeded from that wood with the disciples, the mendicants, and the saints. Going on from place to place, and dwelling in each for a while and conferring deliverance and confirming the disciples, the mendicants, and the Arhats, he at

last reached the wood Nigrodha, illuminating the district by his glory, shaking the earth and putting an end to misery.

- 19. He again stirred up his followers in the doctrine of the Buddha, and then went on with the crowds of inhabitants gathered round him, instructing his shaven mendicant-followers, as they begged alms, while the gods brought his precepts to their minds. He forbade the mendicants to enter the city and went to Rājageha himself with his own followers; and then the king who dwells apart from all doubt, the Jina, who knows at once all the history of every Bhikṣu, instructed the ascetic (Udāyin) in proclaiming wisdom to others.
- 20. In accordance with the Jina's command that prince of ascetics, Udāyin, went to the city of Kapila; there he, the lord of all possessors of supernatural powers, instructed the king as he stood in the assembly in the boon of the eight hundred powers; and coming down from heaven he uttered to the king and his court a discourse on the four sublime truths, and the king, with his mind enlightened, having worshipped him, held intercourse with him, attended by his courtiers, offering every form of homage.
- 21. The monarch, rejoiced at the sight of the Jina, praised his feet, worshipping them with eight hundred presents; and the Sugata departed, and made manifest in the sky in his one person a form comprehending the universe; first as fire, then ambrosia, then the king of beasts, an elephant, the king of horses, the king of peacocks, the

king of birds, Maghavan, the ten rulers of the world headed by Yama, the sun, the moon, the hosts of stars, Brahman, Visnu, and Śiva.

- 22. The sons of Diti, the four (Mahārājas) with Dhṛtarāṣṭra at their head, the hosts of Yogins with the king Drumasiddha, the (heavenly) ascetics, the Vasus, the Manus; the sons of the forest, the creatures of the waters headed by the makara, the birds headed by Garuḍa, and all the kings in the different worlds with the lord of the Tuṣita heaven at their head, and those in the world of the dead the domain of Bali, whatever is conspicuous in the universe the holy one created it all, becoming the universal one.
- 23. When the king had thus been instructed, the lord of saints went to the Satya heaven, and then from the sky, seated on his own throne, he proclaimed the twelvefold Law; then he restored Gautamī and Anugopā and many other women to sight, and filled all the assembled people with joy; and established others in Nirvāṇa and in the Law. Then Śuddhodana full of joy invited him to a feast given to the whole assembly, and he accepted it by his silence.
- 24. The lion of the Śākyas, having been thus invited, went with the congregation of his followers to the place, after having shown a mighty miracle. Then the earth shook, a shower of flowers fell, the various quarters of space became illumined and a wind blew; and the heavenly beings, Brahman, Śiva, Viṣṇu, Indra, Yama, Varuṇa, Kuvera, the lord of Bhūtas, the lord of the winds, Nirṛti, Fire with his seven

flames, and the rest, stood resting their feet on the serpent Śeṣa, and followed leading the gods and gandharvas in their dance in the sky.

- 25. Making millions of ascetics, disciples, Arhats, sages, mendicants, and fasters, and delivering from their ills the blind, the humpbacked, the lame, the insane, the maimed as well as the destitute, and having established many persons of the fourth caste in the true activity and inaction and in the three yānas, with the four saṅgrahas and the eight aṅgas, going on from place to place, delivering, and confirming the Bhikṣus, in the twelfth year he went to his own city.
- 26. Day by day confirming the Bhikṣus, and providing food for the congregation, in an auspicious moment he made a journey to Lumbinī with the Bhikṣus and the citizens, Brahman and Rudra being at their head, with great triumph and noise of musical instruments. There he saw the holy fig-tree and he stood by it remembering his birth, with a smile; and rays of light streamed from his mouth and went forth illumining the earth; and he uttered a discourse to the goddess of the wood, giving her the serenity of faith.
- 27. Having come to the Lumbinī fig-tree he spoke to Paurvikā the daughter of Rāhula, and Gopikā the daughter of Maitra, and his own Saudhanī Kauśikā; and he uttered an affectionate discourse honouring his mother by the tank Vasatya; then speaking with Ekasāṅgi the daughter of Mahākautuka and Sautasomī in the wood Nigrodha, he received into the community some members of his own family, headed by Sundarānanda, and one hundred and seven citizens.

- 28. Having declared the glory of the Law of Buddha, he built a round Stupa and gave a royal coronation to Saunu, sending him into the wood pre-eminent with the holiest saints and Caityas, and bidding him worship the sacred relics; and having commanded Rāhula, Gautamī, and the other women led by Gopikā, with staves in their hands, as shaven ascetics, to practise the vow of fasting called ahoratra, and after that the Lakṣacaitya ceremony and then the rite called Sṛṅgabheri, and that called Vasundhārikā.
- 29. The Aṣṭasāhasrikā of sacred authority, the Geya and the Gāthā, the Nidāna and the Avadāna, and that which is called the Sūtra of the great Yāna, the Vyākara and the Ityukta, the Jātaka, the work called Vaipulya, the Adbhuta and the Upadeśa, and also the Udānaka as the twelfth. Teaching (these sacred texts) and making current the Yāna for common disciples, that for Pratyeka Buddhas, and the Mahāyāna, and proclaiming them all around, accompanied by thirteen and a half bodies of mendicants, the conqueror of the world went out of the city of Kapila.
- 30. After displaying miracles in the city of Kapila, and having paid honour to his father, and having made Rāhula and his companions Arhats, and also the Bhikṣuṇis with Gautamī and Gopikā at their head, and various women of all the four castes; and having established Saunu on his imperial throne, and the people in the Jina doctrine, and having abolished poverty and darkness, and then remembering his mother, he set forth, ever worshipping Svayambhū, towards the

northern region with Brahman, Viṣṇu, and Śiva as mendicants in his train.

31. The glory of the Avadāna of the birth of the lion of the Śākyas has thus been described by me at length and yet very concisely; it must be corrected by paṇḍits wherever anything is omitted, – my childish speech is not to be laughed at, but to be listened to with pleasure.

Whatever virtue may have been acquired from describing the king of the Law, the deliverer from mundane existence, who assumes all forms, – may it become a store of merit for the production of right activity and inactivity in others, and for the diffusion of delight among the six orders of beings.

Thus ends the seventeenth sarga, called the Progress to Lumbinī, in the great poem made by Aśvaghosa, the Buddha-carita.

An early Sanskrit poem written in India on the legendary history of Buddha ascribed to Aśvaghosa, which contains much that is of interest for the history of Buddhism, besides its special importance as illustrating the early history of classical Sanskrit literature. http://www.ancient-buddhist-texts.net